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In this case, we reconsider the standard to be applied in 
unfair labor practice cases arising under Section 8(a)(5) 
and (1) of the National Labor Relations Act (the Act or 
NLRA) to evaluate an employer’s affirmative defense that 
employees, through their union representative, contractu-
ally surrendered the fundamental statutory right “to bar-
gain collectively” with respect to wages, hours, or other
terms and conditions of employment.1  The specific issue 
presented here is whether the Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by failing to provide the Union 
notice and an opportunity to bargain over the Respond-
ent’s decision to install cameras to monitor unit employees 
and by refusing the Union’s requests to bargain over the 
decision.  Applying the “contract coverage” test adopted 
by a divided Board in MV Transportation, Inc., 368 NLRB 
No. 66 (2019), the judge found that the decision came 
“within the compass or scope” of contract language grant-
ing the Respondent the right to “implement changes in 
equipment.”  The judge therefore found that the Respond-
ent was not required to bargain further with the Union, ei-
ther as to the decision to install the cameras or as to the 
effects of the decision on unit employees.

As explained in greater detail below, we find that the 
contract coverage test adopted in MV Transportation un-
dermines the Act’s central policy of promoting industrial 
stability by encouraging the practice and procedure of col-
lective bargaining.  We therefore overrule MV Transpor-
tation and restore the rule consistently followed by the 
Board for more than 70 years and endorsed by the Su-
preme Court in 1967.2  Under that standard, the Board will 
not lightly infer a contractual waiver of the statutory right 
to bargain and will instead require such a waiver to be 

1 On February 8, 2022, Administrative Law Judge Paul Bogas issued 
the attached decision.  The General Counsel filed exceptions and a sup-
porting brief, the Respondent filed an answering brief, and the General 
Counsel filed a reply brief.  The National Labor Relations Board has 
considered the decision and the record in light of the exceptions and 
briefs and has decided to affirm the judge’s rulings, findings, and con-
clusions only to the extent consistent with this Decision and Order.

We have amended the judge’s conclusions of law and remedy con-
sistent with our findings herein.  We have also modified the judge’s rec-
ommended Order to conform to our findings and the Board’s standard 
remedial language, and in accordance with Paragon Systems, Inc., 371 
NLRB No. 104 (2022), and Excel Container, Inc., 325 NLRB 17 (1997).  
We have substituted a new notice to conform to the Order as modified.

“clear and unmistakable.”3  We respectfully disagree with 
the minority of federal courts of appeals that have rejected 
the waiver standard in favor of the “contract coverage” 
standard, which (as we will explain) was developed under 
the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute 
and first applied to a Board case in 1993.  The Supreme 
Court has observed that “Congress assigned to the Board 
the primary task of construing [Sections 8(a)(5) and 8(d) 
of the Act] in the course of adjudicating charges of unfair 
refusals to bargain.”  Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB, 441 U.S. 
488, 495 (1979).  In undertaking the Board’s assigned task 
today, we have carefully considered the views of those 
courts adhering to the contract coverage standard and have 
explained why we return to the traditional waiver stand-
ard.

I. INTRODUCTION

As discussed more extensively below, absent a valid de-
fense, an employer violates Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the 
Act either by making a change to a mandatory subject of 
bargaining without first providing the union that repre-
sents its employees with notice and an opportunity to bar-
gain, or by failing and refusing to bargain over a manda-
tory subject on request by the union.  An employer can 
defend an allegation that a unilateral change or refusal to 
bargain violates Section 8(a)(5) of the Act on the basis that 
the union contractually surrendered the right to bargain.

The Board’s clear and unmistakable waiver standard is 
of longstanding vintage,4 as explained in Provena St. Jo-
seph Medical Center, decided in 2007.  In Provena, the 
Board reaffirmed its adherence to “one of the oldest and 
most familiar of Board doctrines”:  the clear and unmis-
takable waiver standard for determining whether a union 
has contractually surrendered the fundamental statutory 
right to bargain.5  Drawing on decades of Supreme Court 
and Board precedent, the Board explained that the waiver 
standard “requires bargaining partners to unequivocally 
and specifically express their mutual intention to permit 
unilateral employer action with respect to a particular em-
ployment term, notwithstanding the statutory duty to bar-
gain that would otherwise apply.”6  The Board further ex-
plained that the waiver standard “reflects the Board’s pol-
icy choice, grounded in the Act, in favor of collective bar-
gaining concerning changes in working conditions that 
might precipitate labor disputes.”7  

No party has excepted to the judge’s conclusion that the Respondent 
violated Sec. 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by failing to provide the Union 
with relevant requested information.

2  See NLRB v. C & C Plywood, 385 U.S. 421 (1967).
3  See Metropolitan Edison Co. v. NLRB, 460 U.S. 693, 708 (1983); 

Provena St. Joseph Medical Center, 350 NLRB 808, 812 (2007).
4  See, e.g., New York Mirror, 151 NLRB 834, 839–840 (1965); Tide 

Water Associated Oil Co., 85 NLRB 1096, 1098 (1949). 
5  350 NLRB at 810-811. 
6  Id. at 811–812 (citing Tide Water, 85 NLRB 1096; Metropolitan 

Edison, 460 U.S. 693; C & C Plywood, 385 U.S. 421).  
7  Id. at 811.
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The Provena Board expressly rejected the less exacting 
contract coverage standard endorsed by the dissent in that 
case.  The Board explained that the contract coverage 
standard “is a relatively recent judicial innovation” and 
that, by contrast, the waiver standard “is firmly grounded 
in the policy of the National Labor Relations Act promot-
ing collective bargaining,” has been consistently applied 
by the Board, and has been approved by the Supreme 
Court and a majority of appellate courts.8  The Board also 
noted that under the framework established by Congress it 
is the function of the Board, not the courts, to develop fed-
eral labor policy.9  

Twelve years later, in MV Transportation, a divided 
Board overruled Provena and rejected the clear and un-
mistakable waiver standard in favor of a version of the 
contract coverage test.10  As described by the MV Trans-
portation majority, under the Board’s contract coverage 
test, the Board applies “ordinary principles of contract in-
terpretation” to determine whether a disputed change was 
“within the compass or scope” of any contractual provi-
sion authorizing unilateral action by the employer.11  If so, 
the Board will find that the contract “authorized the em-
ployer to make the disputed change unilaterally, and the 
employer will not have violated Section 8(a)(5).”12  The 
majority emphasized that an employer’s unilateral action 
may be “covered” by a contract even if the contract does 
not “specifically mention, refer to or address the employer 
decision at issue.”13  “On the other hand,” the MV Trans-
portation majority explained, “if it is determined that the 
disputed act does not come within the compass or scope 
of a contract provision that grants the employer the right 
to act unilaterally, the analysis is one of waiver.”14

We have examined the Board’s decision in MV Trans-
portation in light of the Act’s fundamental policy to pro-
mote the practice of collective bargaining and longstand-
ing precedent implementing that policy.  For the reasons 
fully set forth below, we find that the decision undermines 
those considerations.  We therefore overrule MV Trans-
portation and return to the Board’s traditional waiver 
standard.  In our view, the clear and unmistakable waiver 
standard to which we return today better serves the pur-
poses of the Act.  As explained in greater detail below, the 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard better accom-
plishes the Board’s statutory mandate to promote indus-
trial peace by “encouraging the practice and procedure of 
collective bargaining.”  To that end, it also supports the 
statutory right of employees “to bargain collectively 
through representatives of their own choosing,” as 

8  Id. at 811 fn. 15.  
9  Id. at 811 (citing NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251 (1975)).
10 368 NLRB No. 66.
11 Id., slip op. at 11.  
12 Id.  
13 Id.  The Board decided to apply the contract coverage standard ret-

roactively in all pending cases.  Id., slip op. at 2, 12.
14 Id., slip op. at 2 (emphasis in original); see also id., slip op. at 12 

(explaining that if the agreement does not cover the disputed unilateral 

guaranteed by Section 7 of the Act.  Finally, it better 
achieves consistency with Supreme Court and Board prec-
edent and realigns Board law with the standard applied by 
the majority of courts of appeals in unilateral-change and 
refusal-to-bargain cases to evaluate an employer’s affirm-
ative defense that a union contractually surrendered the 
right to bargain.  

II. BACKGROUND

A. Facts

The Respondent hauls trash and other materials to land-
fills.  The Union represents a bargaining unit of drivers, me-
chanics, and loaders at the Respondent’s Florence, Ken-
tucky facility.15  The Respondent and the Union were par-
ties to a collective-bargaining agreement which was effec-
tive from September 24, 2018, through September 26, 
2021.  The following management-rights language was in-
cluded in Article III of the agreement:

The management of the plant and direction of the 
working force is vested exclusively in the Company, 
and in furtherance and not in limitation of such au-
thority, shall include the right to assign, to suspend or 
to terminate employees for just cause, to transfer and 
relieve employees from duty because of lack of work 
and for other legitimate reasons, to subcontract bar-
gaining unit work, to make shop rules and regulations, 
to create new jobs, develop new processes, and im-
plement changes in equipment, changes in the content
of jobs or improvements brought about by the Com-
pany in the interest of improved methods and product,
PROVIDED, that this exercise of management’s 
rights will not violate or supersede any other provi-
sions of this Agreement.  The parties acknowledge 
that, as part of its right to make shop rules and regu-
lations, the Company has the right to issue an em-
ployee handbook.  The Union acknowledges that the 
Company provided it with a copy of its most recent 
draft employee handbook for consideration and bar-
gaining during the collective bargaining negotiations.

In August 2020, the Respondent decided to purchase 
and install cameras in its entire fleet of 400 trucks, includ-
ing the 5 or 6 trucks housed at its Florence facility, which 
are driven by unit employees.  The Lytx camera system 
purchased by the Respondent is mounted on the inside 
front windshield and consists of two cameras, one directed 
inward toward the driver, and another directed outward to-
ward the road.  The system continuously records video, as 

change, the Board “will continue to apply its traditional waiver analysis 
to determine whether some combination of contractual language, bar-
gaining history, and past practice establishes that the union waived its 
right to bargain”) (footnotes omitted).

15 The Respondent maintains approximately 22 facilities throughout 
the United States.  The Respondent’s Florence, Kentucky facility is the 
only facility involved in this proceeding.



ENDURANCE ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 3

well as audio footage, but it only permanently retains the 
10 seconds before and the 5 seconds after a triggering 
event.  Triggering events include collisions, hard braking, 
hard acceleration, sudden lane changes, speeding, and fail-
ure to maintain a safe following distance.  After such a 
triggering event, a third party views the captured footage, 
looks for driver behaviors such as texting or falling asleep, 
assigns a score to the event, and alerts the Respondent.  
The Respondent then reviews the footage and decides 
whether coaching or discipline is warranted.

As discussed in greater detail below, the Respondent de-
cided to install the Lytx camera system in its entire fleet 
of company-owned vehicles, purchased the camera sys-
tem, and announced to unit employees that it had begun 
the process of installing the cameras, without providing 
the Union with prior notice or opportunity to bargain over 
the decision or its effects.16 The Respondent’s Safety 
Manager Kevin Blackwell testified that the Respondent 
determined that it was not obligated to bargain with the 
Union over its decision to install the camera system be-
cause it “had the right to do so within our management 
rights clause within the CBA.”

By email on August 11, 2020, Blackwell announced
“the pending installation” of the Lytx camera system to 
the Respondent’s regional managers.  The email stated 
that the Respondent would be contacting the regional 
managers for “installation planning” in the “coming 
weeks,” and that “[i]nstallers . . . will be on site to install
the cameras.”  Attached to the August 11 email was a let-
ter, signed by Blackwell, for the managers to share with 
the Respondent’s employees.  The letter stated in part, 
“We’re excited to announce that we’re in the early phase 
of implementing the Lytx® Driver Safety Suite . . . . ”  The 
letter then described the Lytx camera system and stated 
that employees would receive more information soon.

In August and September 2020, the Respondent began 
installing the cameras.  However, due to a supply chain 
disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Re-
spondent was not able to obtain a sufficient number of 
cameras to install in its entire fleet of 400 trucks.  The Re-
spondent was therefore forced to delay the installation of
the cameras in approximately 20 percent of its fleet, in-
cluding in the 5 or 6 trucks driven by unit employees.17

In early January 2021, a regional manager visited the 
Respondent’s facilities to inform employees that the Re-
spondent had begun the process of installing cameras in 
company-owned vehicles and to answer any questions 

16 Contrary to our dissenting colleague’s suggestion, we do not find 
that the Respondent was obligated to bargain over its decision to install 
cameras in vehicles driven by unrepresented employees.  As explained 
below, we find that the Respondent was obligated to bargain over its de-
cision to install cameras in vehicles driven by unit employees prior to 
announcing the decision to the unit employees and taking concrete steps 
to implement the decision.  We further find that this duty to bargain with 
the Union over the decision and its effects arose on request by the Union, 
regardless of whether the Respondent ever implemented any changes to 
the unit employees’ terms and conditions of employment.

they had.  A union steward and unit employee then con-
tacted the Union to report that the Respondent was plan-
ning to install cameras in trucks driven by unit employees.  

By email dated January 12, 2021, to Safety Manager 
Blackwell, the Union protested the Respondent’s failure 
to provide the Union with notice and the opportunity to 
bargain over its decision to install the cameras prior to an-
nouncing the decision to unit employees.  The Union de-
manded that the Respondent bargain over the installation 
and use of the cameras and cease any steps it had taken 
toward implementation.  The Union also requested certain 
information to prepare for bargaining.18  

By letter dated February 4, 2021, Blackwell confirmed 
that the Respondent was “implementing cameras in 100 
percent of [its] fleet.” He also acknowledged that in Au-
gust 2020, a memorandum regarding the cameras was dis-
tributed “companywide,”  and that, in January 2021, em-
ployees were informed that the Respondent “had begun 
the process of installing” the cameras.  Blackwell stated, 
however, that “no collective bargaining has been deemed 
necessary up to this point.” He did not otherwise respond 
to the Union’s demand to bargain or to its demand that the 
Respondent cease any steps it had taken toward imple-
mentation.

By letter dated February 12, the Union again protested 
the Respondent’s failure to provide notice or opportunity 
to bargain prior to announcing its decision to unit employ-
ees.  The Union also advised the Respondent that the use 
of cameras and other forms of employee surveillance de-
vices is a mandatory subject of bargaining under well-es-
tablished Board precedent, and it again demanded that the 
Respondent bargain over the decision and its effects, re-
scind any steps it had taken toward implementation, and 
provide the Union with relevant information.

By letter dated March 1, Blackwell contested the Un-
ion’s assertion that the installation of the cameras was a 
mandatory subject of bargaining, and he stated that the 
Board precedent the Union had cited for that proposition 
did not apply.  As in his previous letter, Blackwell did not 
specifically respond to the Union’s request to bargain or 
to its demand that the Respondent rescind the decision and 
cease any steps it had taken toward implementation.  And, 
while Blackwell stated in the closing paragraph of his let-
ter that he “welcomed discussion” and invited the Union 
to contact him for that purpose, the invitation was pre-
ceded by the following sentence, which had a red line 

17 At the time of the hearing in this case, the Respondent had not in-
stalled the cameras in the trucks driven by unit employees.  The Respond-
ent attributed the fact that the cameras had not been installed to a supply 
chain disruption, and not to the Union’s demand to bargain or to the un-
fair labor practice allegations.

18 The Union’s letter included four numbered paragraphs requesting 
information about the cameras, “[i]n order to evaluate the issue and to 
prepare to bargain on it.”
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through it but was still legible: “In closing, bargaining at 
the expense of safety cannot be a starting point.”

On March 3, 2021, the Union filed a charge alleging that 
the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act 
by unilaterally implementing a program of installing cam-
eras and other employee surveillance devices in trucks 
driven by unit employees; rejecting the Union’s demands 
to bargain over the matter; and failing to respond fully to 
the Union’s January 12, 2021 request for information.  On 
May 14, 2021, the Regional Director for Region 8 issued 
a complaint on the refusal-to-provide information allega-
tion.  However, he dismissed the portions of the charge 
relating to the unilateral implementation and refusal-to-
bargain allegations.  On June 11, 2021, the Acting General 
Counsel notified the parties that he had received the Un-
ion’s appeal of the partial dismissal of the charge; on Au-
gust 5, 2021, the General Counsel notified the parties that 
she had sustained the Union’s appeal; and on August 6, 
2021, the General Counsel ordered the Regional Director 
to issue a complaint on the dismissed portions of the 
charge.  On September 23, 2021, the Regional Director is-
sued the amended complaint alleging that the Respondent 
violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by putting the Union on 
notice that the Respondent had implemented the Lytx 
Driver Safety Suite, which would include installing Lytx 
security cameras and other employee surveillance devices 
in trucks driven by unit employees, without prior notice to 
the Union and without affording the Union an opportunity 
to bargain with respect to that conduct and the effects of 
that conduct; refusing the Union’s requests to bargain over 
the installation of Lytx security cameras in the vehicles 
driven by bargaining unit employees; and failing to pro-
vide information requested by the Union that is necessary 
for, and relevant to, the Union’s performance of its duties 
as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of 
the unit.

As discussed above, the parties’ collective-bargaining 
agreement expired by its terms on September 26, 2021.  
The parties stipulated that “[on] September 16, when the
parties commenced successor bargaining, the Union pro-
posed a Memorandum of Understanding addressing the 
topic of . . . the Lytx [camera] system.”  The Respondent 
sought an additional stipulation that the parties “thereafter 
negotiated . . . on the Lytx system and reached a tentative 
agreement.”  The stipulation was rejected.  However, the 
Respondent introduced into evidence a tentative agreement, 

19 The complaint alleged, and the judge found, that the Respondent 
unlawfully failed to respond to Request 4 in the Union’s January 12, 
2021 letter, which sought information regarding whether cameras were 
in use at any of the Respondent’s other facilities; which facilities (if any); 
and a copy of any applicable policy, collective-bargaining agreement 
provision, memorandum of understanding, or other document discussing 
the use of cameras at its other facilities.  There are no exceptions to the 
judge’s findings in this regard.

20 The judge rejected the General Counsel’s argument that this right is 
limited by language in the management-rights clause requiring that 
changes in equipment be made “in the interest of improved methods and 

dated November 9, 2021 (8 days before the hearing in this 
case), addressing the permissible uses of the camera system.

B. The Judge’s Decision and Exceptions

The judge found that the Respondent’s decision to in-
stall cameras that monitor unit employees while they work 
was a mandatory subject of bargaining.  The judge further 
found that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) 
of the Act by failing to furnish, or inform the Union that it 
did not possess, information regarding the decision that 
was requested by the Union in its January 12, 2021, let-
ter.19

The judge additionally found that the Respondent failed 
to provide the Union with a timely and meaningful oppor-
tunity to bargain over the decision.  However, the judge 
concluded that MV Transportation compelled dismissal of 
the complaint allegations.  Specifically, the judge found 
that the Respondent’s action was “covered” by the man-
agement-rights language in Article III of the parties’ col-
lective-bargaining agreement granting the Respondent the 
right to “implement changes in equipment.”  Thus, the 
judge found that the Respondent’s trucks are “equipment” 
and that the installation of cameras in the trucks falls 
within the compass of the contractual language granting 
the Respondent the right to “implement changes in equip-
ment.”20  

The judge also found that by agreeing to the manage-
ment-rights language in Article III, the Union relinquished 
the right to bargain over the effects of the Respondent’s 
decision to install the cameras.  The judge acknowledged 
the incongruence with Board precedent holding that a con-
tractual waiver of the right to bargain over a particular de-
cision does not constitute a waiver of the right to bargain 
over the effects of the decision.21  However, the judge ob-
served that the Board had not yet addressed the issue under 
the contract coverage standard.  Without providing a ra-
tionale for departing from Board precedent developed in 
other contexts, the judge concluded that effects bargaining 
is precluded when the contract covers the underlying de-
cision.  The judge therefore found that the Respondent had 
no obligation to engage in further bargaining with the Un-
ion, either as to the decision or as to the effects of the de-
cision on unit employees.  Accordingly, the judge dis-
missed both the decisional and effects-bargaining allega-
tions.

The General Counsel excepts arguing, among other 
things, that MV Transportation is inconsistent with the 

product.”  In the alternative, the judge found that even assuming the Gen-
eral Counsel is correct that the management-rights clause only authorizes 
the Respondent to unilaterally implement changes in equipment if such 
changes are made “in the interest of improved methods and products,” 
the Respondent’s actions fell within the scope of that language, because 
“[f]or a trucking services company, the operation of its trucks is [its] 
product,” and the installation of cameras to improve safety and address 
accidents constitutes an improvement in its methods and product.

21 See, e.g., New York University, 363 NLRB 470, 474 (2015), Good 
Samaritan Hospital, 335 NLRB 901, 902–904 (2001).
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express congressional intent to promote and encourage 
collective bargaining and should be overruled.  The Gen-
eral Counsel contends that this case illustrates how the 
contract coverage standard frustrates the policy that Con-
gress sought to implement.  The General Counsel con-
tends that if the judge’s interpretation of the management-
rights language is correct, the Respondent would never be 
required to notify and bargain with the Union prior to ef-
fectuating changes affecting important terms and condi-
tions of employment, because nearly all such changes ar-
guably fall within the compass or scope of the broad lan-
guage in Article III of the parties’ collective-bargaining 
agreement granting the Respondent the right to “develop 
new processes, and implement changes in equipment, 
changes in the content of jobs or improvements . . . in the 
interest of improved methods and product.” The General 
Counsel contends that such a reading would effectively
nullify the Union’s ability to act as the unit employees’ 
bargaining representative.  The General Counsel there-
fore urges the Board to overrule MV Transportation, re-
turn to the longstanding clear and unmistakable waiver 
standard, and apply that standard retroactively.

Applying the waiver standard in this case, the General 
Counsel contends that the Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to notify and bargain with the 
Union about the decision to install the camera system and 
its effects on unit employees, and by failing and refusing 
to bargain collectively with the Union upon request.  The 
General Counsel observes that there is no language in the
contract referencing camera systems and no evidence of a
mutual intention to permit unilateral employer action with
respect to the installation of camera systems that monitor 
employees and can be used for disciplinary purposes.  Ac-
cordingly, the General Counsel argues that the Union did 
not waive its rights to bargain over the decision or its ef-
fects. 

The Respondent argues that the Board should adhere to 
the contract coverage standard.  Under the contract cover-
age standard, the Respondent maintains that it did not vi-
olate its bargaining obligation, for the reasons found by 
the judge.

III. DISCUSSION

A. Basic Principles Governing the Duty to Bargain  

The purpose of the National Labor Relations Act, stated 
clearly in its preamble, is 

to eliminate the causes of certain substantial obstructions 
to the free flow of commerce and to mitigate and elimi-
nate these obstructions when they have occurred by 

22 See also Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB, 441 U.S. 488, 498, 502 (1979) 
(it “is the assumption of national labor policy” that “more, not less, col-
lective bargaining is the remedy” for disputes “plainly germane to the 
working environment”) (internal quotes and citations omitted).  

23 A violation of Sec. 8(a)(5) is also a violation of Sec. 8(a)(1), which 
makes it an unfair labor practice for an employer “to interfere with, 

encouraging the practice and procedure of collective 
bargaining and by protecting the exercise by workers of 
full freedom of association, self-organization, and desig-
nation of representatives of their own choosing, for the 
purpose of negotiating the terms and conditions of their 
employment or other mutual aid or protection.  

29 U.S.C. § 151 (emphasis added).  
The Supreme Court has long recognized the role collec-

tive bargaining plays in the Act’s central goal of reducing 
and eliminating the causes of industrial strife.  As the 
Court has observed:

One of the primary purposes of the Act is to promote 
the peaceful settlement of industrial disputes by sub-
jecting labor-management controversies to the media-
tory influence of negotiation.  The Act was framed 
with an awareness that refusals to confer and negotiate 
had been one of the most prolific causes of industrial 
strife.

Fibreboard Paper Products Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 
211 (1964) (citations omitted).22

To accomplish these statutory objectives, Section 7 of 
the Act guarantees the right of employees to “bargain col-
lectively through representatives of their own choosing.”  
29 U.S.C. § 157; id. § 158(a)(1).  And Section 8(a)(5) 
makes it an unfair labor practice for an employer “to re-
fuse to bargain collectively with the representatives of his
employees.”  Id. § 158(a)(5).23  Section 8(d)  defines the
phrase “to bargain collectively” as “the performance of the
mutual obligation of the employer and the representative
of the employees to meet at reasonable times and confer
in good faith with respect to wages, hours, and other terms
and conditions of employment . . . . ”  Id. § 158(d).  It is
well settled than an employer violates Section 8(a)(5) if it
changes terms and conditions of employment that are
mandatory subjects of bargaining without providing the
union representing its employees with prior notice and the
opportunity to bargain.  NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 743 
(1962).  The Court in Katz declared that such a unilateral 
change “is a circumvention of the duty to negotiate which 
frustrates the objectives of § 8(a)(5) much as does a flat 
refusal” to bargain.24  

Where a specific term and condition of employment is
incorporated in a collective-bargaining agreement, the Act
creates a different, but related set of rules that also govern
an employer’s statutory duty to bargain.  Under Section
8(d), neither party to a contract shall be required “to dis-
cuss or agree to any modification of the terms and 

restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in 
section 7.”  Bemis Co., 370 NLRB No. 7, slip op. at 1 fn. 3 (2020).

24 369 U.S. at 743 (footnote omitted); see also id. at 747 (unilateral 
changes made during contract negotiations “must of necessity obstruct 
bargaining, contrary to the congressional policy” and “will rarely be jus-
tified by any reason of substance”).  



DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD6

conditions contained in” a currently effective contract.25  
A party seeking to modify the terms of an existing contract 
must obtain the other party’s consent, and either party may 
refuse to negotiate over midterm changes to any terms and 
conditions “contained in” a contract.26  Where, however, 
a specific term and condition is not “contained in” a con-
tract, the employer’s statutory duty to bargain still applies.  
Thus, the employer remains obligated “to bargain collec-
tively with the representatives of his employees” regard-
ing any term and condition that is not “contained in” an 
agreement, and the employer can only change such a term 
and condition after it has bargained in good faith to im-
passe with the union.27  Accordingly, the Board distin-
guishes between (1) unfair labor practice allegations that 
an employer has made an unlawful mid-term modification 
of the collective-bargaining agreement and (2) as in the 
instant case, allegations that an employer has failed and 
refused to bargain on request or made a unilateral 
change.28  

B. Development of the Clear and Unmistakable 
Waiver Standard

The Board developed the waiver standard to address 
employers’ contractual defenses to unilateral-change and 
refusal-to-bargain allegations.  The standard was first ar-
ticulated shortly after the enactment of the Taft-Hartley 
amendments, in Tide Water Associated Oil Co., 85 NLRB 
1096 (1949).  The complaint in Tide Water alleged that the 
employer violated Section 8(a)(5) by unilaterally chang-
ing the retirement plan for unit employees.  The employer 
argued that its conduct was privileged by a management-
rights clause which included the “retiring of employees” 
as an exclusive management function and provided, in a 
separate paragraph, that the collective-bargaining agree-
ment “shall in no way affect” the operation of the retire-
ment plan or the status of any employee with respect to the 

25 Sec. 8(d) provides in relevant part that the duty to bargain “shall not 
be construed as requiring either party to discuss or agree to any modifi-
cation of the terms and conditions contained in a contract for a fixed pe-
riod, if such modification is to become effective before such terms and 
conditions can be reopened under the provisions of the contract.”  29 
U.S.C. § 158(d).

26 C & S Industries, Inc., 158 NLRB 454, 457 (1966); Jacobs Mfg. 
Co., 94 NLRB 1214, 1217–1218 (1951), enfd. 196 F.2d 680 (2d Cir. 
1952).  

Before the Act was amended by the Taft-Hartley Act in 1947, em-
ployers and unions were under a continuous duty to bargain as to unit 
employees’ terms and conditions of employment, even if the subject mat-
ter to be discussed was already incorporated in a collective-bargaining 
agreement.  See NLRB v. Jacobs Mfg., 196 F.2d at 683 (citing NLRB v. 
Sands Mfg. Co., 306 U.S. 332, 342 (1939)).  Sec. 8(d), added to the Act 
in the Taft-Hartley amendments, was intended to foster industrial peace 
by stabilizing agreed-upon conditions of employment.  Allied Chemical 
& Alkali Workers Local 1 v. Pittsburgh Plate Glass, 404 U.S. 157, 186–
187 (1971); Steelworkers v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co., 363 U.S. 
574, 578 fn. 3 (1960).

27 NLRB v. Jacobs Mfg., 196 F.2d at 684 (holding that Sec. 8(d) does 
not relieve an employer of the duty to bargain “as to subjects which were 
neither discussed nor embodied in any of the terms and conditions of the 
contract”); Milwaukee Spring Division, 268 NLRB 601, 602 (1984), 

plan.  The Board rejected this defense, stating “[w]e are 
reluctant to deprive employees of any of the rights guar-
anteed them by the Act in the absence of a clear and un-
mistakable showing of a waiver of such rights.”29    

The Supreme Court approved the Board’s clear and un-
mistakable waiver standard in NLRB v. C & C Plywood 
Corp., 385 U.S. 421 (1967).  In C & C Plywood, the Gen-
eral Counsel alleged that the employer violated Section 
8(a)(5) by implementing a premium pay schedule for a 
classification of employees, without prior notice to, or bar-
gaining with, the union.30  The employer argued that its 
action was authorized by language in the parties’ collec-
tive-bargaining agreement reserving to the employer the 
right “to pay a premium rate over and above the contrac-
tual classified wage rate to reward any particular em-
ployee for some special fitness, skill, aptitude, or the 
like.”31  The trial examiner (the equivalent of today’s ad-
ministrative law judge) dismissed the complaint on the 
ground that the dispute involved only a matter of contract 
interpretation and that the employer’s implementation of 
the premium pay plan according to its interpretation of the 
contract was not a violation of Section 8(a)(5).  The Board 
reversed, explaining that the “[u]nion was complaining 
not of a violation of its contract with [the employer], but 
of the invasion of its statutory right as collective-bargain-
ing representative of employees . . . to bargain about any 
change in the terms and conditions of employment . . . .”32  
The Board observed that the “statutory right . . . to bargain 
. . . may be waived by the union,”33 but to be effective, the 
waiver must be “‘clear and unmistakable,’” and an “in-
tent” to permit unilateral employer action “should not be 
inferred unless the language of the contract . . . clearly 
demonstrates this to be a fact.”34  The Board saw “nothing 
in . . . [the] contract to establish that the [u]nion intended 
to waive its statutory right to bargain over the matter in 
dispute,” and so found a violation of Section 8(a)(5).35

affd. sub nom. Auto Workers Local 547 v. NLRB, 765 F.2d 175 (D.C. 
Cir. 1985).

28 See, e.g., Bath Iron Works Corp., 345 NLRB 499, 501 (2005), affd. 
475 F.3d 14 (1st Cir. 2007).  

29 Id. at 1098.
Our dissenting colleague contends that Tide Water provides no sup-

port for our view because the contract there was silent as to the disputed 
issue.  As discussed above, however, the employer in Tide Water, like 
the Respondent in this case, argued that its unilateral conduct was privi-
leged by a management-rights clause.  The Board in Tide Water therefore 
interpreted the contractual language, relying on both the “vagueness” of 
the management-rights clause and the absence of any other specific ref-
erence to the matter in dispute in the contract, to determine that the union 
had not waived its statutory right to bargain.  Id.  Tide Water thus repre-
sents an early example of the Board’s analysis that ripened into the clear 
and unmistakable waiver standard.

30 C & C Plywood Corp., 148 NLRB 414 (1964), enf. denied 351 F.2d
224 (9th Cir. 1965).

31 Id. at 414.
32 Id. at 415.
33 Id. at 415–416.
34 Id. at 416.
35 Id. at 417.



ENDURANCE ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 7

The Ninth Circuit reversed.  Agreeing with the trial ex-
aminer, the court held that the Board lacked jurisdiction to 
decide the case, because the dispute turned on the inter-
pretation of the collective-bargaining agreement, which is 
a matter for the state or federal courts under Section 301 
of the Act.36  

The Supreme Court reversed the Ninth Circuit, direct-
ing it to enforce the Board’s order.  The Court rejected the 
argument that “since the contract contained a provision 
which might have allowed” the employer to act unilater-
ally, the Board was “powerless to determine whether that 
provision did authorize the [employer’s] action, because 
the question was one for a state or federal court under §
301 of the Act.”37  The Court explained that the Board had 
“not construed a labor agreement to determine the extent 
of the contractual rights which were given the union by 
the employer” nor “imposed its own view of what the 
terms and conditions of the labor agreement should be.”38  
Rather, it “enforce[d] a statutory right which Congress 
considered necessary to allow labor and management to 
get on with the process of reaching fair terms and condi-
tions of employment,” and its “interpretation went only so 
far as was necessary to determine that the union did not 
agree to give up . . . statutory safeguards” against unilat-
eral employer action.39

The Court also upheld the Board’s determination that 
the contractual language did not give the employer the 
right to unilaterally institute its premium pay plan.  In do-
ing so, the Court expressly approved the Board’s waiver 
analysis, stating:

36 351 F.2d at 227–228 (citing NLRB v. American National Insurance 
Co., 343 U.S. 395, 404 (1952)).  In relevant part, Sec. 301 provides that 
“[s]uits for violation of contracts between an employer and a labor or-
ganization representing employees . . . may be brought in any district 
court of the United States having jurisdiction of the parties . . . . ”  29 
U.S.C. § 185.  But refusal-to-bargain and unilateral-change allegations 
under Sec. 8(a)(5) of the Act do not involve a claim that the collective-
bargaining agreement has been violated, but rather that the employer has 
violated its statutory duty to bargain.  As mentioned above, unfair labor 
practice charges must be brought to the Board, which is solely responsi-
ble for administering the Act.  See id. § 160.  Notably, Sec. 10(a) of the 
Act provides that the Board’s “power [to redress unfair labor practices] 
shall not be affected by any other means of adjustment or prevention that 
has been or may be established by agreement, law, or otherwise.”  Id. § 
160(a).

37 385 U.S. at 425–426.  The Court acknowledged that “Congress de-
termined that the Board should not have general jurisdiction over all al-
leged violations of collective bargaining agreements and that such mat-
ters should be placed within the jurisdiction of the courts,” observing that 
this determination was based both on freedom-of-contract principles and 
on Congress’ “concern[] with the possibility of conflicting decisions that 
would result from placing all questions of contract interpretations before 
both the Board and the courts.”  Id. at 427 & 428 fn. 13 (citing 93 Cong. 
Rec. 4033, 2 Legis. History of LMRA 1539).  However, the Court ob-
served that the possibility of conflict “does not arise in a case like the 
present one, since courts have no jurisdiction to enforce the union’s stat-
utory rights under [Sec.] 8(a)(5) and (1).”  Id. at 428 fn. 13. 

38 Id. at 428.  
39 Id.  

[T]he Board relied upon its experience with labor rela-
tions and the Act’s clear emphasis upon the protection 
of free collective bargaining.  We cannot disapprove of 
the Board’s approach.  For the law of labor agreements 
cannot be based upon abstract definitions unrelated to 
the context in which the parties bargained and the basic 
regulatory scheme underlying the context.40

In NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385 U.S. 432, 433 
(1967), decided the same day as C & C Plywood, the Court 
“deal[t] with another” aspect of “an employer’s duty to 
bargain during the term of a collective bargaining agree-
ment,” namely, “the obligation to furnish information that 
allows a union to decide whether to process a grievance.”  
There, the Court similarly rejected an argument that the 
authority of the Board to adjudicate unfair labor practices 
is supplanted where there is a provision for binding arbi-
tration of differences concerning the meaning and appli-
cation of a collective-bargaining agreement.41  The Court 
emphasized that while courts are required to defer to an 
arbitrator when construction and application of a labor 
agreement are in issue, “[t]he relationship of the Board to 
the arbitration process is of a quite different order.”42  The 
Court in Acme also expressly affirmed the principle that 
“the duty to bargain unquestionably extends beyond the 
period of contract negotiations and applies to labor-man-
agement relations during the term of an agreement.”43

The Court reaffirmed its approval of the Board’s waiver 
analysis in Metropolitan Edison Co. v. NLRB, 460 U.S. 
693 (1983).  There, the Court held that a union could 
waive in a collective-bargaining agreement its officers’ 
statutory right under Section 8(a)(3) of the Act to be free 

40 Id. at 430.  
We disagree with our colleague’s apparent suggestion that the Court, 

by citing Archibald Cox, The Legal Nature of Collective Bargaining 
Agreements, 57 Mich. L. Rev. 1 (1958), was  somehow obliquely signal-
ing its support of a contract coverage approach rather than the Board’s 
waiver analysis.  Nothing in the Court’s opinion supports such a sugges-
tion, nor does the article itself anticipate the contract coverage approach.  
The article, written after the passage of § 301, poses the following ques-
tions: “Where . . . is the judge or arbitrator to turn in deciding [an issue] 
on which the contract is silent?  I have no answer
. . . only a conviction that the search is one which ought to be pursued 
more consciously in general terms, even though the answer is the pot of 
gold at the end of the rainbow.”  Id. at 34.  The article then suggests 
possible answers, including that an arbitrator, if authorized by the con-
tract, should fill in the gaps, but adds “[t]he suggestions made here are 
hardly a beginning.”  Id. at 35–36.

41 Id. at 435–437 (citing C & C Plywood, supra, and NLRB v. F. W. 
Woolworth Co., 352 U.S. 938 (1964)).  

42 Id. at 436.  The Court observed that in assessing the Board’s power 
to deal with unfair labor practices, “provisions of the . . . Act which do 
not apply to the power of the courts under [Sec.] 301 must be consid-
ered.”  Id.  Sec. 8(a)(5) and 8(d) make it an unfair labor practice for an 
employer to fail or refuse to bargain in good faith, while Sec. 10(a) pro-
vides that the Board’s power “‘to prevent any person from engaging in 
any unfair labor practice . . . . shall not be affected by any other means 
of adjustment or prevention that has been or may be established by agree-
ment, law, or otherwise . . . . ’”  Id. 436–437.  

43 Id. at 436.
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from antiunion discrimination.  However, the Court stated, 
“we will not infer from a general contractual provision that 
the parties intended to waive a statutorily protected right 
unless the undertaking is ‘explicitly stated.’  More suc-
cinctly, the waiver must be clear and unmistakable.”44  In 
support of the requirement that contractual waivers of stat-
utory rights must be “clear and unmistakable,” the Court 
cited its earlier decision in Mastro Plastics Corp. v. NLRB, 
350 U.S. 270 (1956).45  In Mastro Plastics, the question 
before the Court was whether a general no-strike provision 
in the parties’ collective-bargaining agreement waived 
employees’ right to strike over an unfair labor practice.  
While reserving the question whether a union might waive 
this right if it were “explicitly stated,” the Court in Mastro 
Plastics held that “there is no adequate basis for implying 
[the] existence [of waiver] without a more compelling ex-
pression of it than appears in . . . this contract.”46  

Since Metropolitan Edison, the Supreme Court has re-
peatedly affirmed, in a variety of contexts, the principle 
that a contractual waiver of a statutorily protected right 
must be “explicitly stated” and “clear and unmistakable.”  
See, e.g., 14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett, 556 U.S. 247 (2009) 
(holding that provision in a collective-bargaining agree-
ment that “clearly and unmistakably” required union 
members to arbitrate Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act claims is enforceable); Wright v. Universal Maritime 
Service Corp., 525 U.S. 70, 79–80, 82 (1998) (reiterating 
requirement that contractual waivers of statutory rights 
must be “explicitly stated” and “clear and unmistakable,” 
and finding that collective-bargaining agreement did not 
waive employees’ right to a judicial forum for federal 
claims of employment discrimination) (citing Metropoli-
tan Edison, 460 U.S. at 708; Livadas v. Bradshaw, 512 
U.S. 107, 125 (1994) (stating in dictum that a union’s 
waiver in collective-bargaining agreement of employees’ 
individual state-law rights would have to be “clear and un-
mistakable”); Lingle v. Norge Division of Magic Chef, 
Inc., 486 U.S. 399, 409 fn. 9 (1988) (same)).  In each of 
these cases, the Supreme Court relied on the principle that 
statutorily protected rights are too important to be 

44 Id. at 708.  The Court stated that “[t]he Courts of Appeals have 
agreed that the waiver of a protected right must be expressed clearly and 
unmistakably.” Id., fn. 12.

45 460 U.S. at 708.
46 350 U.S. at 283.
47 We disagree with our colleague’s view that these cases are of lim-

ited relevance because they did not involve waivers of the statutory right 
to bargain.  They reflect the Court’s view that waivers of statutory rights 
can be effected only through clear and unmistakable language.  The dis-
sent offers no persuasive explanation why the statutory right to engage 
in collective bargaining should be given short shrift compared with the 
statutory rights at issue in the cases cited above.

48 Recognizing this wealth of precedent validating the Board’s clear 
and unmistakable standard, arbitrators have also applied the clear and 
unmistakable waiver standard.  See, e.g., [Grievant 1] v. [Respondent 1], 
2020 WL 1820561 (2020) (redacted) (applying clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard); Bakery Confectionary Tobacco Workers & Grain Mil-
lers International Union Local 366-G v. Nestle Purina Petcare Co., 2016 

surrendered through less-than-explicit waivers in a collec-
tive-bargaining agreement.47

C. Subsequent Judicial Decisions

Following the Supreme Court’s lead, the majority of 
Courts of Appeals—the Third, Fourth, Sixth, Eighth, 
Ninth, and Tenth Circuits—have consistently deferred to 
the Board’s clear and unmistakable waiver standard as a 
rational and permissible interpretation of the Act.  See 
Capitol Steel & Iron Co. v. NLRB, 89 F.3d 692, 697 (10th 
Cir. 1996); Bonnell/Tredegar Industry v. NLRB, 46 F.3d 
339, 346 fn. 6 (4th Cir. 1995); Ciba-Geigy Pharmaceuti-
cals Division v. NLRB, 722 F.2d 1120, 1127 (3d Cir. 
1983); American Distributing Co. v. NLRB, 715 F.2d 446, 
449–450 (9th Cir. 1983), cert. denied 466 U.S. 958 (1984); 
Tocco Division v. NLRB, 702 F.2d 624, 626-627 (6th Cir. 
1983); American Oil Co. v. NLRB, 602 F.2d 184, 188–189 
(8th Cir. 1979).  Notably, the Sixth Circuit, where the
events at issue in this case arose, continues to embrace the
clear and unmistakable waiver standard.  See Beverly
Health and Rehabilitation Services v. NLRB, 297 F.3d 
468, 480 (6th Cir. 2002).48

Despite widespread judicial approval of the Board’s
clear and unmistakable waiver standard and the standard’s
grounding in Supreme Court precedent, several Courts of
Appeals have criticized the Board’s approach.  Although
initially endorsing the Board’s approach,49 the District of 
Columbia Circuit and the Seventh Circuit have since 
parted ways with the Board.  Beginning in the late 1980s
and early 1990s, the District of Columbia Circuit devel-
oped its contract coverage approach when considering
unilateral-change allegations in cases arising under both
the Act and the Federal Service Labor-Management Rela-
tions Statute (FSLMRS).50  See, e.g., NLRB v. Postal Ser-
vice, 8 F.3d 832 (D.C. Cir. 1993); Department of the Navy 
v. FLRA, 962 F.2d 48 (D.C. Cir. 1992).  In Postal Service, 
the District of Columbia Circuit, applying a contract cov-
erage analysis to a case arising under the Act for the first 
time, found that a management-rights clause granting the 
employer “the exclusive right” to “transfer and assign em-
ployees,” “determine the methods, means and personnel 

WL 10649399 (W.D. Okla. 2016) (same); International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters v. Rock Island Integrated Services, 2004 WL 5841301 (C.D. 
Ill. 2004) (Stanton, Arb.) (same); In re Russell, FMCS Case No. 
99/12641-A, 2000 WL 36177202 (2000) (Solomon, Arb.) (same).  

49 See Murphy Diesel Co. v. NLRB, 454 F.2d 303, 307 (7th Cir. 1971); 
International Union, UAW v. NLRB, 381 F.2d 265, 267 (D.C. Cir. 1967), 
cert. denied 389 U.S. 857 (1967).  

50 Congress established the FLRA in 1978 in Title VII of the Civil 
Service Reform Act of 1978.  See 5 U.S.C. §
7101–7135.  Unlike the NLRA, the FSLMRS specifically excludes cer-
tain “management rights” from the statutory duty to bargain, including 
hiring decisions, the assignment of work, and the establishment of per-
formance standards.  Id. § 7106(a)(2).  The District of Columbia Circuit 
has never substantially addressed this foundational distinction between 
the NLRA and the FSLMRS.  As explained here, we would not import a 
standard developed under the FSLMRS to evaluate an employer’s de-
fense that it failed to satisfy its bargaining obligation under the NLRA, a 
markedly different statute.
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by which [its] operations are to be conducted,” and “main-
tain the efficiency of the operations entrusted to it” privi-
leged the employer’s unilateral reduction of employees’ 
hours because it demonstrated that “the parties had already 
bargained over the relevant issues and memorialized the 
terms of that bargain in their contract.”  8 F.3d at 833–834 
& 838.  The District of Columbia Circuit continues to ad-
here to the contract coverage approach.  See, e.g., Heart-
land Plymouth Court MI, LLC v. NLRB, 838 F.3d 16, 18 
(D.C. Cir. 2016); Enloe Medical Center v. NLRB, 433 F.3d 
834 (D.C. Cir. 2005).

The First and Seventh Circuits have also departed from 
the Board’s traditional clear and unmistakable waiver 
standard.51  The Seventh Circuit has declared that a waiver 
analysis is inapposite “when the parties have an express 
written contract” and the relevant issue is “what it means.”  
Chicago Tribune Co., 974 F.2d at 936–937.52  

The Second Circuit has taken yet another approach in 
analyzing Board decisions dealing with employers’ con-
tractual defenses to unilateral-change allegations.  The 
Second Circuit initially joined the majority of circuits in 
deferring to the Board’s application of the clear and un-
mistakable waiver standard.  See, e.g., Olivetti Office 
U.S.A., Inc. v. NLRB, 926 F.2d 181, 187 (2d Cir. 1991), 
cert. denied 502 U.S. 856 (1991).  Thereafter, the Second 
Circuit began applying a hybrid test incorporating aspects 
of the waiver and contract coverage standards.  See Elec-
trical Workers Local 36 v. NLRB, 706 F.3d 73, 83–84 (2d 
Cir. 2013) (setting forth a “two-step framework” that ana-
lyzes “whether the issue is clearly and unmistakably re-
solved (or ‘covered’) by the contract” and, if not, “whether 
the union has clearly and unmistakably waived its right to 
bargain”) (emphasis in original), cert. denied 573 U.S. 958 
(2014).  Eventually, informed both by deference to the 
Board’s decision in MV Transportation, supra, and its own
experience applying the hybrid standard, the Second Cir-
cuit adopted the contract coverage approach.  See Electri-
cal Workers Local 43 v. NLRB, 9 F.4th 63, 72–73 (2d Cir. 
2021).

None of these circuit decisions, however, addressed the 
Supreme Court’s approval of the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard in C & C Plywood or explained how their 
rejection of that standard is consistent with the Court’s 
holding.53  Nor have these courts grappled with the 
Court’s admonition that the Board’s choice of standard 
was entitled to considerable deference.  

51 Bath Marine Draftsmen’s Assn. v. NLRB, 475 F.3d 14, 25 (1st Cir. 
2007); Chicago Tribune Co. v. NLRB, 974 F.2d 933, 936-937 (7th Cir.
1992).

52 In Chicago Tribune, the court also questioned “what the exact force 
of the ‘clear and unmistakable’ principle can be . . . now that the Supreme 
Court has held that even a waiver of precious constitutional rights need 
not be proved by clear and convincing evidence.” Id. at 936–937 (citing 
Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167–169 (1986)).  As discussed 
above, however, the Supreme Court has since repeatedly affirmed that a 
contractual waiver of statutory rights must be clear and unmistakable. 

D. The Board’s Decision in MV Transportation

As described above, in MV Transportation, 368 NLRB 
No. 66, the Board adopted a version of the contract cover-
age standard for the first time.  Under that standard, the 
Board announced that it would “examine the plain lan-
guage of the collective-bargaining agreement to determine 
whether action taken by an employer was within the com-
pass or scope of contractual language granting the em-
ployer the right to act unilaterally.”54  If “the agreement 
does not cover the employer’s disputed act, and that act 
has materially, substantially, and significantly changed a 
term or condition of employment constituting a mandatory 
subject of bargaining, the employer will have violated 
Section 8(a)(5) and (1) unless it demonstrates that the un-
ion clearly and unmistakably waived its right to bargain 
over the change or that its unilateral action was privileged 
for some other reason.”55  

Echoing the criticism of the District of Columbia Cir-
cuit, a Board majority in MV Transportation claimed that 
the waiver standard alters the parties’ bargain and under-
mines contractual stability and repose by directing height-
ened scrutiny exclusively to those parts of the collective-
bargaining agreement that allegedly authorize unilateral 
employer action, leads to conflicting contract interpreta-
tions by the Board and the courts, undermines grievance 
arbitration, and is indefensible and unenforceable.  

As explained in greater detail below, the MV Transpor-
tation Board’s decision to overrule Provena and adopt the 
contract coverage standard was based on a series of erro-
neous assumptions.  Accordingly, we find merit in the 
General Counsel’s argument, on exception, that the Board 
should overrule MV Transportation and return to its tradi-
tional clear and unmistakable waiver standard.

IV. RESTORING THE CLEAR AND UNMISTAKABLE 

WAIVER STANDARD

A. The Board’s Authority to Interpret and Apply the Act

As the Supreme Court has often emphasized, “the 
NLRB has the primary responsibility for developing and 
applying national labor policy.”  NLRB v. Curtin Mathe-
son Scientific, Inc., 494 U.S. 775, 786 (1990).  “‘[E]ffec-
tuat[ing] national labor policy is often a difficult and deli-
cate responsibility, which the Congress committed pri-
marily to the National Labor Relations Board, subject to 
limited judicial review.’”  Beth Israel Hospital v. NLRB,
437 U.S. 483, 501 (1978) (quoting NLRB v. Truck Drivers, 
353 U.S. 87, 96 (1957)).  The Board has “special 

53 They also failed to address the Supreme Court’s other decisions af-
firming the principle that a contractual waiver of a statutorily protected 
right must be “explicitly stated” and “clear and unmistakable.”  See, e.g., 
14 Penn Plaza LLC, 556 U.S. at 258, 274; Wright v. Universal Maritime 
Service Corp., 525 U.S. at 79–80, 82; Livadas v. Bradshaw, 512 U.S. at 
125; Norge Division of Magic Chef, Inc., 486 U.S. at 409 fn. 9; Metro-
politan Edison, 460 U.S. at 708; Mastro Plastics, 350 U.S. at 283, 287.

54 Id., slip op. at 2.
55 Id.
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competence” in the field of labor relations that justifies 
“the deference accorded its determination” of issues per-
taining to federal labor policy.  NLRB v. J. Weingarten, 
420 U.S. at 266.  In particular, the Court has recognized 
that “Congress assigned to the Board the primary task of 
construing [Section 8(a)(5) and 8(d) of the Act] in the 
course of adjudicating charges of unfair refusals to bar-
gain.”  Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB, 441 U.S. 488, 495 
(1979).  The Board’s traditional clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard, which is a product of the Board’s exper-
tise in the field of labor relations and arose in the course 
of adjudicating allegedly unlawful unilateral changes, rep-
resents a permissible effort by the Board to fulfill its duty 
to faithfully interpret the relevant provisions of the Act.56  
Indeed, the Court has already deferred to the Board’s ex-
pertise on precisely the same issue involved here.  See C 
& C Plywood, 385 U.S. at 430 (“We cannot disapprove of 
the Board’s approach” in adopting the clear and unmistak-
able waiver standard as “the Board relied upon its experi-
ence with labor relations and the Act’s clear emphasis 
upon the protection of free collective bargaining.”).    

B. MV Transportation Rests on Mistaken Premises

1.

The heart of the Board majority’s rationale in MV 
Transportation (rearticulated by our dissenting colleague) 
is that the waiver standard interferes with the parties’ bar-
gained-for exchange.  First, the Board majority explained, 
“[t]he terms of the agreement represent the parties’ bar-
gained-for deal, arrived at through the give-and-take of ne-
gotiations, and the parties are entitled to the benefit of their 
bargain based on the language they agreed to include in 
their contract.”57  And quoting the Supreme Court’s deci-
sion in NLRB v. American National Insurance Co., 343 
U.S. at 404, the Board majority stated that it “‘may not, 
either directly or indirectly, compel concessions or other-
wise sit in judgment upon the substantive terms of collec-
tive bargaining agreements.’”58  The Board majority rea-
soned that under the clear and unmistakable waiver stand-
ard, “the Board will refuse to give effect to contract pro-
visions granting rights of unilateral action to the employer 
unless those provisions meet the exacting standards 

56 Contrary to our dissenting colleague, we are not impermissibly ex-
panding the statutory duty to bargain by holding that a contractual waiver 
of the right to bargain will not be lightly inferred.  Rather, we conclude 
that such a standard properly reflects the existence of that statutory duty 
and that collective-bargaining agreements are properly interpreted in 
light of the Act and its pro-bargaining policies. 

Nor are we adopting an interpretation of the statutory duty to bargain 
that conflicts with the language in Sec. 8(d)(4) of the Act, which states 
that the duty to bargain “shall not be construed as requiring either party 
to discuss or agree to any modification of the terms and conditions con-
tained in a contract for a fixed period, if such modification is to become 
effective before such terms and conditions can be reopened under the 
provisions of the contract.”  As the Second Circuit in Jacobs Mfg.
acknowledged, while Sec. 8(d) was intended to “give stability to agree-
ments governing industrial relations,” the “general purpose of the Act . . 
. is to require employers to bargain as to employee demands whenever 

imposed by the Board,” thereby “effectively writ[ing] out 
of the contract language the parties agreed to put into it.”59  

In C & C Plywood, however, the Supreme Court re-
jected these arguments.  The Court explained that the 
Board had “not construed a labor agreement to determine 
the extent of the contractual rights which were given the 
union by the employer.  It has not imposed its own view 
of what the terms and conditions of the labor agreement 
should be.  It has done no more than merely enforce a stat-
utory right which Congress considered necessary.”  385 
U.S. at 428.  The Court therefore rejected the notion that 
general freedom-of-contract principles foreclose the 
Board’s authority to evaluate contract language raised as 
a defense to an alleged statutory bargaining obligation.  In 
addition, the Court recognized that the Board had the au-
thority to interpret the terms of a collective-bargaining 
agreement in the course of determining whether an unfair 
labor practice has been committed, rejecting the argument 
that “since the contract contained a provision 
which might have allowed” the employer to act unilater-
ally, the Board was “powerless to determine whether that 
provision did authorize the [employer’s] action, because 
the question was one for a state or federal court under § 
301 of the Act.” Id. at 425–426 (emphasis in original).  

Indeed, this characterization of the clear and unmistak-
able waiver standard reveals the MV Transportation ma-
jority’s (and our dissenting colleague’s) fundamental mis-
conception of the task before the Board when it addresses 
the interpretation of contractual provisions that implicate 
the statutory right to bargain.  Under the traditional waiver 
standard, the Board evaluated whether an employer suc-
cessfully carried its burden of proving, as an affirmative 
defense, that “a contract provision authorized its unilateral 
change in working conditions.”  Provena, 350 NLRB at 
812. Like the Provena Board, we find it appropriate to 
hold an employer seeking to establish, as an affirmative 
defense to an allegation of unlawful unilateral action or 
refusal to bargain, that a union waived its statutory right 
to bargain, to the same standard as we hold a party seeking 
to establish any other affirmative defense to an alleged un-
fair labor practice.60  

made to the end that industrial disputes may be resolved peacefully . . . , 
and the general purpose should be given effect to the extent there is no 
contrary provision.”  196 F.2d at 684.  The court stressed that Sec. 8(d) 
used “precise and explicit” language to limit the scope of the bargaining 
obligation but was not meant to “relieve[] an employer of the duty to 
bargain as to subjects which were neither discussed nor embodied in any 
of the terms and conditions of the contract.”  Id.

57 368 NLRB No. 66, slip op. at 1.  
58 Id., slip op. at 4.  
59 Id.
60 It is well settled that an employer’s contention that a contract pro-

vision authorized it to make a disputed unilateral change without bar-
gaining is an affirmative defense.  Metro Health, Inc. d/b/a Hosp. Met-
ropolitano Rio Piedras & Unidad Laboral De Enfermeras(Os), 372 
NLRB No. 149, slip op. at 4 (2023) (citing DuPont Specialty Products
USA, LLC, 369 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 16 (2020) (discussing
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In addition, as discussed above, the waiver standard was 
settled Board law for 70 years and was approved by the 
Supreme Court and a majority of appellate courts.  It is 
therefore reasonable to assume that collective-bargaining 
agreements negotiated during that period were reached 
with the waiver standard in mind, and any attempt to give 
effect to the intentions of the parties or respect contractual 
repose therefore would entail continuing to analyze those 
agreements under the waiver standard.61  The immediate 
imposition of the contract coverage standard, in contrast, 
unquestionably upset the settled expectations of unions 
who previously thought they were assured of the right to 
bargain collectively over matters that were not explicitly 
waived.62  

2.

Relatedly, the MV Transportation Board argued that the 
waiver standard unfairly “tilts [the] decision in the union’s 
favor” by directing extra scrutiny exclusively to the provi-
sions in a collective-bargaining agreement in which the 
union allegedly relinquished its statutory right to bargain.  
As discussed above, however, the Supreme Court has re-
peatedly affirmed that contractual waivers of statutory 
rights must be explicitly stated and clear and 

“contract-coverage defense”), enfd. 2021 WL 3579384 (3d Cir. 2021); 
Exxon Research & Engineering Co., 317 NLRB 675, 682 (1995) (waiver
is an affirmative defense), enf. denied other grounds 89 F.3d 228 (5th 
Cir. 1996)).  It is also well-settled that the party asserting an affirmative 
defense of waiver of a statutory right has a heavy burden to prove it.  See, 
e.g., Local Joint Executive Bd. of Las Vegas v. NLRB, 540 F.3d 1072, 
1079 (9th Cir. 2008) (“The standard for waiving statutory rights . . . is 
high.  Proof of a contractual waiver is an affirmative defense and it is the 
employer’s burden to show that the contractual waiver is ‘explicitly 
stated, clear and unmistakable.’”) (quoting Silver State Disposal Service 
Inc., 326 NLRB 84, 86 (1998)).  By contrast, in contract-modification 
cases, the General Counsel bears the burden of proof.  See, e.g., ABF 
Freight System, Inc., 369 NLRB No. 107, slip op. at 3 fn. 8 (2020) (citing 
Bath Iron Works Corp., 345 NLRB 499, 502-503 (2005), affd. sub nom. 
Bath Marine Draftsmen’s Assn. v. NLRB, 475 F.3d 14 (1st Cir. 2007)).  
This is fitting, because the remedy in a contract-modification case is an 
order requiring compliance with or adherence to the contract, while in a 
unilateral-change case, the remedy requires the parties to bargain.  We 
express no view regarding whether the “sound arguable basis” standard 
applied by the majority in Bath Iron Works is the correct standard for an 
allegation of an 8(d) contract modification.

61 Provena, 350 NLRB at 813.
62 Id. at 813 & fn. 27.
63 Neither the Board and nor the courts of appeals that have adopted 

the contract coverage standard have ever seriously questioned the prin-
ciple that a waiver of statutory rights must be clear and unmistakable.  
Moreover, since they adopted the contract coverage standard, both the 
District of Columbia Circuit and the Seventh Circuit have continued to 
cite the Supreme Court’s decision in Metropolitan Edison for the propo-
sition that a waiver of the right to bargain must be clear and unmistaka-
ble.  Wilkes-Barre Hospital Co., LLC v. NLRB, 857 F.3d 364, 377 (D.C. 
Cir. 2017); National Steel Corp. v. NLRB, 324 F.3d 928, 933–934 (7th 
Cir. 2003) (“A party to collective bargaining . . . waives its right to bar-
gain over an issue only by clearly and unmistakably expressing its intent 
to do so.”); Honeywell International v. NLRB, 253 F.3d 125, 133 (D.C. 
Cir. 2001).  

The Board in MV Transportation sought to distinguish Metropolitan 
Edison on the basis that the Court’s decision “did not even involve inter-
pretation of collectively bargained language” (368 NLRB No. 66, slip 

unmistakable, and courts (including those that apply the 
contract coverage standard) routinely apply the clear and 
unmistakable waiver standard when interpreting collec-
tively bargained language that is alleged to waive or sur-
render rights arising under other statutes.63  Neither the 
MV Transportation Board nor courts that have adopted the 
contract coverage test have ever adequately explained 
why contract language that allegedly waives or surrenders 
the fundamental statutory right to bargain should be sub-
ject to a lower level of scrutiny than alleged contractual 
waivers of other statutory rights.  Similarly, neither the 
MV Transportation Board nor the courts that have criti-
cized the waiver standard have set forth a convincing ar-
gument as to why the Board should evaluate an em-
ployer’s contractual defense to conduct that would other-
wise violate the Act less rigorously than other defenses to 
alleged violations of the Act or defenses asserting waiver 
of other statutory rights.64

In this respect, we emphasize that the Board, with court 
approval, has consistently recognized that contract pro-
posals granting an employer discretionary control over 
terms and conditions of employment, while generally law-
ful, can be evidence of bad-faith bargaining when evalu-
ating whether an employer has bargained in good faith 

op. at 9).  Our dissenting colleague similarly seeks to distinguish Metro-
politan Edison on the basis that it concerned a waiver of the statutory 
right to be free from discrimination under Sec. 8(a)(3), and not a waiver 
of the statutory right to bargain under Sec. 8(a)(5).  The expansive lan-
guage of the Court’s decision speaks for itself.  See 460 U.S. at 708 
(“[W]e will not infer from a general contractual provision that the parties 
intended to waive a statutorily protected right unless the undertaking is 
‘explicitly stated.’  More succinctly, the waiver must be clear and unmis-
takable.”).  Given the clarity of the Court’s statement and the Court’s 
repeated reliance on it in subsequent cases arising under multiple stat-
utes, it must be regarded as authoritative, even if it is technically dicta.  
800 River Road Operating Co., 369 NLRB No. 109, slip op. at 5-6 fn.16 
(2020) (“Even if properly characterized as dicta, the meaning of the [Su-
preme] Court's language is clear, and we have serious doubts whether the 
Board has the authority to ‘change its mind’ in contravention of the 
Court’s own mindset.”), enfd. mem. 848 Fed.Appx. 443 (D.C. Cir. 
2021).  See also United Nurses & Allied Professionals v. NLRB, 975 F.3d 
34, 40 (1st Cir. 2020) (quoting United States v. Santana, 6 F.3d 1, 9 (1st 
Cir. 1993) (“Carefully considered statements of the Supreme Court, even 
if technically dictum, must be accorded great weight and should be 
treated as authoritative when, as in this instance, badges of reliability 
abound.”); McCoy v. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 950 F.2d 
13, 19 (1st Cir. 1991) (“[F]ederal appellate courts are bound by the Su-
preme Court's considered dicta almost as firmly as by the Court's outright 
holdings . . . . ”)).    

64 For this reason, we respectfully disagree with the characterization 
of the District of Columbia Circuit of the waiver standard as “impos[ing] 
an artificially high burden on an employer.”  Enloe Medical Center, 433 
F.3d at 837.  Similarly, even assuming, arguendo, that the Seventh Cir-
cuit’s statement that the waiver standard “tilts [the] decision in the un-
ion’s favor,” Chicago Tribune, 974 F.2d at 937, is accurate, it would be 
at most a true but unremarkable aspect of the waiver standard’s status as 
an affirmative defense.  See, e.g., Local Joint Executive Bd. of Las Vegas 
v. NLRB, 540 F.3d at 1079 (“The standard for waiving statutory rights . 
. . is high.  Proof of a contractual waiver is an affirmative defense and it 
is the employer’s burden to show that the contractual waiver is ‘explicitly
stated, clear and unmistakable.’”) (quoting Silver State Disposal Service,
326 NLRB at 86).
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before an agreement is reached.  See, e.g., Altura Commu-
nication Solutions, LLC, 369 NLRB No. 85 (2020) (pro-
posals granting employer unilateral control over wide 
range of employment terms are evidence of bad-faith bar-
gaining), enfd. 848 Fed.Appx. 344 (9th Cir. 2021).  Like-
wise, an employer is normally entitled to unilaterally im-
plement its final offer after reaching lawful impasse, but 
proposals granting an employer discretionary control over 
terms and conditions of employment are treated differ-
ently from other proposals for this purpose as well.  See, 
e.g., KSM Industries, 336 NLRB 133, 134-135 (2001) 
(employer unlawfully implemented discretionary benefit 
proposal despite bargaining to lawful impasse); 
McClatchy Newspapers, Inc., 321 NLRB 1386, 1390–
1391 (1996) (recognizing that granting employer the right 
to unilaterally implement discretionary merit pay proposal 
after bargaining to impasse would be “inherently destruc-
tive of the fundamental principles of collective bargain-
ing”) (emphasis in original, footnotes and citations omit-
ted), enfd. in pertinent part 131 F.3d 1026 (D.C. Cir. 
1997), cert. denied 524 U.S. 937 (1998). And provisions 
granting an employer discretionary control over terms and 
conditions of employment are also treated differently from 
other contract terms after the agreement has expired.  See, 
e.g., Nexstar Broadcasting, Inc. d/b/a KOIN-TV, 369 
NLRB No. 61, slip op. at 2–3 (2020) (unlike other terms 
and conditions of employment, “contractual rights of uni-
lateral action” do not extend “beyond the contract’s 
agreed-upon expiration date absent an explicit agree-
ment”), enfd. 4 F.4th 801, 811 (9th Cir. 2021) (under 
“[o]rdinary contract principles” management’s claimed 
rights under a collective-bargaining agreement do not sur-
vive the agreement’s expiration “unless express contrac-
tual language so provides”); E. I. du Pont de Nemours, 364 
NLRB 1648 (2016) (same), overruled on other grounds 

65 368 NLRB No. 66, slip op. at 9.
66 See, e.g., The Academy of Magical Arts, Inc., 365 NLRB 1006, 1006

1 fn. 2 (2017) (union waived right to bargain over changes to work shifts 
by agreeing to contract language granting the employer authority to 
“schedule and change working hours, shifts and days off”); Chemical 
Solvents, Inc., 362 NLRB 1469, 1474 (2015) (union waived right to bar-
gain over subcontracting unit work by agreeing to contract language 
providing that the employer had the right to “transfer any or all of its . . 
. work . . . to any other entity”); Omaha World-Herald, 357 NLRB 1870, 
1870 (2011) (finding waiver of right to bargain over changes to pension 
plan); Cincinnati Paperboard, 339 NLRB 1079, 1079 fn. 2 (2003) (union 
waived right to bargain over employees’ practice of swapping shifts by 
agreeing to contract language granting the employer “sole responsibility” 
over matters including the rights “to hire, schedule, and assign work”);
California Pacific Medical Center, 337 NLRB 910, 910 fn. 1, 914 (2002) 
(union waived right to bargain over layoffs by agreeing to contract lan-
guage permitting the employer “to determine its staffing (including the 
number of jobs, the hours assigned to such jobs, and the changes to be 
made, if any)”); Good Samaritan Hospital, 335 NLRB 901, 901–902 
(2001) (union waived right to bargain over the implementation of staff-
ing matrix changes by agreeing to contract language allowing the em-
ployer “to decide the number of employees to be assigned to any shift or 
job . . . or to determine appropriate staffing levels”); Allison Corp., 330 
NLRB 1363, 1365 (2000) (union waived right to bargain over subcon-
tracting by agreeing to contract language granting the employer the right 

after remand 367 NLRB No. 12 (2018).  The MV Trans-
portation Board’s assumption that contract provisions 
granting an employer discretionary control over terms and 
conditions of employment should be treated the same as 
other contract provisions during the term of a collective-
bargaining agreement cannot be reconciled with these set-
tled principles.  Finally, the waiver standard creates no un-
fair tilt in favor of unions insofar as it makes unilateral 
employer action more difficult.  The standard instead ef-
fectuates the Act’s fundamental policy of encouraging the 
practice and procedure of collective bargaining to reduce 
industrial strife.  As the Supreme Court has explained, fed-
eral labor policy assumes that “more, not less, collective 
bargaining” is the answer to labor disputes.  Ford Motor 
Co., 441 U.S. at 502.  In requiring clear and unmistakable 
language to authorize unilateral employer action, the 
waiver standard appropriately requires the contracting 
parties to recognize and accommodate the Act’s pro-bar-
gaining orientation. 

3.

In this regard, we also reject the MV Transportation
Board’s claim that the waiver standard should be aban-
doned on the grounds that it “is, in practice, all but impos-
sible to meet.”65  The Board’s experience applying the 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard for more than 70 
years proves the contrary, as the Board has often found 
that the standard was satisfied.66  As the Board’s cases 
demonstrate, negotiators—who must be presumed to be 
aware of the Act—know how to draft language that clearly 
and unmistakably waives the statutory right to bargain 
over particular employment terms.

4.

An additional reason advanced by the MV Transporta-
tion Board for abandoning the clear and unmistakable 

“to subcontract”); United Technologies Corp., 300 NLRB 902, 902 
(1990) (union waived right to bargain over changes to overtime schedule 
by agreeing to contract language permitting the employer to unilaterally 
determine “shift schedules and hours of work”); United Technologies, 
287 NLRB 198, 198 (1987), enfd. 884 F.2d 1569 (2d Cir. 1989) (union 
waived right to bargain over changes to the progressive disciplinary pro-
cedure by agreeing to contract language granting the employer the “sole 
right and responsibility to direct the operations of the company,” includ-
ing the “right to make and apply rules and regulations for productions, 
discipline, efficiency, and safety”); American Stores Packing Co., 277 
NLRB 1656, 1658 (1986) (union waived right to bargain over plant clo-
sure and ensuing loss of bargaining unit work by agreeing to contract 
language granting the employer the right “to decide the number and lo-
cation of plants” and “whether and to what extent the work required in 
its business shall be performed” by unit employees); Emery Industries, 
268 NLRB 824, 824, 827–828 (1984) (union waived its right to bargain 
over changes to the absenteeism policy by agreeing to contract language 
granting the employer the unilateral right to discipline employees for 
“neglect of duty”); Cauthorne Trucking, 256 NLRB 721, 722 (1981) (un-
ion waived right to bargain over the cessation of pension fund contribu-
tions by agreeing to language authorizing the employer to cease making 
contributions after contract expiration until and unless a new contract re-
quired contributions), enf. granted in part, denied in part 691 F.2d 1023 
(D.C. Cir. 1982). 
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waiver standard is that the standard undermines grievance 
arbitration.  The majority reasoned that unions are more 
likely to receive a favorable determination from the Board 
than from an arbitrator because arbitrators do not apply the 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard, and therefore un-
ions will naturally prefer to have the Board determine the 
lawfulness of an employer’s disputed unilateral action.  As 
the Board explained in Provena, this concern is misplaced.  
The Act makes clear that the Board is not prevented from 
returning to the traditional waiver standard because it 
might conflict with the practice of arbitrators or under-
mine grievance arbitration.  In Section 10(a) and (c) of the 
Act, Congress committed to the Board the exclusive 
power to decide whether unfair labor practices have been 
committed and Section 10(a) explicitly provides that the 
Board’s power in this regard “shall not be affected by any 
other means of adjustment or prevention that has been or 
may be established by agreement, law or otherwise.” 29 
U.S.C. §160(a). Thus, there is no question that the author-
ity of the Board to decide unfair labor practice charges is 
not displaced by the presence of an arbitration provision 
within the parties’ agreement.67   Moreover, the Board will 
decide cases involving contract interpretation—including 
unilateral change cases—only where there is no basis for 
deferral to the parties’ grievance-arbitration process.68  
And if other standards for deferral are met, the Board will 
defer to an arbitration award even if the arbitrator does not 
apply the clear and unmistakable waiver standard.69  

67 See NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385 U.S. at 436–437 (rejecting 
the argument that the authority of the Board to adjudicate unfair labor 
practices is supplanted where there is a provision for binding arbitration 
of differences concerning the meaning and application of a collective-
bargaining agreement, and observing that in assessing the Board’s power 
to deal with unfair labor practices, “provisions of the . . . Act which do 
not apply to the power of the courts under [Sec.] 301 must be consid-
ered”; specifically, Sec. 8(a)(5) and 8(d) make it an unfair labor practice 
for an employer to fail or refuse to bargain in good faith, while Sec. 10(a) 
provides that the Board’s power “‘to prevent any person from engaging 
in any unfair labor practice . . . . shall not be affected by any other means 
of adjustment or prevention that has been or may be established by agree-
ment, law, or otherwise . . . . ’”).

68 350 NLRB at 815.  Neither party has sought deferral in this case. 
69 Id. (citing Smurfit-Stone Container Corp., 344 NLRB 658, 660 

(2005); Robert A. Gorman & Matthew W. Finkin, Basic Text on Labor 
Law Sec. 31.5 at 1039–1042 (2d ed. 2004)).  See also Weavexx, LLC, 
364 NLRB 1864, 1865 (2016); Southern California Edison Co., 310 
NLRB 1229, 1231 (1993) (arbitral award “can be susceptible to the in-
terpretation that the arbitrator found a waiver even if the arbitral award 
does not speak in [terms of clear and unmistakable waiver]”), affd. sub 
nom. Utility Workers Local 246 v. NLRB, 39 F.3d 1210 (D.C. Cir. 1994); 
Olin Corp., 268 NLRB 573, 576 (1984) (“The question of waiver . . . is 
also a question of contract interpretation.  An arbitrator’s interpretation 
of the contract is what the parties here have bargained for and, we might 
add, what national labor policy promotes.”).

Additionally, as mentioned, arbitrators themselves have applied the 
waiver standard, even if not uniformly.  See supra, fn. 48.

70 Our dissenting colleague professes great concern about the fate that 
the Board’s return to the longstanding clear and unmistakable waiver 
standard will face if presented to a circuit court that has rejected the
standard. Our decision today acknowledges this disagreement and is in-
tended to respectfully respond to the criticism of those circuits. It is our 

5. 

The MV Transportation Board also defended its adop-
tion of the contract coverage standard on the basis that the 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard had become inde-
fensible and unenforceable.70  However, as an administra-
tive agency charged by Congress with the uniform and ef-
fective administration of a national labor policy, the Board 
is not bound to acquiesce in the views of the circuit courts 
that conflict with those of the Board, even in cases arising 
in those circuits (which could be reviewed elsewhere).71  
To do so would cut short the development of federal labor 
law and policy, based on the decision of the first court of 
appeals (of 12) to disagree with the Board. Indeed, the 
District of Columbia Circuit has itself acknowledged that 
the Board is not required to acquiesce in its contract cov-
erage analysis and is free to seek en banc review or certi-
orari review in the Supreme Court to resolve the circuit 
conflict.  Enloe Medical Center v. NLRB, 433 F.3d at 838.  
See also Heartland Plymouth Court MI, LLC v. NLRB, 
838 F.3d at 21 (recognizing that “nonacquiescence allows 
for an issue’s ‘percolation’ among the circuits; generating 
a circuit split that can improve the likelihood of certio-
rari being granted”); Yellow Taxi Co. v. NLRB, 721 F.2d 
366, 385 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (Wright, J., concurring) (ob-
serving that it would be “unwise” to oppose nonacquies-
cence, “particularly in light of the instances in which po-
sitions taken by the Board were first repeatedly rejected 
by a large number of circuits, then accepted by others, and 

hope that this effort will be of value to these courts and will contribute 
to the resolution of the current split among the circuits. Even in the face 
of some contrary circuit court authority, the Board’s Congressionally as-
signed task remains to develop and apply the policies of the Act, to en-
gage in reasoned decision making, and to follow the Supreme Court’s 
precedents. We carry out that task today in returning to a standard that 
was Board precedent for many decades, was endorsed by the Supreme 
Court, and was applied by a majority of circuit courts during that time.

The Board has certainly faced difficult circumstances with contrasting 
circuit court views before. Aggrieved parties can and do seek review in 
various circuits, and the Board, too, is not limited to a single circuit in 
seeking  enforcement.  The Board thus cannot render its decisions with 
an eye only to one particular circuit court’s views.  

71 Provena, 350 NLRB at 814.  See also D.L. Baker, Inc., 351 NLRB 
515, 529 fn. 42 (2007) (“The Board generally applies its ‘nonacquies-
cence policy’ . . . and instructs its administrative law judges to follow 
Board precedent, not court of appeals precedent, unless overruled by the 
United States Supreme Court.”); Samuel Estreicher & Richard Revesz, 
Nonacquiescence by Federal Administrative Agencies, 98 YALE L.J.
679, 706–710 (1989) (describing rationale behind the Board’s nonacqui-
escence policy).  As the Seventh Circuit has observed:

The Supreme Court, not this circuit or even all twelve circuits that have 
jurisdiction to review orders of the Labor Board, is the supreme arbiter 
of the meaning of the laws enforced by the Board—a precept especially 
apt given the extraordinarily broad venue for proceedings to review 
Board orders . . . . This circuit is not authorized to interpret the labor 
laws with binding effect throughout the whole country, and the Board 
therefore is not obliged to accept our interpretation. 

Nielsen Lithographing Co. v. NLRB, 854 F.2d 1063, 1066–1067 (7th Cir. 
1988).
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later accepted by the Supreme Court”); United States v. 
Mendoza, 464 U.S. 154, 160 (1984) (explaining that relit-
igation across circuits ensures that a “final decision ren-
dered” by one circuit does not “freeze[]” “important ques-
tions of law”).

Although a divided panel of the District of Columbia 
Circuit imposed sanctions on the Board in Heartland, it 
did so because the Board repeatedly sought to enforce its 
waiver decisions in the face of adverse circuit precedent 
without actively seeking en banc or Supreme Court review 
on the disputed legal question.  Heartland, 838 F.3d at 20 
(“While our Court previously recognized the Board’s right 
of nonacquiescence, we did so with a certain end in mind.  
Namely, we presumed the Board would recognize a stale-
mate with our case law, one resolvable by seeking certio-
rari to the Supreme Court.”) (citations omitted). The 
court also faulted the Board for failing to be forthright 
about its nonacquiescence and instead “pretend[ing] there 
is no conflict between its Order and our law.”  Id. at 26.72  
The court emphasized that the Board had several “legiti-
mate options,” including submitting to an entry of judg-
ment, seeking certiorari or en banc reconsideration, or 
seeking a transfer to the Sixth Circuit, where the case 
arose, and which embraces the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard.  Id. at 20.  Nothing in the court’s decision 
suggested, however, that the Board is required to abandon 
what it believes to be the correct interpretation of the Act.  
Rather, the Board’s mistake, in the court’s view, was not 
being candid about its nonacquiescence and failing to seek 
en banc reconsideration, certiorari, or a transfer of the pro-
ceedings.73

72 Notably, there appears to be conflict within the District of Columbia 
Circuit’s own precedent.  In 1979, the court rebuked the Board for not
applying the waiver standard to determine whether a contractual provi-
sion relinquished a union’s statutory rights under Sec. 8(a)(5).  See Road 
Sprinkler Fitters Local 669, United Assn. of Journeymen v. NLRB, 600 
F.2d 918, 921–923 (D.C. Cir. 1979).  In doing so, the court cited three of 
its earlier decisions in which it had “applied the ‘clear and unmistakable’ 
test to situation in which contract terms arguably affected the parties’ 
obligations under [S]ec[.] 8(a)(5).”  See id. at 922.  It does not appear 
that the court has explicitly overruled any of these decisions, including 
in any of its subsequent decisions adopting the contract coverage test.  
Under the court’s precedent, a panel decision may not be overruled by a 
later panel decision, but only by the full court.  See LaShawn A. v. Barry, 
87 F.3d 1389, 1395 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (en banc).

73 As Judge Millett explained in her dissent in Heartland, however, 
the availability of Supreme Court review is not a matter solely within the 
Board’s control.  As Judge Millett argued, “the questions of whether and 
when Supreme Court review should be sought to eliminate the conflict 
and establish a single, uniform federal rule rest exclusively with the So-
licitor General in the Department of Justice and not with the Board.”  838 
F.3d at 31 (Millett, J., dissenting) (emphasis in original), citing 28 U.S.C. 
§ 518(a); 28 C.F.R. § 0.20(a) (Solicitor General is assigned duty of 
“[c]onducting, or assigning and supervising, all Supreme Court cases, 
including . . . petitions for and in opposition to certiorari”). 

74 See, e.g., Postal Service, 8 F.3d at 837; Chicago Tribune, 974 F.2d 
at 937–938 (citing Litton Financial Printing Division v. NLRB, 501 U.S. 
190, 202–203 (1991)).  

75 Our dissenting colleague contends that C & C Plywood “cannot bear 
the weight” that our decision places on it, because the Court’s sole task 
was to determine whether the Board has the authority to interpret 

6. 

Finally, we disagree with the view expressed by the MV 
Transportation Board and several appellate courts that the 
Board’s evaluation of an employer’s contractual defense 
to conduct that would otherwise violate the Act is not en-
titled to deference because the issue is strictly one of con-
tract interpretation.  Likewise, we reject as misplaced the 
contention that the Supreme Court has held that the Fed-
eral courts—which have jurisdiction over labor-contract 
disputes under Section 301 of the Labor-Management Re-
lations Act, 29 U.S.C. § 185—owe the Board no deference 
in contract interpretation when the interpretation of a con-
tract is inextricably intertwined with a statutory issue, i.e., 
whether the employer’s unilateral change in terms and 
conditions of employment violates the duty to bargain.74  
Section 301(a) authorizes federal courts to fashion a body 
of federal law for the enforcement of collective-bargain-
ing agreements.  Textile Workers of America v. Lincoln 
Mills, 353 U.S. 448 (1957).  However, as discussed previ-
ously, “Congress assigned to the Board the primary task 
of construing [Sections 8(a)(5) and 8(d) of the Act] in the 
course of adjudicating charges of unfair refusals to bar-
gain.”  Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB, 441 U.S. at 495.  Because 
the Board has “the primary responsibility of marking out 
the scope of the statutory language and of the statutory 
duty to bargain,” its construction of these provisions is 
“entitled to considerable deference.”  Id. at 495–496.  And 
this, of course, is what the Supreme Court held in C & C 
Plywood, as already explained.75

collective-bargaining agreements, not how the Board should do so, and 
the Court’s examination of the contract language at issue indicates that 
the Court has not required the level of specificity that the clear and un-
mistakable waiver standard requires.  A careful reading of the Court’s 
decision refutes our colleague’s contentions.  As discussed above, the 
Board in C & C Plywood rejected the employer’s argument that the union 
agreed to give it broad authority to alter wage rates, observing that 
“[s]uch an intent is so contrary to labor relations experience that it should 
not be inferred unless the language of the contract or the history of ne-
gotiations clearly demonstrates this to be a fact.”  148 NLRB at 417.  The 
Court expressly endorsed the Board’s conclusion that the contract lan-
guage at issue did not grant the employer the authority to act unilaterally.  
In doing so, the Court explained:  

[T]he Board relied upon its experience with labor relations and the 
Act’s clear emphasis upon the protection of free of collective bargain-
ing.  We cannot disapprove of the Board’s approach.  For the law of 
labor agreements cannot be based upon abstract definitions unrelated to 
the context in which the parties bargained and the basic regulatory 
scheme underlying the context.

385 U.S. at 430.  Moreover, C & C Plywood alone does not “bear the 
weight” of our decision.  As discussed above, the Supreme Court has 
repeatedly affirmed that contractual waivers of statutory rights must be 
clear and unmistakable.  See, e.g., 14 Penn Plaza LLC, 556 U.S. at 258, 
274; Wright v. Universal Maritime Service Corp., 525 U.S. at 79–80, 82; 
Livadas v. Bradshaw, 512 U.S. at 125; Norge Division of Magic Chef, 
Inc., 486 U.S. at 409 fn. 9; Metropolitan Edison, 460 U.S. at 708. Our 
colleague does not seriously dispute the applicability of these cases, ar-
guing instead that they are distinguishable because they did not involve 
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We have determined that the policies underlying the Act 
in general, and Section 8(a)(5) and 8(d) in particular, 
strongly support the application of the clear and unmistak-
able waiver standard in cases where an employer asserts a 
contractual defense to a charge of unlawful unilateral ac-
tion.  As the Supreme Court explained in First National 
Maintenance Corp. v. NLRB, 452 U.S. 666 (1981), “[a] 
fundamental aim of the National Labor Relations Act is 
the establishment and maintenance of industrial peace to 
preserve the flow of interstate commerce.  Central to 
achievement of this purpose is the promotion of collective 
bargaining as a method of defusing and channeling con-
flict between labor and management.”  Id at 674 (citations 
omitted).  Because of the essential role played by collec-
tive bargaining in achieving the goals of the Act, 
“[e]nforcement of the obligation to bargain collectively is 
crucial to the statutory scheme.”  American National In-
surance Co., 343 U.S. at 402.  As the Board explained in 
Provena, 

The waiver standard . . . does not involve merely a ques-
tion of contract interpretation, in the sense of determin-
ing what the contract means and whether it has been 
breached.  Rather, the waiver standard reflects the 
Board’s interpretation of the statutory duty to bargain 
during the term of an existing agreement . . . . Stated 
somewhat differently, while the Board’s interpretation 
of a collective-bargaining agreement may not be entitled 
to judicial deference, the Board’s interpretation of the 
Act and the duty to bargain is.  

350 NLRB at 814.

C. The Provena Standard

In summary, none of the MV Transportation Board’s 
reasons for abandoning the waiver standard withstands 
scrutiny.  In our view, moreover, the waiver standard bet-
ter promotes the purposes and policies of the Act.  The 
waiver standard simplifies the bargaining process by en-
couraging the parties to focus on matters of immediate im-
portance.  It also reduces litigation by assuring that the 
parties know the scope of their respective rights and obli-
gations.  As the Board explained in Provena, 

The waiver standard . . . effectively requires the parties 
to focus on particular subjects over which the employer 
seeks the right to act unilaterally. Such a narrow focus 
has two clear benefits. First, it encourages the parties to 

the precise question of how waivers of the statutory right to bargain in a 
collective-bargaining agreement must be phrased.  We see no reason to 
treat the duty to bargain under the Act as less important, or as warranting 
less protection from unintentional waiver, than the other statutory rights 
the Court considered in those cases.

76 368 NLRB No. 66, slip op. at 26.  We find then-Member McFer-
ran’s dissent persuasive, and our analysis reiterates many of its points.

77 Eliminating this impediment to successful collective bargaining is 
especially urgent in the case of first-contract negotiations.  As one de-
tailed study of 22,382 organizing drives that filed election petitions has 
shown, 34 percent of union election victories had not resulted in a first 

bargain only over subjects of importance at the time and 
to leave other subjects to future bargaining. Second, if a 
waiver is won—in clear and unmistakable language—
the employer’s right to take future unilateral action 
should be apparent to all concerned.

350 NLRB at 813.  Additionally, the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard properly balances the Act’s competing goals 
of encouraging collective bargaining and providing stability 
to collective-bargaining relationships by providing con-
sistency and a respite from change to both parties.  It protects 
employers, during the term of a collective-bargaining agree-
ment, from the disruption of continuous bargaining over 
terms and conditions “contained in” the agreement, while 
also protecting employees’ fundamental statutory right to 
bargain over mandatory subjects as to which no mutual un-
derstanding was reached.

In contrast, as described by then-Member McFerran in 
her MV Transportation dissent, the contract coverage 
standard

makes it easier for employers to unilaterally change em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment—wages, 
hours, benefits, job duties, safety practices, disciplinary 
rules, and more—in a manner that will frustrate the bar-
gaining process, inject uncertainty into labor-manage-
ment relationships, and ultimately increase the prospect 
for labor unrest . . . . 76  

Stated more succinctly, the contract coverage standard cre-
ates an escape hatch for employers to avoid their bargaining 
obligations during the term of a collective-bargaining agree-
ment without actually securing contract language that make 
it plain—including plain to the union and the employees it 
represents—that the employer has the authority to act unilat-
erally with respect to a particular term and condition of em-
ployment.  The contract coverage standard also exacerbates 
the difficulties associated with negotiating collective-bar-
gaining agreements by encouraging employers to insist on 
the broadest possible language, while unions necessarily feel 
constrained to insist on exacting specificity lest they be held 
to have bargained away their statutory rights.  By encourag-
ing employers to seek broad and ambiguous language, in-
stead of bargaining over unforeseen and unanticipated events 
as they arise and as their importance becomes apparent, a 
needless impediment is placed in the way of successful col-
lective bargaining.77  It is inevitable, moreover, that disputes 

contract after 2 or 3 years of bargaining.  John-Paul Ferguson, The Eyes 
of the Needles:  A Sequential Model of Union Organizing Drives, 1999-
2004, 62 Indus. & Lab. Rel. Rev. 5, 6 (2008).  Recent analysis by Bloom-
berg Law confirms that the trend toward lengthy first-contract bargaining 
has only worsened in the past several years.  In 2022, the mean number 
of days from an NLRB election to contract ratification was 465 days.  
See Robert Combs, ANALYSIS:  Now It Takes 465 Days to Sign a Un-
ion’s First Contract, BLOOMBERG LAW (Aug. 2, 2022), available at 
https://www.bloomberglaw.com/bloomberglawnews/bloomberg-law-
analysis/X9QO2RK4000000?bna_news_filter=bloomberg-law-
analysis#jcite.
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as to the meaning of ambiguous and broadly worded man-
agement-rights language will proliferate.

Finally, permitting employers to make discretionary 
unilateral changes, without a clear manifestation of the un-
ion’s agreement, destabilizes relations not only between 
labor and management, but also between a union and the 
employees it represents.  As the Supreme Court has ex-
plained, the “refusal of an employer to bargain collectively 
with the employees’ chosen representative disrupts the 
employees’ morale, defers their organizational activities 
and discourages their membership in unions.”  Franks 
Bros. Co. v. NLRB, 321 U.S. 702, 704 (1944).  This result 
is plainly contrary to the goals and policies of the Act.  We 
therefore overrule MV Transportation and return to the 
rule traditionally followed by the Board and endorsed by 
the Supreme Court: contractual waivers statutory rights, 
including the fundamental right of employees “to bargain 
collectively through representatives of their own choos-
ing,” which lies at the heart of the Act, will not be lightly 
inferred and must be “clear and unmistakable.”  Metropol-
itan Edison, 460 U.S. at 708; C & C Plywood, 385 U.S. at 
430; Provena, 350 NLRB at 812.

78 Members Prouty and Wilcox would adhere to the Board’s usual 
practice and apply the restored waiver standard retroactively ‘to all pend-
ing cases in whatever stage,’” SNE Enterprises, 344 NLRB 673, 673 
(2005) (quoting Deluxe Metal Furniture Co., 121 NLRB 995, 1006–
1007 (1958)), including those that arose while MV Transportation was 
in effect.  In their view, this will not work a “manifest injustice,” espe-
cially when balanced against “‘the mischief of producing a result which 
is contrary to a statutory design or to legal and equitable principles.’”  Id.
at 673 (quoting Securities & Exchange Commission v. Chenery Corp., 
332 U.S. 194, 203 (1947)).  To begin, because MV Transportation was 
decided just over 4 years ago, they find that the potential reliance of in-
terest of other employers on that decision is relatively weak.  Although 
an agency’s substitution of new law for old law that is reasonably clear 
may justify refraining from applying a rule retroactively to “‘protect the 
settled expectations of those who had relied on the preexisting rule,’” 
Epilepsy Foundation v. NLRB, 268 F.3d 1095, 1102 (D.C. Cir. 2001) 
(quoting Williams Natural Gas Co. v. FERC, 3 F.3d 1544, 1554 (D.C. 
Cir. 1993)), they find that MV Transportation upended settled law and 
departed from long-established, Supreme Court-endorsed principles.  As 
a result, they find that MV Transportation could not reasonably have sup-
ported any “settled expectations” requiring application of today’s hold-
ing prospectively only, which does not announce a new standard but in-
stead restores the Board’s traditional approach in this area of law.

Next, Members Prouty and Wilcox believe that today’s decision sup-
ports the Act’s fundamental policy favoring the practice and procedure 
of collective bargaining to avoid industrial strife, meaning that retroac-
tive application of the restored standard would advance the accomplish-
ment of the purposes of the Act.  Unlike the “contract coverage” stand-
ard, which grants employers broader discretionary control over employ-
ees’ terms and conditions of employment, the waiver standard better pro-
motes the practice of collective bargaining.  MV Transportation also 
frustrated the advancement of the longstanding and well-established pol-
icy disfavoring unilateral changes advanced by the Supreme Court in 
Katz, supra.  Given the Board’s recent decisions to apply its decisions in 
Wendt Corp., 372 NLRB No. 135 (2023), and Tecnocap LLC, 372 NLRB 
No. 136 (2023), retroactively, Members Prouty and Wilcox find it espe-
cially important to apply today’s decision retroactively to ensure the con-
sistent implementation of the policy disfavoring discretionary unilateral 
actions set forth in Katz.  

Accordingly, when balancing “any ill effects of retroactivity” against 
“‘the mischief of producing a result which is contrary to a statutory 

D. Retroactivity

We turn now to the question of whether to apply the 
standard we restore today retroactively (i.e., in all pending 
cases) or only prospectively (in future cases).  In MV 
Transportation, the Board overturned a 70-year-old doc-
trine that had been approved by the majority of Courts of 
Appeals and the Supreme Court, without a sound overrid-
ing reason.  For the reasons fully explained above, we con-
clude that the Board’s decision was error, and that the 
standard we restore today better advances the fundamental 
policies of the Act.  For the reasons explained below, we
find retroactive application in this case to be appropriate, 
but we do not decide whether to apply the new standard 
retroactively in all pending cases, leaving resolution of 
that question to future determination.78

“The Board’s usual practice is to apply new policies and 
standards retroactively ‘to all pending cases in whatever 
stage.’”  SNE Enterprises, 344 NLRB at 673 (quoting 
Deluxe Metal Furniture, 121 NLRB at 1006–1007).  The 
Supreme Court has indicated that “the propriety of retro-
active application is determined by balancing any ill ef-
fects of retroactivity against ‘the mischief of producing a 

design or to legal and equitable principles,’” SNE Enterprises, 344 
NLRB at 673, Members Prouty and Wilcox find that applying today’s 
holding retroactively in all pending cases would avoid the potential for 
inconsistency in pending cases, restore judicially approved standards to 
this area of law, diminish the risk of inconsistency in cases that also im-
plicate the Board’s recent decisions in Wendt and Tecnocap, more effi-
ciently restore clarity to this area of law, and more effectively advance 
the goal of “encouraging the practice and procedure of collective bar-
gaining” (consistent with the design of the statute).  As a result, they 
would find that application of our new standard in both this and other 
pending cases will not work a “manifest injustice.”  SNE Enterprises, id.
at 673. 

For all these reasons, and contrary to their colleague, Members Prouty 
and Wilcox believe that the issue of retroactivity of the restored waiver 
standard should be resolved uniformly for all pending and future cases.  
Our failure to do so here encourages instability in labor relations, unnec-
essarily promotes future litigation, and risks incentivizing exaggerated 
assertions of reliance as a legal stratagem.  

Chairman McFerran joins her colleagues in applying the waiver 
standard to the Respondent in this case, where the parties negotiated the 
collective-bargaining agreement at a time when the Board’s traditional 
waiver standard (to which the Board returns today) applied. She sees no 
need to decide at this time whether the waiver standard should apply ret-
roactively in all pending cases, regardless of their circumstances.  As 
Chairman McFerran stated in her dissent in MV Transportation, analyz-
ing whether retroactive application is manifestly unjust to particular par-
ties requires the consideration of whether in negotiating a collective-bar-
gaining agreement, those parties relied on the Board’s then-governing 
standard for determining the employer’s authority to act unilaterally.  368 
NLRB No. 66, slip op. at 37.  See generally Mastro Plastics, 350 U.S. at
279 (in deciding whether collective-bargaining agreement waived em-
ployees’ right to engage in unfair labor practice strike, agreement “must 
be read as a whole and in the light of the law relating to it when made”)
(emphasis added).  She believes that the Board should not lightly disturb
“the settled expectations of parties to existing collective-bargaining 
agreements.”  Provena, 350 NLRB at 813.  Accordingly, Chairman 
McFerran believes that in future cases, the Board should  be open to con-
sidering evidence that parties actually relied on MV Transportation in 
negotiating a collective-bargaining agreement, such that retroactive ap-
plication of the waiver standard would be manifestly unjust.
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result which is contrary to a statutory design or to legal 
and equitable principles.’”  Id. (quoting SEC v. Chenery 
Corp., 332 U.S. at 203).  Pursuant to this principle, the 
Board will apply a policy change retroactively unless ret-
roactive application would work a “manifest injustice.”  
Id.  In making that determination, the Board considers “the 
reliance of the parties on preexisting law, the effect of ret-
roactivity on accomplishment of the purposes of the Act, 
and any particular injustice arising from retroactive appli-
cation.”  Id. 

In balancing “any ill effects of retroactivity” against 
“‘the mischief of producing a result which is contrary to a 
statutory design or to legal and equitable principles,’” id., 
we find that retroactive application of this decision im-
poses no particular injustice on the Respondent.  We note 
that when the parties negotiated the collective-bargaining 
agreement at issue, the governing standard was the same 
standard we return to today—the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard.  Indeed, the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard was and remains the law in the Sixth Cir-
cuit, where the agreement was entered and ratified.79  The 
Respondent can thus claim no meaningful reliance on MV 
Transportation.

As for the effect of retroactivity on the accomplishment 
of the purposes of the Act, we have extensively addressed 
how today’s decision supports the Act’s fundamental pol-
icy favoring the practice and procedure of collective bar-
gaining to avoid industrial strife.  We have rejected the 
MV Transportation majority’s view that the “contract 

79 See Beverly Health & Rehabilitation Services v. NLRB, 297 F.3d at 
480; see also Heartland Plymouth Court MI, LLC v. NLRB, 838 F.3d at 
20 (recognizing that “the Sixth Circuit embraces the Board’s ‘clear and 
unmistakable’ standard”).

80 Contrary to our dissenting colleague, we do not hold that the Re-
spondent was obligated to provide the Union notice and an opportunity 
to bargain over its decision to install cameras in vehicles driven by its 
unrepresented employees.  Nothing in our decision affects the right of 
employers to unilaterally change the terms and conditions of employ-
ment of unrepresented employees.

We affirm the judge’s findings, for the reasons he states in his deci-
sion, that the complaint is not time-barred under Sec. 10(b) and that the 
Respondent failed to provide the Union with notice and a meaningful 
opportunity to bargain over the decision to install the cameras.

81 See, e.g., Anheuser-Busch, Inc., 342 NLRB 560, 560–561 (2004), 
enfd. in pertinent part sub nom. Brewers & Maltsters Local 6 v. NLRB, 
414 F.3d 36 (D.C. Cir. 2005); Nortech Waste, 336 NLRB 554, 568 
(2001); National Steel Corp., 335 NLRB 747, 747 (2001), enfd. 324 F.3d 
928 (7th Cir. 2003); Colgate-Palmolive Co., 323 NLRB 515, 515–516 
(1997).  In Colgate-Palmolive, the Board held that the installation and 
use of hidden surveillance cameras in the working environment is a man-
datory subject of bargaining because it “has the potential to affect the 
continued employment of employees whose actions are being moni-
tored.” Id. at 515–516.  On that basis, the Board analogized hidden cam-
eras to physical examinations, drug and alcohol testing, and polygraph 
testing, which had previously been found to be mandatory subjects of 
bargaining because they are “investigatory tools or methods used by an 
employer to ascertain whether any of its employees has engaged in mis-
conduct” and have “serious implications for . . . employees’ job secu-
rity[.]”  Id. at 515–516 & fns. 6–8 (citing, e.g., Johnson-Bateman Co., 
295 NLRB 180 (1989) (drug and alcohol testing) and Medicenter, Mid-
South Hospital, 221 NLRB 670 (1975) (polygraph testing)).  See also 

coverage” standard, which grants employers broader dis-
cretionary control over employees’ terms and conditions 
of employment, somehow better promotes the practice of 
collective bargaining.  We have also emphasized how MV 
Transportation frustrates the advancement of the 
longstanding and well-established policy disfavoring uni-
lateral changes advanced by the Supreme Court in Katz, 
supra.  In sum, we find that application of our new stand-
ard in this case will not work a “manifest injustice.”  SNE 
Enterprises, 344 NLRB at 673.

E. Application of the Restored Standard

1. Decisional bargaining

Applying the traditional clear and unmistakable waiver 
standard reinstated in our decision today, we find that the 
Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by 
failing to provide the Union notice and an opportunity to 
bargain over the decision to install cameras to monitor unit 
employees and by refusing the Union’s request for bar-
gaining over the decision and its effects.80  The Board has 
repeatedly affirmed that the use of cameras to observe em-
ployees at work is a mandatory subject of bargaining, es-
pecially where, as here, such observation may be used to 
discipline employees.81  Accordingly, the Respondent was 
required to bargain over the installation of the cameras un-
less the Union waived, contractually or otherwise, its right 
to bargain over the change.  We find no such waiver.

In evaluating whether there has been a clear and unmis-
takable waiver by contract, the Board looks to the precise 

Anheuser-Busch, 342 NLRB at 560–561; National Steel, 335 NLRB at 
747.  Although the cameras at issue in this case are not hidden, it is un-
disputed that they continually record unit employees in the working en-
vironment and that the recordings captured after a triggering event may 
be used as a basis for coaching and discipline.  As noted above, the Board 
has long held that the use of cameras as a basis for imposing discipline 
on employees is a mandatory subject of bargaining.  See Roemer Indus-
tries, 367 NLRB No. 133, slip op. at 8 (2019), enfd. 824 Fed.Appx. 396 
(6th Cir. 2020); National Steel, 335 NLRB at 747–748; Genesee Family 
Restaurant, 322 NLRB 219, 225 (1996).  Thus, like the cameras in Col-
gate-Palmolive, Anheuser-Busch, and National Steel, the camera system 
purchased by the Respondent can be used as an investigatory tool to as-
certain whether employees have engaged in misconduct, and it has “the 
potential to affect the continued employment of employees whose ac-
tions are being monitored.”  Colgate-Palmolive, 323 NLRB at 515.  See 
also Brewers & Maltsters, Local 6 v. NLRB, 414 F.3d at 43 (observing 
that the privacy implications of the use of hidden surveillance cameras 
in Colgate-Palmolive “was secondary to whether the surveillance oc-
curred in ‘the working environment’” and that, in any event, “the poten-
tial for constant monitoring in ‘the working environment,’ cannot be said 
to be free of privacy concerns”).

We note, moreover, that emails exchanged between the Respondent’s
Director of Safety Blackwell and its General Manager Steve Ruckert 
suggest that the Respondent recognized that the installation of cameras 
in vehicles driven by unit employees was a mandatory subject of bar-
gaining.  Thus, in an August 4, 2020 email to Ruckert, Blackwell asked, 
“Is there any kind of notification that we need to give the union to let 
them know we will be putting cameras in trucks at some point?”  Ruckert 
replied the same day, “Yes we will have to run this by all of our union 
divisions. . . . This was a very hot topic last go around for [the Respond-
ent’s competitors].”
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wording of the relevant contract provisions.  Manage-
ment-rights clauses that are couched in general terms and 
make no reference to any particular subject area will not 
be construed as waivers of the statutory right to bargain 
over a specific subject.  Provena, 350 NLRB at 815 fn. 34.  
The management-rights clause at issue in this case, which 
reserves to the Respondent the right to “implement 
changes in equipment,” does not refer in any way to video 
and audio monitoring or the surveillance of employees.  It 
also makes no specific reference to the use of video or au-
dio recordings as a basis for disciplining or coaching em-
ployees.82  Nor does the management-rights clause other-
wise confer unilateral authority on the employer to impose 
discipline on employees.83  Accordingly, we find that it 
lacks the degree of specificity required to constitute a clear 
and unmistakable waiver of the Union’s right to bargain 
over the installation and use of cameras to monitor and 
potentially discipline unit employees.  See, e.g., Johnson-
Bateman, 295 NLRB at 184 (holding management-rights 
clause granting employer the right to issue, enforce, and 
change company rules did not constitute a waiver of the 
union’s right to bargain about the implementation of drug 
and alcohol testing of current employees).

A waiver of bargaining rights may also be evidenced by 
bargaining history, but the evidence must show that the 
specific issue was “fully discussed and consciously ex-
plored” during negotiations and that “the union con-
sciously yielded or clearly and unmistakably waived its 
interest in the matter.”  E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 
368 NLRB No. 48, slip op. at 8 (2019) (citing American 
Diamond Tool, 306 NLRB 570, 570 (1992); Johnson-
Bateman, 295 NLRB at 185).  The Respondent has not 
pointed to anything in the bargaining history of the parties’ 
2018–2021 collective-bargaining agreement to show that 
the parties discussed the possibility that the Respondent 
would install cameras in vehicles driven by unit employ-
ees, that the Respondent would capture audio and video 
recordings of employees, or that the Respondent would 
use such recordings as a basis for disciplining employees.  
Indeed, there is nothing in the record to show that these 
subjects were mentioned, much less discussed, during the 
negotiations that preceded the parties’ agreement.  The 
Union thus could not have “consciously yielded or clearly 
and unmistakably waived its interest” in bargaining about 
these matters.  Relatedly, when the Union objected to the 
Respondent’s decision and demanded bargaining, the 

82 As discussed above, when the parties negotiated the 2018–2021 col-
lective-bargaining agreement, it was well settled that contractual waivers 
of the statutory right to bargain must be clear and unmistakable.  Metro-
politan Edison, supra; Provena, supra.  The clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard was and remains the law in the Sixth Circuit, where the 
agreement was entered and ratified.  Beverly Health & Rehabilitation 
Services, Inc. v. NLRB, 297 F.3d at 480.  The Respondent and the Union 
therefore presumably knew that unambiguous contractual language 
would be necessary to reserve for the Respondent a right of unilateral 
action with regard to an otherwise mandatory term and condition of em-
ployment, and the parties surely would have used more precise language 

Respondent did not assert that the contract authorized it to 
implement its decision without bargaining with the Union.  
Rather, the Respondent merely asserted that “no collective 
bargaining has been deemed necessary up to this point.”  
Thus, the Respondent’s contemporaneous communica-
tions with the Union do not lend support to the contention 
that the parties understood the collective-bargaining 
agreement to grant the Respondent a right of unilateral ac-
tion.  Finally, there is no evidence of a past practice that 
would warrant a finding that the parties understood that 
the Respondent had the unilateral right to monitor or sur-
veil unit employees.

Given the absence of clear contractual language and rel-
evant extrinsic evidence, the Respondent cannot meet its 
burden of proving that the contract authorized its unilat-
eral decision to use cameras to monitor or surveil unit em-
ployees with an eye toward potential future discipline.  We 
therefore find that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) 
and (1) of the Act by failing to provide the Union with 
notice and an opportunity to bargain over the decision and 
by failing and refusing to bargain with the Union on re-
quest. 

Our dissenting colleague mistakenly contends that the 
General Counsel failed to establish a violation, even under 
the clear and unmistakable waiver standard, because the 
Respondent had not actually installed the camera system 
in the vehicles driven by unit employees as of the hearing 
in this case—even though it had demonstrably decided to 
do so, without first bargaining with the Union. Because 
our colleague offers a markedly different account of the 
facts at issue in the case and their bearing on the disposi-
tion of the complaint allegations, we explain the timeline 
of events as they unfolded and their significance to the le-
gal issues before us below.  

The inquiry here, of course, is properly focused on the 
Respondent’s decision and the duty to bargain over it.  
Safety Manager Blackwell testified that by August 2020, 
the installation of the camera system was “a done deal
. . . , the decision had been made,” and “[t]he system was 

going live.” He attributed the fact that the cameras had 
not yet been installed in the vehicles driven by unit em-
ployees as of the hearing to a supply chain disruption 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, and not to the Un-
ion’s demand to bargain or to the unfair labor practice al-
legations.  Blackwell’s February 4, 2021 letter to the Un-
ion reinforces the conclusion that the Respondent’s 

if their intent was to grant the Respondent the right to monitor or surveil 
unit employees with video cameras, to capture audio and visual record-
ings, and to discipline employees based on the recordings.  Mastro Plas-
tics, 350 U.S. at 279 (collective-bargaining agreement “must be read as 
a whole and in the light of the law relating to it when made”).

83 Compare with United Technologies, 287 NLRB at 198, where the 
Board found that a union waived its right to bargain over matters affect-
ing employee discipline by agreeing to contract language granting the 
employer the “sole right and responsibility to direct the operations of the 
company,” including the “right to make and apply rules and regulations 
for productions, discipline, efficiency, and safety.”
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decision to install cameras in unit employees’ vehicles 
was final.  Blackwell confirmed that the Respondent was 
“implementing cameras in 100 percent of [its] fleet,” and 
the Respondent never rescinded or retracted that deci-
sion.84

The Respondent also took several concrete steps toward 
implementing its decision.  As discussed above, in August 
2020, the Respondent purchased the cameras, announced
“companywide” that it was installing the cameras in its 
entire fleet, and informed regional managers that it would 
be contacting them for “installation planning” in the 
“coming weeks.”  Then, in January 2021, the Respond-
ent’s regional managers visited the Respondent’s facilities 
to inform employees that it “had begun the process of in-
stalling” the cameras and to answer any questions the em-
ployees had.  Indeed, as the Respondent’s Safety Manager 
Blackwell testified, the delay in installing the cameras was 
caused by circumstances beyond the Respondent’s control 
(the supply chain disruption caused by the pandemic).  
Record evidence therefore suggests that, but for those cir-
cumstances, the Respondent would have installed the 
cameras long before the Union learned of the Respond-
ent’s decision.  Although the Respondent was forced to 
delay the final step in the implementation of its decision, 
the damage to the bargaining relationship was accom-
plished simply by the message to the employees that the 
Respondent was taking it on itself to set an important term 
and condition of employment, thereby emphasizing that 
there is no necessity for a collective-bargaining agent.85  In 
these circumstances, the Union was under no obligation to 
await further developments before filing its charge.86

Moreover, as discussed above, the use of cameras to ob-
serve employees at work is a mandatory subject of bar-
gaining.87  The Respondent was therefore obligated to bar-
gain with the Union on request over that subject—regard-
less of whether the Respondent ultimately installed the 
cameras.88  Here, the evidence shows that the Union de-
manded decisional and effects bargaining on January 12, 
2021, and again on March 1, 2021, and there is no evi-
dence that the Respondent agreed to bargain before the 

84 Indeed, unlike our dissenting colleague, who effectively argues that 
the Union’s March 3, 2021 unfair labor practice charge was premature, 
the Respondent took the position in its answer to the amended complaint 
that the Union’s charge was untimely under Sec. 10(b) of the Act because 
“[t]he Respondent notified the Char[g]ing Party on August 10, 2020, of 
its intention to install the Lytx systems in all trucks operated by the bar-
gaining unit members” and “[t]he Charging Party did not file a Charge 
challenging the Respondent’s decision to install the Lytx systems until 
March 3, 2021, more than 180 days after being on notice[.]”  As noted 
above, we agree with the judge’s finding that the complaint allegation 
was not time-barred by Sec. 10(b).

85 See Troy Grove, 372 NLRB No. 94, slip op. at 6 (2023) (collecting 
cases).

86 As mentioned above, far from arguing that its decision was insuffi-
ciently final or concrete by the time the Union filed its charge, the Re-
spondent instead contended that the Union’s filing of the charge was al-
ready untimely by March 2021 because the August 2020 announcement 
should have put the Union on notice of the decision to install the Lytx 
system.

parties began negotiations for a successor collective-bar-
gaining agreement on September 16, 2021.

Contrary to our dissenting colleague, we find no merit 
in the Respondent’s defense that the Union waived the 
right to bargain by failing to request it after the Respond-
ent offered to “discuss” its decision.  An employer cannot 
satisfy its statutory duty to bargain by expressing a will-
ingness to “discuss” a mandatory subject while at the same 
time maintaining that it has no duty to bargain.  That is 
precisely what occurred here.  The Respondent, without 
giving the Union advance notice or an opportunity to bar-
gain, announced to unit employees that it was in the pro-
cess of installing cameras in company-owned vehicles.  
The Union objected to the unilateral change, requested 
bargaining, and demanded that the Respondent cease any 
steps it had taken toward implementation.  The Union also 
requested certain information “[i]n order to evaluate the 
issue and to prepare to bargain on it.” Instead of offering 
to bargain, the Respondent informed the Union that “no 
collective bargaining has been deemed necessary,” while 
confirming that it was irrevocably committed to following 
its declared intention (“we are implementing cameras in 
100 percent of our fleet”).  Although Blackwell subse-
quently expressed a willingness to “discuss” the matter in 
his March 1 letter to the Union, he simultaneously con-
tested the Union’s assertion that the installation of the 
cameras was a mandatory subject of bargaining and ad-
vised the Union that “bargaining at the expense of safety 
cannot be a starting point.”  Moreover, the Respondent
never rescinded or retracted its previously announced de-
cision to install the cameras in unit employees’ vehicles or 
responded to the Union’s demand to cease implementation 
of the decision.  The Respondent also unlawfully failed to 
fully respond to the Union’s request for information that 
was both relevant and necessary for the Union to engage 
in decisional and effects bargaining.  In these circum-
stances, the Union was fully justified in believing that fur-
ther requests to bargain would have been futile.89

Finally, the evidence does not support the Respondent’s 
and our dissenting colleague’s assertion that the 

Our colleague extensively details his view that he can permissibly rely 
on a position not taken by the Respondent in his dissent.  For the reasons 
expressed in Quickway Transportation, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 127, slip 
op. at 18 (2023), enfd. 117 F.4th 789 (6th Cir. 2024), we respectfully 
disagree with our colleague’s view of the Board’s Rules and Regulations 
on this point.  In any event, we see no record basis for looking behind the 
Respondent’s representations regarding the finality of its decision and 
reject our colleague’s speculative version of the relevant events.  

87 See cases cited at fn. 81, supra.
88 Our dissenting colleague’s suggestion that the Act imposes no duty 

on an employer to bargain unless and until it implements changes in unit 
employees’ terms and conditions of employment is contrary to the statute 
and well-established Board and court precedent.  See, e.g., NLRB v. Ja-
cobs Mfg., 196 F.2d at 684 (holding that Sec. 8(d) does not relieve an 
employer of the duty to bargain during the term of an existing contract 
“as to subjects which were neither discussed nor embodied in any of the 
terms and conditions of the contract”).  

89 Accordingly, any suggestion by our colleague that the initial refusal 
to bargain was somehow mooted by later events is unavailing.
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Respondent fulfilled its duty to bargain during negotia-
tions for a successor collective-bargaining agreement.  As 
discussed above, the parties’ collective-bargaining agree-
ment expired by its terms on September 26, 2021.  The 
parties stipulated that “[o]n September 16, 2021, when the 
parties commenced successor bargaining, the Union pro-
posed a Memorandum of Understanding addressing the 
topic of the . . . Lytx [camera] system,” and the Respondent 
introduced into evidence a “tentative agreement” on the 
Memorandum of Understanding.  As an initial matter, we 
note that the tentative agreement is dated November 9, 
2021, a mere 8 days before the hearing in this case.  More-
over, the tentative agreement only addresses the permissi-
ble uses of the camera and audio recordings.  It does not 
purport to cover the decision to install the cameras.  Thus, 
the first sentence of the agreement provides that the Re-
spondent “has stated its intention to install cameras in its 
trucks driven by Local 100-represented drivers.”  The ten-
tative agreement is therefore consistent with Blackwell’s 
testimony that the decision to install the cameras had al-
ready been made and was “a done deal” before the nego-
tiations for a successor agreement began.

Even assuming, however, that the evidence established 
that the parties bargained in good faith over the decision to 
install the cameras during the negotiations for a successor 
agreement, we would find, in agreement with the judge, 
that such bargaining is not relevant to the refusal-to-bar-
gain allegations in this case or to the appropriate remedy 
for the violations found.  In determining whether the Act 
has been violated, the Board considers circumstances as 
they existed at the time of the alleged violation.90  Thus, 
any bargaining that took place in the context of the 

90 ADT, LLC d/b/a ADT Security Services, 371 NLRB No. 110, slip 
op. at 1 (2022) (citing Bellkey Maintenance Co., 270 NLRB 1049, 1056 
(1984) (holding that cessation of violative actions does not make a case 
moot)).

91 Windsor Redding Care Center, LLC, 366 NLRB No. 127, slip op. 
at 4 (2018) (citing Mid-Wilshire Health Care Center, 337 NLRB 72, 73 
(2001)), enfd. in relevant part 944 F.3d 294 (D.C. Cir. 2019), cert. denied 
2020 WL 13120614 (2020).  Our colleague attempts to distinguish Wind-
sor Redding and Mid-Wilshire on the basis that the employers in those 
cases “actually implemented disputed unilateral changes before rescind-
ing them and engaging in bargaining.”  We are not persuaded.  In Mid-
Wilshire, the Board explained that the “violation was not rendered moot 
because the Respondent, having previously ignored its bargaining obli-
gation, subsequently discussed the matter with the Union[.]”  332 NLRB 
at 73 (emphasis in original).  Inasmuch as our colleague views the sub-
sequent bargaining between the parties in this case as rendering the Re-
spondent’s earlier refusal to bargain moot, we cannot agree.

92 We reject our dissenting colleague’s argument that the Respondent 
“reasonably assumed that . . . it did not have any affirmative duty to bar-
gain over the implementation” of its decision based on the Regional Di-
rector’s April 29, 2021 partial dismissal of the Union’s unfair labor prac-
tice charge, and that the Respondent timely bargained after the General 
Counsel’s office ordered the Regional Director to issue a complaint on 
the unilateral implementation and failure to bargain portions of the 
charge on August 6, 2021.  First, the Respondent decided to install the 
cameras in August 2020, and it took several concrete steps to implement 
the decision, including notifying unit employees in January 2021 that it 
had begun the process of installing the cameras, without providing the 
Union with notice or the opportunity to bargain.  Second, the Union 

negotiations for a successor collective-bargaining agree-
ment does not negate the Respondent’s failure to bargain 
with the Union on request 8 months earlier.91  Our dissent-
ing colleague’s argument to the contrary elides the chro-
nology of events in this case.92  Our colleague also con-
flates two distinct obligations: (1) the obligation to bargain 
on request during the term of an existing contract regard-
ing discrete mandatory subjects that are not “contained in” 
the contract; and (2) the obligation to bargain in good faith 
for a successor collective-bargaining agreement as a 
whole.  As discussed above, Blackwell testified that the 
Respondent had determined that the management-rights 
provision in the parties’ expiring agreement privileged it 
to install the cameras without bargaining with the Union.  
It is well established, however, that contractual rights of 
unilateral action do not extend beyond the contract’s expi-
ration date absent an explicit agreement to do so.93 The 
provision in question in this case, Article III of the expired 
agreement, does not specify, either implicitly or explicitly, 
that it would survive the agreement’s expiration.  The Re-
spondent was therefore obligated to bargain on request 
over the installation of the cameras during the negotiations 
for a successor agreement, even assuming, arguendo, that 
it had a right to act unilaterally during the term of the ex-
pired agreement.  Accordingly, the Respondent’s subse-
quent bargaining has no bearing on the relevant question 
in this case:  whether it satisfied its duty to bargain with 
the Union under the predecessor agreement.

2. Effects bargaining

Given our finding that the Respondent unlawfully failed 
to bargain over its decision to install cameras in vehicles 

demanded bargaining on January 12, 2021, 10 weeks before the Regional 
Director partially dismissed the charge.  Third, the General Counsel’s 
office informed the parties on June 11, 2021, that it had received the Un-
ion’s appeal of the Regional Director’s decision, and the Respondent was 
therefore on notice that the decision was not final and was under review.  
It is well settled that an unfair labor practice charge remains a proper 
basis for further proceedings if a party timely appeals a Regional Direc-
tor’s dismissal.  See, e.g., Klain, Sam & Sons, 127 NLRB 776, 778 (1960) 
(“[T]he original charge was not voided by the Regional Director’s initial 
refusal to issue a complaint.  The Union effectively preserved its original 
charge by appealing from the Regional Director’s decision to the General 
Counsel, and this charge remained as the proper basis for further pro-
ceeding when the Regional Director thereafter rescinded his refusal and 
proceeded to issue complaint.”).  Finally, our colleague cites no evidence
that the Respondent actually relied on the Regional Director’s decision 
in determining that it had no duty to bargain with the Union.  Blackwell 
testified, rather, that the Respondent determined that it had no duty to 
bargain based on the management-rights clause in the parties’ collective-
bargaining agreement, and the Respondent has maintained that position 
throughout the litigation of this case.  

93 Nexstar Broadcasting, Inc. d/b/a KOIN-TV, 369 NLRB No. 61, slip 
op. at 2–3 (2020) (holding that “provisions in an expired collective-bar-
gaining agreement do not cover post-expiration unilateral changes unless 
the agreement contained language explicitly providing that the relevant 
provision would survive contract expiration”), enfd. 4 F.4th 801 (9th Cir.
2021); see also Buck Creek Coal, 310 NLRB 1240, 1240 fn. 1 (1993)
(“[W]e note that a waiver of bargaining rights contained in a contractual
management-rights provision normally is limited to the time during
which the contract that contains it is in effect.”).
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driven by unit employees, it is unnecessary to pass on 
whether the Respondent unlawfully failed to bargain over 
the effects of the decision on unit employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment.  See, e.g., Northstar Memorial 
Group, LLC d/b/a Skylawn Funeral Home, Crematory & 
Memorial Park, 369 NLRB No. 145, slip op. at 2 fn. 7 
(2020); Grondorf, Field, Black & Co., 318 NLRB 996,
997 (1995), enfd. in part 107 F.3d 882 (D.C. Cir. 1997).  
However, even assuming, arguendo, that the Union con-
tractually waived the right to bargain over the installation 
of the cameras or that the Respondent’s decision to install 
the cameras was covered by the parties’ contract, we 
would find that the Respondent was obligated to bargain 
over the effects of that decision.94

As Supreme Court, judicial, and Board precedent have 
long recognized, an employer has a statutory duty to bar-
gain over the effects of a decision on employees even if it 
is not subject to an obligation to bargain over the decision 
itself.  See First National Maintenance, 452 U.S. at 679–
682; NLRB v. Litton Financial Printing Division, 893 F.2d 
1128, 1133–1134 (9th Cir. 1990), revd. in part on other 
grounds 501 U.S. 190 (1991); NLRB v. Challenge-Cook 
Bros. of Ohio, Inc., 843 F.2d 230, 233 (6th Cir. 1988); La-
dies Garment Workers Union v. NLRB, 463 F.2d 907, 917 
(D.C. Cir. 1972); KIRO, Inc., 317 NLRB 1325, 1327 
(1995).  

As the Board has explained, in most such situations, al-
ternatives involving the effects of the employer’s underly-
ing decision may exist that the employer and union can 
explore to avoid or reduce the impact of the change with-
out calling the decision itself into question.  Good Samar-
itan Hospital, 335 NLRB 901, 903–904 (2001); Fresno 
Bee, 339 NLRB 1214 (2003); Bridon Cordage, 329 NLRB 
258, 259 (1999).  To ensure that effects bargaining serves 
its intended role, the Supreme Court has instructed that 
“bargaining over the effects of a decision must be con-
ducted in a meaningful manner and at a meaningful time.”  
First National Maintenance, 452 U.S. at 681–682.  An 
employer is generally under a “duty to give pre-implemen-
tation notice to the union” to facilitate meaningful effects 
bargaining.  Metropolitan Teletronics, 279 NLRB 957, 
959 fn. 14 (1986), enfd. mem. 819 F.2d 1130 (2d Cir. 
1987).  

The Board has traditionally applied the clear and unmis-
takable waiver standard in cases involving alleged viola-
tions of the duty to engage in bargaining over the effects 
of a decision, even when the employer is not obligated to 
bargain over the decision itself.  See, e.g., Good Samaritan 
Hospital, 335 NLRB at 902; Allison Corp., 330 NLRB at 
1365-1366.  The Board has reasoned, “[w]hile a contract 

94 Our dissenting colleague does not address this issue.
95 We note that neither the District of Columbia Circuit nor the Sev-

enth Circuit has ever found that a collective-bargaining agreement cov-
ered the decision to unilaterally implement a particular change based on 
the agreement’s silence with respect to the disputed issue.  See, e.g., Re-
gal Cinemas, Inc. v. NLRB, 317 F.3d 300, 313 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (contract 

clause may constitute a waiver of a bargaining right, it 
does not automatically follow that the same contract 
clause waives a party’s right to bargain over the effects of 
the matter in issue.”  Id. at 1365.  MV Transportation did 
not extend the “contract coverage” standard to the effects-
bargaining context or otherwise disturb extant Board prec-
edent applying the clear and unmistakable waiver standard 
to alleged effects-bargaining violations.

In a number of cases, the District of Columbia Circuit 
and the Seventh Circuit have expressed their disagreement 
with the Board’s application of the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard when analyzing alleged effects-bargain-
ing violations.  Instead, these courts have held that if an 
employer has no decisional-bargaining obligation pursu-
ant to the contract coverage standard, it has no duty to bar-
gain over the effects of that decision unless the collective-
bargaining agreement or the parties’ bargaining history 
evinces the parties’ intention to treat effects bargaining 
separately from decisional bargaining.  See, e.g., Colum-
bia College Chicago v. NLRB, 847 F.3d 547 (7th Cir. 
2017); Enloe Medical Center, 433 F.3d at 838–839; Chi-
cago Tribune Co., 974 F.2d at 937.  The District of Co-
lumbia Circuit has reasoned that where “the parties to the 
collective bargaining agreement . . . never contemplated a 
dichotomy between the management rights granted [the 
employer] and the effects of those rights,” the employer’s 
refusal to engage in effects bargaining was also “sanc-
tioned by its collective bargaining agreement.”  Enloe 
Medical Center, 433 F.3d at 839.  The Seventh Circuit has 
taken the view that where an employer’s unilateral action 
is covered by the contract, the parties have thereby “bar-
gained over their respective rights and duties” and are “not 
under any further obligation to bargain . . . over the ef-
fects” of a decision unless they “indicate[d] separate treat-
ment of effects bargaining and decision bargaining.”  Co-
lumbia College Chicago, 847 F.3d at 554.

Even if we were to adhere to the contract coverage 
standard adopted in MV Transportation, we would not fol-
low the approach of the Circuits that have held that when 
a contract authorizes the employer to make a managerial 
decision unilaterally, it necessarily authorizes the em-
ployer to act unilaterally with respect to the effects of that 
decision on employees’ terms and conditions of employ-
ment.  This approach collapses the well-established statu-
tory distinction between decisional bargaining and effects 
bargaining, which represent independent obligations on 
the part of the employer.  To be sure, a contract could grant 
the employer authority to act unilaterally as to effects, but 
language actually specifying that authority is required.95  
It may not be presumed simply because the contract gives 

did not cover elimination of projectionist jobs where “[the employer’s] 
actions here are not embraced by the literal language of the management 
rights clause”).  After all, the contract coverage doctrine is premised on 
the idea that the parties have “negotiat[ed] for a provision in a collective 
bargaining contract that fixes the parties’ rights . . . as to that subject.” 
Postal Service, 8 F.3d at 836.  It would be inconsistent with that premise 
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up the union’s right to demand decisional bargaining.  
Such a presumption is contrary to the Board’s long expe-
rience with the practice and procedure of collective bar-
gaining, to which the Supreme Court has deferred.96  That 
experience shows that when employers and unions bar-
gain over management-rights clauses, their focus is almost 
invariably on employer decision-making authority, not the 
separate issue of effects bargaining.  Based on our experi-
ence, we believe it is highly implausible that unions that 
surrender their right to demand decisional bargaining al-
ways intend to give up their right to demand effects bar-
gaining as well, ceding additional and undefined authority 
to the employer.  And we believe that it is equally implau-
sible that the bargaining parties would fail to address such 
an important concession explicitly in the agreement.    

There is certainly no persuasive basis for presuming that 
the parties intended that an agreement to permit unilateral 
action with respect to a particular decision includes an 
agreement to forego bargaining over the decision’s ef-
fects.  No evidence of “industrial practices” supports that 
presumption.  Fibreboard Paper Products Corp. v NLRB,
379 U.S. at 211 (“[I]t is appropriate to look to industrial 
bargaining practices in appraising the propriety of includ-
ing a particular subject within the scope of mandatory bar-
gaining.”).  To the contrary, unions and employers regu-
larly bargain over the effects of nonbargainable decisions.  
As the Supreme Court has recognized, effects bargaining 
is mandated by Section 8(a)(5) of the Act and serves im-
portant purposes especially in those circumstances.  First 
National Maintenance, 452 U.S. at 681–682.  Among 
other considerations, the parties cannot reasonably foresee 
the effects of implementing a particular decision until the 
specifics of the decision are known.  Because effects bar-
gaining over nonbargainable decisions is clearly part of 
the fabric of labor-management relations in this country, 
we believe that the proper inference to draw from contrac-
tual silence is that the parties did not agree to forego it.  
Any suggestion that the policies of the Act would be 
served by presuming otherwise would be in direct conflict 
with the Supreme Court’s decision in First National 
Maintenance.  

For all the foregoing reasons, we decline to treat the ab-
sence of a decisional bargaining obligation as determina-
tive of whether there is an independent effects-bargaining 

to find that a collective-bargaining agreement covers the subject of ef-
fects bargaining when no such provision exists.

96 In C & C Plywood, for example, the Court endorsed the Board’s 
conclusion that the contract language at issue did not grant the employer 
the authority to act unilaterally, explaining, “[i]n reaching this conclu-
sion, the Board relied upon its experience with labor relations and the 
Act’s clear emphasis upon the protection of free of collective bargaining.  
We cannot disapprove of the Board’s approach.”  385 U.S. at 430.  The 
C & C Plywood Board, rejecting the employer’s argument that the union 
had agreed to give it broad authority to alter wage rates, had observed 
that “[s]uch an intent is so contrary to labor relations experience that it 
should not be inferred unless the language of the contract or the history 
of negotiations clearly demonstrates this to be a fact.”  148 NLRB at 417.

obligation, especially when a contract contains no indica-
tion that the parties so intended.  As discussed above, we 
are guided by Supreme Court precedent requiring a 
stronger showing before finding a waiver of statutory 
rights.97  We see no reason to apply a less exacting stand-
ard to a putative waiver of the right to engage in effects 
bargaining than the right to bargain over a decision itself.  
Instead, in recognition of the separate status and purpose 
of bargaining over a decision and its effects, we will apply 
our traditional clear and unmistakable waiver standard 
when analyzing an employer’s contractual defense to an 
alleged violation involving either kind of bargaining obli-
gation.

F. Response to the Dissent

Our dissenting colleague challenges both our decision 
to overrule MV Transportation and our related decision to 
return to the clear and unmistakable waiver standard.  We 
have carefully considered our colleague’s arguments—
several have already been addressed—but we are not per-
suaded by them.

1.

As a threshold matter, our colleague mistakenly con-
tends that our decision to overrule MV Transportation and 
return to the clear and unmistakable waiver standard is 
nonbinding, nonprecedential dicta.  Specifically, our col-
league contends that there is no evidence that the Re-
spondent unilaterally implemented a change in unit em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment, and there-
fore the question of whether or not the contract would 
have privileged the Respondent’s conduct if it had imple-
mented a unilateral change has no bearing on the outcome 
of this case.

We respectfully disagree.98  Our colleague’s argument 
reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the issues pre-
sented in this case, as litigated by the parties and decided 
by the judge.  As relevant here, the complaint alleges two 
discrete violations of Section 8(a)(5) and (1).  First, the 
complaint alleges that the Union was “put on notice” that 
the Respondent had implemented the Lytx Driver Safety 
System, and that the Respondent engaged in this conduct 
without affording the Union an opportunity to bargain 
with respect to the conduct and the effects of the conduct.  
Second, the complaint alleges that the Union requested 

97 See, e.g., 14 Penn Plaza LLC, 556 U.S. at 258, 274; Wright v. Uni-
versal Maritime Service Corp., 525 U.S. at 79–80, 82; Livadas v. Brad-
shaw, 512 U.S. at 125; Norge Division of Magic Chef, Inc., 486 U.S. at 
409 fn. 9; Mastro Plastics, 350 U.S. at 283, 287. 

98 We have already refuted our colleague’s argument that there can be 
no violation here because the Respondent did bargain over the installa-
tion of the cameras during the negotiations for a successor collective-
bargaining agreement.  The record does not support the assertion that the 
parties bargained over the installation of the cameras (as opposed to their 
permissible uses), and even assuming, arguendo, that it did, that evidence 
would not negate the Respondent’s failure to bargain with the Union on 
request 8 months earlier (or the Respondent’s view that the management-
rights provision in the parties’ predecessor agreement foreclosed any 
duty to bargain). 
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that the Respondent bargain over the installation of the 
Lytx System in vehicles driven by unit employees and, 
since about February 4, 2021, the Respondent has failed 
and refused to bargain collectively with the Union over 
that subject.

The Respondent did not argue at any point during the 
litigation of this case that the complaint allegations should 
be dismissed because it did not implement a unilateral 
change in terms and conditions of employment.99  Rather, 
as discussed above, the Respondent’s Safety Manager 
Blackwell testified that the installation of the camera sys-
tem was, from the Respondent’s prospective, a “done deal 
. . . , the decision had been made,” months before the Un-
ion requested bargaining.  Blackwell also testified that the 
Respondent determined that it had no duty to provide the 
Union with notice and opportunity to bargain over the de-
cision to install the cameras based on the language of the 
management-rights clause in the parties’ collective-bar-
gaining agreement.  The Respondent has steadfastly main-
tained that position throughout the litigation of this case.  
In its answer to the complaint, the Respondent asserted, as 
an affirmative defense, that it “had no duty to bargain con-
cerning the Lytx systems based on the scope of the man-
agement-rights clause in the parties’ collective-bargaining 
agreement pursuant to the Board’s holding in MV Trans-
portation.”  In its opening statement at the hearing, coun-
sel for the Respondent similarly argued

[B]ased on the management rights clause in Article 3 in 
the party’s collective-bargaining agreement . . . the com-
pany acted lawfully . . . in proceeding with the plan to 
install the Lytx systems in its trucks operated by [Union] 
members.  The contract language covers the challenged 
action.  And the collective-bargaining agreement author-
ized the company to proceed with the Lytx equipment 
unilaterally. 

Additionally, in its answering brief to the General 
Counsel’s exceptions to the judge’s decision, the Re-
spondent argued that “[b]ased on the plain language of the 
management rights clause granting [the Respondent] the 
authority to ‘implement changes in equipment’ unilater-
ally, [the Respondent] determined that it was not obligated 
to bargain with [the Union] over the decision to install the 
Lytx System.”

In turn, applying the contract coverage standard adopted 
by the Board in MV Transportation, the judge found, in 
agreement with the Respondent, that its decision to install 
the camera system was “within the compass or scope” of 
contract language granting the Respondent the right to 
“implement changes in equipment,” and the Respondent 
was therefore not required to bargain further with the Un-
ion, either as to the decision to install the surveillance 

99 Even if that argument were properly before us, we would reject it 
for the reasons discussed above.

cameras or as to the effects of the decision on unit employ-
ees.

Finally, the General Counsel has requested, in her Brief 
in Support of Exceptions, that the Board overrule MV 
Transportation and reinstate the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard.  Accordingly, the question of whether the 
Board should overrule MV Transportation and return to 
the clear and unmistakable waiver standard to evaluate an 
employer’s affirmative defense that a union contractually 
surrendered the statutory right “to bargain collectively” 
with respect to wages, hours, or other terms and conditions
of employment is squarely presented in this case.  We 
therefore reject the dissent’s claim that our decision today 
is somehow nonprecedential.

2.

Turning to the merits, our dissenting colleague’s reli-
ance on M & G Polymers USA, LLC v. Tackett, 574 U.S. 
427 (2015), is similarly unavailing.  M & G Polymers did 
not address the scope of the statutory duty to bargain under 
the Act.  Nor did it arise out of unfair labor practice pro-
ceedings or otherwise implicate the Board’s authority to 
remedy alleged violations of the Act.100  As a threshold 
matter, then, M & G Polymers does not squarely speak to 
the issue presented in this case, which is the standard to be 
applied when evaluating an employer’s affirmative de-
fense that employees have contractually surrendered the 
statutory right to bargain.

To the extent that M & G Polymers properly guides the 
Board here, it fully supports application of the clear and 
unmistakable waiver standard, consistent with the pro-
bargaining policy of the Act.  The M & G Polymers Court 
stated that it would “interpret collective-bargaining agree-
ments . . . according to ordinary principles of contract law, 
at least when those principles are not inconsistent with 
federal labor policy.”  Id. at 435 (internal quotation marks 
and citations omitted; emphasis added).  Federal labor pol-
icy was not implicated in the case.  Rather, the Court found 
that it was appropriate to apply ordinary principles of con-
tract law to interpret language in a collective-bargaining 
agreement to ascertain whether the parties thereby in-
tended to provide retirees with lifetime medical benefits.  
Id. at 430.  This case, in contrast, does implicate federal 
labor policy—and the issue of whether a core right under 
the National Labor Relations Act has been waived.  Thus, 
ordinary principles of contract law are not the only con-
sideration here.  As the C & C Plywood Court observed, 
“the law of labor agreements cannot be based upon ab-
stract definitions unrelated to the context in which the par-
ties bargained and the basic regulatory scheme underlying 
the context.”  385 U.S. at 430.  Unlike our dissenting col-
league, we are of the view that the Board’s duty to enforce 
the statutory duty to bargain requires an examination of 

100 M & G Polymers arose out of an action under Sec. 301 of the Act, 
29 U.S.C. § 185, and Sec. 502(a)(1)(B) of the Employee Retirement In-
come Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), id. § 1132(a)(1)(B).  Id. at 432.  
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the parties’ intent within “the context in which the parties 
bargained” and in view of “the basic regulatory scheme 
underlying” that context. Id.  The waiver standard better 
ensures that the Board’s analysis takes this relevant con-
text into consideration.

Our colleague also invokes M & G Polymers to support 
his argument that the clear and unmistakable waiver stand-
ard “represents an irrebuttable presumption that a contract 
provision does not authorize unilateral action unless it 
does so with exacting specificity.”  In M & G Polymers, 
the Court rejected the Sixth Circuit’s Yard-Man infer-
ence,101 under which courts presumed that parties provid-
ing retiree benefits in collective-bargaining agreements 
thereby intended the benefits to vest for life.  574 U.S. at 
438–439.  The Court criticized the Yard-Man inference for 
having “no basis in ordinary principles of contract law” 
because “it distorts the attempt to ascertain the intention 
of the parties.”  Id. at 438 (internal quotation marks, cita-
tion, and emphasis omitted).  By contrast, the waiver 
standard, which examines particular contract language to 
ascertain the intention of the parties, does precisely what 
the Court in M & G Polymers contemplated.102  We there-
fore reject our colleague’s characterization of the waiver 
standard, which is neither a presumption nor irrebutta-
ble.103  

Next, our colleague invokes the principle that “courts, 
not the Board, have primary jurisdiction to interpret col-
lective-bargaining agreements,” citing the Supreme 
Court’s decision in Litton Financial Printing Division v. 
NLRB, 501 U.S. 190 (1991).  Our colleague again miscon-
ceives the relationship between the statutory and contrac-
tual issues presented in this case and others like it.  We do 
not claim that the Board has primary jurisdiction to inter-
pret contracts.  Instead, the Board has primary jurisdiction 
“to prevent any person from engaging in any unfair labor 
practice [listed in Section 8] affecting commerce.”  29 
U.S.C. § 160(a).  See Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB, 441 U.S. 
at 495 (“Congress assigned to the Board the primary task 
of construing [Sections 8(a)(5) and 8(d) of the Act] in the 
course of adjudicating charges of unfair refusals to bar-
gain.”).  And when the Board’s task of construing Sections 
8(a)(5) and 8(d) of the Act requires it to interpret contract 
language, C & C Plywood teaches that the Board is em-
powered to do so.  385 U.S. at 430. 

Finally, our colleague contends that the clear and un-
mistakable waiver standard represents an impermissible 
judgment that management-rights provisions are disfa-
vored.  As we have explained, nothing about the waiver 
standard disfavors management-rights provisions.  

101 See UAW v. Yard-Man, Inc., 716 F.2d 1476, 1479 (6th Cir. 1983).
102 Inasmuch as our colleague’s quarrel with the waiver standard is the 

“exacting specificity” he claims it requires rather than its status as a “pre-
sumption,” we respectfully disagree.  In our view, for the reasons set 
forth above, the Board’s obligation to enforce Sec. 8(a)(5) and 8(d) of 
the Act justifies examining whether parties have sufficiently expressed 
their intention to override the statutory duty to bargain.

Instead, the waiver standard requires parties seeking to 
displace the statutory duty to bargain to do so clearly and 
unmistakably, out of due regard for the Act’s policies fa-
voring collective bargaining and Supreme Court precedent 
addressing waivers of statutory rights.  The contract cov-
erage standard, by contrast, paid insufficient heed to these 
important countervailing considerations.  We therefore 
find it appropriate to return to the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard.

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Delete paragraphs 4 and 5 and substitute the following.
“4. The Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) 

by failing to provide the Union with notice and the oppor-
tunity to bargain over the Respondent’s decision to install 
cameras in vehicles driven by unit employees and the ef-
fects of the decision on unit employees, and by failing and 
refusing to bargain over those subjects on request by the 
Union.

5. The foregoing unfair labor practices affect commerce 
within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.”

AMENDED REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in cer-
tain unfair labor practices, we shall order it to cease and 
desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to 
effectuate the policies of the Act.  Specifically, having 
found that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) 
by failing to provide the Union with notice and the oppor-
tunity to bargain over the decision to install cameras in 
trucks driven by unit employees, we shall order the Re-
spondent to notify and, on request, bargain with the Union 
before implementing any further changes in the wages, 
hours, or other terms and conditions of employment of 
unit employees.  Additionally, having found that the Re-
spondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing and 
refusing to bargain with the Union on request concerning 
the decision to install cameras in trucks driven by unit em-
ployees and the effects of the decision on unit employees’ 
terms and conditions of employment, we shall order the 
Respondent to bargain, on request by the Union, over the 
decision and its effects.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the Re-
spondent, Endurance Environmental Solutions, LLC, 
Florence, Kentucky, its officers, agents, successors, and 
assigns, shall 

1. Cease and desist from
(a) Refusing to bargain collectively with Teamsters Lo-

cal No. 100, an affiliate of the International Brotherhood 

103 Instead, as explained repeatedly above, it is an affirmative defense 
proven by offering language evincing a clear and unmistakable intention 
to contractually surrender the statutory right to bargain.  We respectfully 
disagree with our colleague’s characterization of this distinction as “se-
mantic wordplay” and instead follow the view of reviewing courts that it 
is appropriate to impose heightened scrutiny to affirmative defenses.  See 
Local Joint Executive Bd. of Las Vegas v. NLRB, 540 F.3d at 1079.  
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of Teamsters, AFL–CIO (the Union), by failing and refus-
ing to furnish it with requested information that is relevant 
and necessary to the Union’s performance of its functions 
as the collective-bargaining representative of the Re-
spondent’s unit employees.

(b) Changing the terms and conditions of employment 
of its unit employees without first notifying the Union and 
giving it an opportunity to bargain. 

(c) Failing and refusing to bargain with the Union, on 
request, concerning the decision to install cameras in ve-
hicles driven by unit employees and the effects of the de-
cision on unit employees’ terms and conditions of employ-
ment.

(d) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to 
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Furnish to the Union in a timely manner the infor-
mation responsive to Request 4 in the January 12, 2021 
letter from Timothy Montgomery to Kevin Blackwell.

(b) Before implementing any changes in wages, hours, 
or other terms and conditions of employment of unit em-
ployees, notify and, on request, bargain with the Union as 
the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of em-
ployees in the following bargaining unit:

All employees including drivers, mechanics and loaders 
employed by the Employer at its Florence, Kentucky fa-
cility, excluding office clerical employees and all pro-
fessional employees, guards and supervisors as defined 
in the Act.

(c) On request by the Union, bargain concerning the 
decision to install cameras in vehicles driven by unit em-
ployees and the effects of the decision on unit employees’ 
terms and conditions of employment.

(d) Post at its Florence, Kentucky facility copies of the 
attached notice marked “Appendix.”104  Copies of the no-
tice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for Re-
gion 9, after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized 
representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and 
maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places, 
including all places where notices to employees are cus-
tomarily posted.  In addition to physical posting of paper 
notices, notices shall be distributed electronically, such as 

104 If the facility involved in these proceedings is open and staffed by 
a substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted within 
14 days after service by the Region.  If the facility involved in these pro-
ceedings is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employ-
ees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, the no-
tice must be posted within 14 days after the facility reopens and a sub-
stantial complement of employees have returned to work.  If, while 
closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to 
the pandemic, the Respondent is communicating with its employees by 
electronic means, the notice must also be posted by such electronic 
means within 14 days after service by the Region.  If the notice to be 
physically posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before 

by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or 
other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily 
communicates with its employees by such means.  Rea-
sonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure 
that the notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any 
other material.  If the Respondent has gone out of business 
or closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the 
Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a 
copy of the notice to all current employees and former em-
ployees employed by the Respondent at any time since 
January 12, 2021.

(e) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with 
the Regional Director for Region 9 a sworn certification 
of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region 
attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to com-
ply.

   Dated, Washington, D.C.  December 10, 2024

______________________________________
Lauren McFerran, Chairman

______________________________________
David M. Prouty, Member

______________________________________
Gwynne A. Wilcox, Member

(SEAL)            NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

MEMBER KAPLAN, dissenting.
Before us is the question whether the Respondent vio-

lated the Act as alleged by failing to provide the Union 
with notice and an opportunity to bargain prior to having 
“implemented the Lytx Security System Suite, which 
would include installing Lytx security cameras and other 
employee surveillance devices in trucks driven by the em-
ployees in the Unit” and by failing and refusing to bargain 
over “the installation of Lytx security cameras in the ve-
hicles driven by bargaining[-]unit employees.”1  An ad-
ministrative law judge dismissed the complaint, applying 
the “contract coverage standard” and finding that the 

physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at the bottom that 
“This notice is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically 
on [date].”  If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States 
court of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board.”

1 There are no exceptions to the judge’s finding that the Respondent 
violated Sec. 8(a)(5) by failing to provide some of the information that 
the Union requested on January 12, 2021.  Accordingly, I join the major-
ity in adopting that finding. 
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Respondent did not have any duty to bargain over the al-
leged conduct.2  In excepting to that decision, the General 
Counsel asked the Board to overrule Board precedent and 
replace the contract coverage standard with the “clear and 
unmistakable waiver” standard.

Taking the General Counsel up on her request, my col-
leagues have written at great length why they believe that 
the Board’s “clear and unmistakable” waiver standard 
must be reinstated.  There are many reasons, both legal 
and practical, why I disagree with this position.  The prob-
lem, however, is that the issue of whether the Respondent 
had a duty to bargain, under either standard, is not pres-
ently before us.  In the instant case, it does not matter 
whether or not the Respondent had a duty to bargain over 
the implementation of the Lytx Driver Safety Suite (Lytx 
security system or security system), including the installa-
tion of security cameras in the unit employees’ trucks, be-
cause the record establishes that—regardless of whether 
or not it was obligated to do so—the Respondent did bar-
gain with the Union prior to any implementation that af-
fected employees’ terms and conditions of employment.3  
Furthermore, although it is not critical to finding that the 
Respondent did in fact bargain with the Union, record ev-
idence establishes that the parties also reached a tentative 
agreement about these issues, memorialized in a Memo-
randum of Understanding (MOU).  Because the MOU was 
dated prior to any implementation of the Lytx security sys-
tem in the trucks driven by the bargaining nit employees—
and, in fact, the General Counsel failed to establish that 
any such implementation ever occurred—it is clear that 
the General Counsel cannot establish that the Respondent 
violated the Act as alleged. 

2 Although I will explain herein why the judge did not actually need 
to reach the contract coverage issue, I note that even if the Respondent 
had “implemented” the Lytx security cameras as alleged in the com-
plaint, I would find that the Respondent did not violate the Act because 
the parties’ contract permitted the Respondent to make that unilateral 
change. 

3 In fact, the Union stipulated on the record that when the parties be-
gan bargaining on September 16, 2021—a full week before the complaint 
in this matter issued—the Union presented the Respondent with a pro-
posed MOU addressing any future installation of the Lytx security sys-
tem in the unit employees’ trucks.  Union counsel further stated that 
“[t]he fact that the parties might have discussed [any future installation 
of the Lytx security system in the unit employees’ trucks] in bargaining 
. . . something like five weeks after the General Counsel directed the 
issuance of the complaint in this case [on August 5] is just not relevant . 
. . so all the bargaining that went on in September and October and into 
November of 2021 is just not relevant.”  (Tr. 87-88.)  In fact, at no point 
did any party assert, or the judge find, that the Respondent had not bar-
gained with the Union about these issues beginning on September 16.  
Rather the General Counsel and the Union, as well as the judge, took the 
position that such evidence was irrelevant.   

4 All dates herein after will refer to 2021, unless otherwise noted.  
5 As will be explained infra, the Respondent did not have a duty to 

bargain over the purchase and implementation of the Lytx security sys-
tem in non-represented employees’ trucks, nor did the Respondent “ex-
plicitly reject” the Union’s requests to bargain. 

6 Of course, if the region’s initial conclusion with regard to the facts 
in this case is correct—that the Respondent had not refused to bargain at 
the time that the charge was filed but rather it was the Union that had 

So why have my colleagues written a lengthy decision 
addressing the merits of the “contract coverage” doctrine 
versus the “clear and unmistakable waiver” doctrine?  A 
good place to start in answering that question is the history 
of the allegations before us.  On March 3, 2021,4 the Union 
filed a charge alleging that the Respondent had “unilater-
ally implement[ed] a program of installing cameras and 
other employee surveillance devices in trucks driven by 
bargaining[-]unit members” and had “explicitly rejected 
the Union’s demands to bargain over this matter.”5  On 
April 29, the region dismissed the unfair labor practice 
charge filed against the Respondent.  Importantly, in dis-
missing the charge, the region determined that the Re-
spondent had not refused to bargain with the Union.  The 
region concluded, “[r]egarding the Employer’s alleged re-
fusal to otherwise bargain over the [implementation of 
cameras], the evidence failed to establish that the Em-
ployer is refusing to meet and bargain over the matter.  Ra-
ther the investigation disclosed that, in correspondence be-
tween the parties over the Employer’s implementation of 
security cameras, the Employer has offered to meet and 
discuss such installation with the Union.  However, the 
Union has failed to respond to this offer.”6  On May 14, 
the region issued a complaint that only alleged the failure 
to provide information violation that, as discussed, is not 
before us due to the absence of exceptions on that issue.  

Accordingly, once the charge against it had been dis-
missed, the Respondent reasonably assumed that, absent a 
further response from the Union, it did not have any af-
firmative duty to bargain over the Lytx security system for 
nearly three months.7  However, on August 6, shortly after 
the beginning of General Counsel Jennifer Abruzzo’s 

failed to respond to the Respondent--again the issue of whether or not 
the Respondent had a duty to bargain would be wholly irrelevant here.  
As will be discussed infra, I agree with the region’s initial determination 
for the reasons set forth therein.  But, even assuming that the region’s 
initial determination was not correct, the record establishes that the par-
ties began bargaining over the relevant issues in a timely manner after 
the charge was reinstated in August 2021. 

7 My colleagues suggest that the Respondent was “on notice” that it 
had a duty to bargain with the Union starting on June 11, 2021, when it 
was informed that the Union had filed an appeal of the Regional Direc-
tor's decision that the Respondent had not unlawfully refused to bargain 
with the Union.  In support of this contention, they assert that “an unfair 
labor practice charge remains a proper basis for further proceedings if a 
party timely appeals a Regional Director’s dismissal.”  That, of course, 
is settled law.  If it were not, the Respondent would presumably have 
argued that the complaint before us is improperly based on a previously 
dismissed charge, and I would presumably be voting to dismiss the com-
plaint on that basis.  It is, however, an entirely different proposition to 
state that because a dismissed charge could be reinstated in the future, 
the party that has been found not to have violated that Act should assume 
that the regional determination will be reversed as soon as the dismissal 
has been appealed.  Such an assumption not only defies common sense 
but it is at odds with reality.  The percentage of appeals to regional di-
rector's dismissals that are sustained each year can be fairly described as 
miniscule. For fiscal years 2008–2012, the average percentage of ap-
peals cases in which the regional directors’ dismissals were reversed was 
1.1 percent, with a range from 0.7 percent to 1.5 percent over those years.  
For instance, in fiscal year 2011, the Division of Appeals processed 2040 
appeals but found that only 1 percent of the appeals had merit.  See 
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term, the General Counsel decided to grant the Union’s 
appeal of the region’s April 29 dismissal of the underlying 
unfair labor practice charge and directed the region to is-
sue a complaint in this matter.8  In that complaint, which 
issued on September 23, the General Counsel alleged—
for the first time—that the Respondent had violated the 
Act by failing to bargain over either the implementation of 
the Lytx security system or the installation of Lytx cam-
eras in unit employees’ trucks.9  

After the hearing commenced on November 17, how-
ever, it became apparent that the General Counsel was not 
aware that, during the period between the reinstatement of 
the charge and the issuance of the complaint, the parties 
had in fact begun bargaining over the matter.  This confu-
sion was made evident when the Respondent attempted to 
proffer evidence that the parties had engaged in bargaining 
over the very issues for which the General Counsel was 
alleging a failure to bargain.  At first, the judge indicated 
that he was “going to permit” the Respondent to proffer 
evidence pertaining to the parties’ bargaining, given that 
the General Counsel was alleging an ongoing violation.  
Immediately thereafter, however, the General Counsel as-
serted that the parties’ bargaining was not relevant be-
cause “at the time that [the region] issued the [relevant] 
Complaint, there hadn’t been any bargaining” over the Re-
spondent’s implementation of the Lytx security system.  

General Counsel’s Memorandum GC 12-03, Summary of Operations 
Fiscal Year 2011 (March 8, 2021).  I cannot agree with my colleagues’
suggestion that a party is required to ignore a regional director’s decision 
on the merits of the charge against them in light of the fact that there is 
an infinitesimal chance that the dismissal of the charge will be reversed 
by the Division of Appeals. 

Furthermore, my colleagues’ suggestion is particularly nonsensical 
here, where the Regional Director affirmatively found that the Union, not 
the Respondent, had the duty to take the next step in order to initiate 
bargaining.  Nor does it make sense to me to require a party to proffer 
testimony that its understanding of a situation was affected when a charge 
alleging that it had engaged in certain unlawful conduct is dismissed, and 
a regional director explains in no uncertain terms why the respondent’s 
alleged conduct did not violate the Act.   

Finally, I note that the Respondent’s conclusion that it did not have a 
duty to bargain with the Union in early 2021 was first found to have merit 
by the Regional Director and then, later, by the administrative law judge.  
Regardless of whether my colleagues disagree with either the Regional
Director’s dismissal of the charge or the administrative law judge’s de-
cision, they do not—and cannot--assert that the Respondent’s actions 
here were unlawful under the “contract coverage” law that applied at the 
time of the events in this case.  

8 The parties stipulated at the hearing that the General Counsel’s di-
rection to issue a complaint occurred on August 6, so I will use that date 
herein.  

9 Accordingly, although my colleagues state that the Respondent had 
failed and refused to bargain with the Union for “8 months,” that asser-
tion ignores the fact that, from April 29 to August 6, the Respondent 
reasonably relied on the General Counsel’s dismissal of the charge alleg-
ing that it had a duty to bargain over the security system issues.  Further-
more, the record establishes that the Respondent engaged in timely bar-
gaining with the Union after the charge was effectively reinstated on Au-
gust 6. 

10 I note that there is no allegation, let alone evidence in the record, 
suggesting that the Respondent did not engage in good faith bargaining 
with the Union over the relevant issues beginning on September 16. 

However, both the Union and the General Counsel stipu-
lated that bargaining “had begun on September 16,” the 
date on which the Union had provided the Respondent 
with the proposed MOU covering the Lytx security system 
issues.  Again, the complaint did not issue until September 
23.  Furthermore, the General Counsel took the position at 
the hearing that it was alleging an “ongoing violation” ac-
cordingly, any argument that the General Counsel litigated 
this case based only on the events prior to the filing of the 
charge in this matter is not supported by the record.  

Thus, the record evidence establishes that the parties 
had begun bargaining over the possible future implemen-
tation of the Lytx security system—regardless of whether 
the Respondent had any duty to do so—before the com-
plaint in this case issued, continued to bargain over how 
such implementation could affect employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment, and ultimately agreed upon a 
MOU addressing those issues, all before any actual instal-
lation of the Lytx security system in the unit employees’
trucks had been scheduled or had taken place.10  

My colleagues nevertheless reject this evidence—as 
they must in order to reach the contract coverage issue—
on the basis that the Respondent had a duty to bargain with 
the Union prior to its “decision” to purchase the Lytx se-
curity system with the intention of installing that system 
in its entire fleet of trucks.11  It is for that reason that they 

To the extent my colleagues recognize that the MOU may have been 
the result of bargaining, they imply that because the preamble of the 
agreement states that the Respondent “has stated its intention” to imple-
ment the security system in unit employees’ trucks, any bargaining must 
have been based on the Respondent presenting the Union with a fait ac-
compli.  Not only do I disagree with that interpretation of the MOU, but, 
more importantly, the parties never had the opportunity to litigate the 
scope of the bargaining and the MOU.  

To begin, it is obvious that the language they seize upon merely serves 
to explain the reason for bargaining over the issue.  But, further, it is 
telling that the parties used the phrase “has stated its intention”; specifi-
cally, the MOU does not indicate that the Respondent “has decided” to 
implement the system, which the majority has claimed is the obvious 
action taken by the Respondent here.  Nor does the MOU contain any 
indication that the parties’ bargaining was in any way constrained by the 
Respondent’s “intent,” or that the Union had reached the MOU under 
any sort of protest because it had been presented with a fait accompli.  
Indeed, the Union stipulated at the hearing that the parties had begun 
bargaining over the security system issues.  

The General Counsel, in turn, never asserted at the hearing that the 
bargaining should not be taken into consideration because it was limited 
in scope, nor did she revise her complaint to allege that the Respondent 
had engaged in bad faith bargaining by presenting the Union with a fait 
accompli.  Rather, the only challenge made by the General Counsel at 
the hearing with regard to the bargaining evidence was that it was irrele-
vant.  Because the judge agreed, the scope of the parties’ subsequent bar-
gaining was never litigated at the hearing.  Again, if my colleagues disa-
gree with my reliance on the bargaining evidence because they would 
interpret it differently, the only path forward is to remand this matter 
back to the judge so that the parties can proffer evidence regarding the 
scope of the agreement.   

11 Again, the complaint alleged a failure to bargain over “implemen-
tation,” not a failure to bargain over any decision. 
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implicitly agree with the judge that the evidence of the 
parties’ bargaining was not relevant to deciding the case.  
The short answer to why that position fails is that the Re-
spondent did not have a duty to bargain with the Union 
prior to purchasing the security system and its implemen-
tation of that system in trucks that were not driven by the 
unit employees.  My colleagues cannot cite any case to 
support the view that an employer is not permitted to pur-
chase a security system and install that security system in 
trucks that are not driven by the unit employees.  Nor 
would that make any sense, as an employer has no duty to 
bargain with regard to changes in terms and conditions of 
employment for employees who are not represented by a 
union.  But this is precisely the position my colleagues are 
taking by asserting that, somehow, the Respondent was re-
quired to bargain over the purchase of the Lytx security 
system with the “intent” to implement that system in its 
entire fleet of 400 trucks simply because 5 or 6 of those 
trucks were driven by the unit employees. 

Certainly, assuming that the General Counsel had al-
leged a failure to bargain over the “decision” my col-
leagues focus on, there could be circumstances under 
which my colleagues’ rationale would make sense.  For
example, if an employer had purchased a new security sys-
tem that automatically changed employees’ terms and 
conditions across its entire fleet of trucks without first bar-
gaining with the union that represented some of those em-
ployees, it would be clear that the decision to purchase the 
security system itself affected unit employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment. 

No such facts, however, are present in this case.  Here, 
the Respondent purchased the Lytx security system and, 
although it expressed an intent to install the system in all 
of its trucks, there is no evidence in the record that it ac-
tually did so.12  Nor is there any evidence to suggest that 
the success of the implementation of that security system 
in the non-unit employees’ trucks was dependent in any 

12 Because the complaint alleges that the Respondent unlawfully “im-
plemented” changes to employees’ terms and conditions of employment, 
and failed to bargain over that implementation, my colleagues assert—
as they must—that the Respondent violated the Act by “taking concrete 
steps” that, presumably, constituted implementation of the Lytx security 
system in the unit employees’ trucks.  It is not clear, however, what con-
crete steps they are relying upon.  Certainly, the purchase of the Lytx 
system and implementation of that system into non-unit employees’ 
trucks cannot constitute an unlawful “concrete step” because, as my col-
leagues concede, the Respondent had the right to take those actions with-
out providing notice to, and bargaining with, the Union.   

I recognize that there are cases in which the Board has found a failure 
to bargain violation even though the respondent never in fact made any 
changes to employees’ terms and conditions of employment.  Without 
expressing any view with regard to whether those cases were correctly 
decided, I note that to my knowledge the Board has never found a failure 
to bargain under such circumstances when the parties have actually bar-
gained in good faith over the possible changes prior to implementation 
of any of the proposed changes.  

My colleagues also accuse me of giving “short shrift” to the statutory 
right to engage in collective bargaining.  Of course, it is my colleagues 
who have denied the Respondent’s efforts to introduce evidence of its 

way on the Respondent’s implementation of the security 
system in unit employees’ trucks.  

Under my colleagues’ view of the case, therefore, em-
ployers may not effect any changes to unrepresented em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment without first 
bargaining with the union of its represented employees, so 
long as the employer has “implemented” changes on rep-
resented employees’ terms and conditions of employment 
by informing the unit that it planned to implement changes 
at some undefined point in the future.  Further, under my 
colleagues’ view, an employer’s mere unilateral purchase 
of equipment that is implemented for non-represented em-
ployees but is never implemented in a way that affects the 
unit employees’ terms and conditions of employment is 
unlawful so long as, at the time the employer purchased 
the equipment, it intended to implement the equipment to 
all of its employees.  Not only is this view of the require-
ments of the Act nonsensical, but my colleagues cannot 
cite any cases that would support finding a violation under 
such circumstances.13

My colleagues have no real answer to this point but, in-
stead, assert that my position is based on a “markedly dif-
ferent account of the facts at issue.”  Contrary to this as-
sertion, however, my colleagues and I do not have any dis-
agreement about what happened in this case.14  Rather, we 
disagree about whether evidence of the Respondent's sub-
sequent bargaining with the Union is relevant to determin-
ing whether the Respondent failed to bargain with the Un-
ion as alleged, and, even if that were not relevant, whether 
the Respondent had a duty to bargain with the Union prior 
to purchasing, and installing, a new security system in 
trucks not driven by unit employees, given that the Re-
spondent never installed that security system in the unit 
employees’ trucks.

My colleagues also suggest that my “version of the rel-
evant events” in this case is “speculative,” but then fail to 
identify any aspect of my accounting of the record facts 

bargaining with the Union.  In any event, the fact that I would not impose 
additional bargaining obligations above and beyond what our Act and 
law requires does not mean that I am giving “short shrift” to anything. 

13 I note that at least one reviewing court has already rebuked my col-
leagues for attempting to justify finding a violation based on a “non-
sens[ical]” interpretation of record facts.  Stern Produce Co. v NLRB, 97 
F.4th 1, 9 (D.C. Cir. 2024).

14 That is, we have no disagreement apart from when my colleagues 
assert facts that are not supported by the record.  For example, my col-
leagues indicate that the Respondent “confirm[ed] that it was irrevocably 
committed to following its declared intention” to install the Lytx system 
in all of its trucks.  Not only did the Respondent never declare that its 
decision was “irrevocable,” but, to the contrary, the Respondent did not 
in fact install the Lytx system in the unit employees’ trucks.  Elsewhere, 
my colleagues state toward the end of their decision that the Respondent 
“advised the Union that ‘bargaining at the expense of safety cannot be a 
starting point.’“  Yet, much earlier in their decision, they concede that 
the Respondent had crossed that statement out in its March 1 letter to the 
Union.  To take the position that the Respondent has made a specific 
assertion to the Union, despite the fact that the Respondent redacted that 
sentence, based on the fact that the redaction was “still legible” is hardly 
a fair recitation of the record facts.
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that is “speculative.”15  If my colleagues are referring to 
their assertion that the Respondent has taken the litigation 
position that the charge was untimely because its August 
2020 announcement put the Union on notice of its inten-
tion to install the Lytx Security system in its trucks, I do 
not dispute that assertion.16  But that assertion is irrelevant
to the question of whether the Respondent had a duty to 
bargain over its intention to install the security camera sys-
tem in the unit employees’ trucks eventually when, in fact, 
those cameras were never installed.  I further note that it 
is striking that, although my colleagues accuse me of spec-
ulative reasoning, they assert that the evidence “suggests” 
that but for “circumstances beyond the Respondent’s con-
trol (the supply chain disruption caused by the pan-
demic)”, the Respondent “would have installed the cam-
eras long before the Union learned of the Respondent’s 
decision.”  Not only is that entirely speculative, but it is 
irrelevant.  Based on the record before us, the Respondent 
has not installed any cameras in bargaining-unit employ-
ees' trucks; the Respondent’s stated intention to do so does 
not change that salient fact.

Because the record establishes that the General Counsel 
failed to meet her burden to establish that the Respondent 
either failed to provide adequate notice or failed and re-
fused to bargain with the Union over its implementation 
of the Lytx security system before any such implementa-
tion affected employees’ terms and conditions of employ-
ment, I would dismiss the allegation.  In my view, the 
judge committed clear error in finding that the parties’ bar-
gaining over these issues, which commenced prior to the 
issuance of the relevant complaint, was not relevant, and 
my colleagues commit clear error in adopting this view of 
the case.  In light of the General Counsel’s failure to 

15 To the extent my colleagues are suggesting that I am  “speculating”
about the Respondent’s subjective reason for not bargaining with the Un-
ion, the Respondent’s subjective intent is not relevant here; the General 
Counsel is not alleging a violation of Sec. 8(a)(3).  Rather, the issue is 
whether the Respondent violated the Act as alleged.

16 Furthermore, the Respondent’s litigation position with regard to its 
10(b) argument in no way conflicts with my analysis of this case.  The 
Respondent’s contention that the Union had knowledge of “its intention 
to install the Lytx systems in all trucks operated by the bargaining unit 
members” in August 2020 in no way concedes or suggests that the Re-
spondent had any duty to bargain with the Union over that intention.  In 
any event, the Respondent is not precluded from raising any of the argu-
ments that I have raised here in a motion for reconsideration.  That would 
indisputably preserve such arguments for consideration by a court of ap-
peals on review under Sec. 10(e).  

17 The fact that the judge erroneously applied contract coverage 
here—rather than recognizing that the Respondent assumed that it had a 
duty to bargain over the issue, did bargain over the issue, and reached a 
tentative agreement with the Union over the issue—does not place the 
contract coverage doctrine squarely before the Board.  Nor does it matter 
that a reviewing court could, erroneously, apply the contract coverage 
doctrine here given that, regardless of whether or not the contact privi-
leged the Respondent to act unilaterally, it did not do so here.

18 368 NLRB No. 66 (2019).
19 This, of course, is not the first time my colleagues have attempted 

to use an inappropriate case--whether due to the issues presented or the 
posture of the case--for them to attempt to overrule precedent with which 

establish that the Respondent failed or refused to bargain 
with the Union over the issues as alleged, the issue of 
whether “contract coverage” or “clear and unmistakable 
waiver” should be the standard by which to analyze the 
Respondent’s alleged failure to bargain is simply not be-
fore the Board.17   

Even though the question of whether or not the Re-
spondent had a duty to bargain is irrelevant given the Gen-
eral Counsel’s failure to establish that the Respondent had 
failed and refused to bargain with the Union as alleged at 
the time that the relevant complaint had issued, my col-
leagues insist on attempting to use this case to express 
their disagreement with the doctrine of contract coverage, 
which was adopted by the Board in MV Transportation, 
Inc.18 in response to the growing chorus of appellate courts 
that would not enforce Board decisions that failed to apply 
contract coverage.  Because this is not a contract coverage 
case, my colleagues’ discussion regarding their intent to 
overrule the Board’s decision in MV Transportation 
amounts to non-precedential dicta.19

Given, however, that my colleagues have written exten-
sive dicta that appears to be the blueprint for why they 
would overrule MV Transportation in a future appropriate 
case, I will explain in dicta why I believe that the standard 
set forth in MV Transportation must be retained, espe-
cially in light of the fact that reviewing courts, including 
the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Co-
lumbia Circuit (“D.C. Circuit”), have made it clear that 
they expect the Board to apply that standard.20

Background

The Respondent operates approximately 400 trucks that 
transport trash to landfill sites.  This business includes 22 
nationwide locations, including one in Florence, 

they disagree.  See, e.g., Lion Elastomers LLC, 372 NLRB No. 83 
(2023), vacated and remanded 108 F.4th 252 (5th Cir. 2024) (finding 
Board’s purported change of law both beyond the scope of the court’s 
remand and violative of the respondent’s due process rights); see also
Siren Retail Corp. d/b/a Starbucks, 373 NLRB No. 135, slip op. at 18–
20 (2024) (Member Kaplan, concurring in part and dissenting in part); 
Miller Plastic Products, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 134, slip op. at 9–10 (2023) 
(Member Kaplan, concurring in the result). 

I further note that, should the reviewing court agree that it is unneces-
sary to reach the contract coverage issue to decide the case, the court still 
may want to address the issue as an alternate finding should the court 
disagree with my colleagues’ purported reversal of MV Transportation.  
If not, it is likely that my colleagues will take the position that their dicta
with regard to the reversal of MV Transportation is binding precedent.  
See, e.g., Airgas USA, 372 NLRB No. 102 (2024) (reasoning that new 
remedy vacated by the court remains binding precedent).

20 As discussed, because the Respondent affirmatively chose to bar-
gain with the Union over the alleged unilateral actions insofar as they 
pertained to the bargaining-unit employees, the question whether an un-
lawful failure and refusal to bargain was privileged by the doctrine of 
contract coverage is not before the Board.  Accordingly, the issue of how 
effects bargaining should be treated under the contract coverage doctrine 
is not before the Board.  Should the issue arise in a future appropriate 
case, I would address my concerns regarding the assumption that a con-
tract clause representing a mutual agreement granting the employer the 
right to take unilateral action necessarily represents a mutual agreement 
with regard to effects bargaining.  
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Kentucky, where the Respondent operates five or six 
trucks.  At that facility, the Union represents a unit of driv-
ers, mechanics, and loaders.  The parties’ most recent col-
lective-bargaining agreement was effective by its terms 
from September 24, 2018, to September 26, 2021. 

In August 2020, the Respondent decided to purchase the 
Lytx security system with the intention of installing that 
system in its entire fleet of 400 trucks, including the 5 or 
6 trucks operated by the Florence, Kentucky employees 
represented by the Union.21  The system utilizes two cell-
phone size cameras mounted on the inside windshield of a 
truck cab, with one camera directed at the driver and the 
other outward toward the road.  Although the system con-
tinuously records video and audio footage, it is an event-
based system, i.e., it only preserves recordings if there is 
a triggering event like a collision, hard braking, speeding, 
or failure to maintain a safe driving distance.  In those cir-
cumstances, the system preserves recordings for the 10 
seconds before and 5 seconds after a triggering event.  Pre-
served recordings are sent to Lytx, which analyzes, scores, 
and transmits recorded data to the Respondent for further 
review.  Many trucking companies have installed similar 
cameras as a reasonable response to increasing accident 
rates and massive increases in the size of awards in acci-
dent liability cases.22  

In early January, the Union learned about the Lytx se-
curity system after the Respondent notified its employees 
that it had begun the process of installing the system in its 
fleet.  The Union contacted the Respondent by email on 
January 12 asserting that “the cameras cannot be imple-
mented without negotiation with the Union” and de-
manded that “any steps toward implementation that al-
ready have begun should cease.”23  The Union asked that 
the Respondent explain its reasons for purchasing the Lytx 
security system and answer the specific questions of 
where cameras would be placed in trucks, the direction 
cameras would face, and whether cameras operate contin-
uously, are activated by specific events, send audio or 
video images to a central location, and how long record-
ings are stored.  

21 My colleagues note Respondent Safety Manager Kevin Blackwell’s 
testimony where he simply agreed with counsel for the General Coun-
sel’s statement that in August 2020, the Respondent’s decision to “put[] 
cameras in trucks at some point” was a “done deal.”  As they do through-
out their decision, my colleagues ignore the critical fact that the Re-
spondent never installed the camera system in any truck driven by the 
unit employees prior to the parties’ bargaining over that matter and 
reaching tentative agreement on an MOU directly addressing it.  To that 
end, in an August 11, 2020, email to the Respondent’s facility managers 
notifying them of the Lytx security system, Blackwell referred to the 
“pending installation” of the system.  Blackwell further testified that in-
stallation at the Florence facility was delayed due to a supply chain dis-
ruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Blackwell did not testify 
that the Respondent delayed installation as a means of avoiding bargain-
ing with the Union.    

22 See Forbes Advisor, Truck Accident Statistics For 2024, 
https://www.forbes.com/advisor/legal/auto-accident/truck-accident-sta-
tistics/ (last visited 9/4/24) (large truck accidents increased by 26% From 
2020 to 2021); Insurance Journal, “Dash Cams in Fleet Vehicles are Key 

By letter dated February 4, the Respondent responded 
to the Union's questions.  The Respondent explained that 
it purchased the Lytx security system “in response to un-
sustainable exposure to claims and litigation.”  As the Re-
spondent observed, the system would also protect drivers 
from meritless claims when they were not at fault, as ac-
cidents “jeopardize a driver’s privilege to drive” and “too 
often drivers find themselves with no recourse or proof in 
the event of one of these incidents.”  The Respondent also 
explained that the system would be used for coaching to 
ensure that drivers safely operate trucks to avoid incidents.  
The Respondent clarified that the system was event-based, 
provided examples of triggering events, detailed the 
length and scope of preserved recordings, outlined the 
process of third-party review by Lytx, and confirmed that 
recordings could be the basis for disciplinary action.24  Fi-
nally, the Respondent indicated that the implementation of 
the Lytx security system was “in its beginning stages” and 
stated that, although a memorandum announcing the plan 
had been sent out on August 10, 2020, “no collective bar-
gaining has been deemed necessary up to this point.”

By email dated February 12, the Union objected to the 
“installation of cameras in vehicles” and requested bar-
gaining “on the potential installation of cameras.”25  The 
Union rejected the Respondent’s business reasons for pur-
chasing the Lytx security system, asserted that the use of 
cameras amounted to employee surveillance, claimed that 
third-party review would bring unwanted subjectivity, 
questioned how the security system could identify speed-
ing or safe distance following, asked where cameras 
would be directed, and inquired if employees and the Un-
ion could review recordings.  

By email dated March 1, the Respondent defended the 
system as “a tool of safety improvement and incident re-
construction to guard against . . . legal claims,” and noted 
the “wide and diverse use of event recorders in the trans-
portation industry.”  The Respondent rejected the Union’s 
assertion that the cameras were surveillance devices on the 
basis that they are not hidden, do not continuously record, 
and instead provide event-based data.  The Respondent 

to Avoiding Nuclear Verdicts, Risk Managers Say,” https://www.insur-
ancejournal.com/news/national/2023/11/14/747970.htm (last visited 
10/7/24).

23 As will be shown, the Respondent did not take any action incon-
sistent with this position.  The Union’s demand that “any steps toward 
implementation . . . should cease” necessarily only pertains to the unit 
employees’ location, as the Union has no authority to dictate whether or 
not the Respondent installs cameras in the trucks of employees whom the 
Union does not represent.  

24 Notably, there is no complaint allegation that the Respondent vio-
lated the Act by announcing that audio and video recordings captured by 
the camera system could be used as a basis for training and discipline.  

25 As mentioned already, the Union’s objection was necessarily lim-
ited to installing cameras in trucks driven by the unit employees; the Re-
spondent did not have any duty to bargain with the Union prior to imple-
menting the system in the non-unit employees’ trucks given that such 
implementation did not affect unit employees’ terms and conditions of 
employment.   
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explained that cameras would be mounted “both forward 
facing and driver facing.”  The Respondent asserted that 
third-party review offers a “neutral and independent re-
view,” with no recommendations regarding discipline, and 
that any coaching and discipline would be taken in accord-
ance with the parties’ contract.  Finally, the Respondent 
stated, “[p]lease advise how and when you would like to 
discuss further.”  The Union did not respond to the Re-
spondent’s offer of further discussions but, rather filed a 
charge on March 3.26

On September 16, as part of their negotiations for a suc-
cessor agreement, the parties began bargaining with re-
gard to the Respondent’s intent to implement the security 
system in the trucks driven by the unit employees.  On that 
date, the Union provided the Respondent with a draft 
MOU addressing its concerns regarding the possible fu-
ture implementation of the security system.  The parties 
bargained over the issues raised by the Union and, on No-
vember 10, before the hearing opened in this case, the par-
ties reached a tentative agreement on an MOU, which was 
initialed and dated by the parties.  The MOU explains that 
the Respondent “has stated its intention to install fleet dash 
camera and audio systems (‘systems’) in its trucks driven 
by Local 100-represented drivers” and it “is understood 
that the installation of such systems . . . is for matters of 
safety and security, and not for purposes of routine em-
ployee surveillance.”  The MOU provides that “[i]nfor-
mation obtained from the systems may be used for coun-
seling, coaching or discipline depending on the circum-
stances and consistent with provisions in the Employee 
Handbook” and may “be used to exonerate an employee 
accused of any infraction.”  If a camera recording is used 
to discipline an employee, the MOU requires the Re-
spondent to provide the Union with “an opportunity to re-
view the systems recording containing the information 
used by the [Respondent] to support the discipline or dis-
charge,” and a copy of system recordings if requested by 
the Union.  

By the time of the hearing in this case, which took place 
on November 17, 2021, the Respondent had still not in-
stalled the camera system in the trucks operated by unit 
employees.  

26 As noted previously, that charge was dismissed on April 29.  The 
charge was later effectively reinstated on August 6.  

27 Although the Union indicated its objection to the Respondent’s pur-
chase of the security system, I am assuming that the General Counsel 
was not alleging, and that my colleagues are not finding, that the Re-
spondent’s unilateral purchase of the security system was unlawful.  As 
discussed above, the Respondent had the right to purchase the security 
system and install the system, including the security cameras, in trucks
not driven by the unit employees, without bargaining with the Union 
first.  Although the Respondent indicated that it intended to install the 
security system across the entire fleet, just purchasing the system, and 
installing it in other trucks in the fleet, did not automatically effect a 
change in the unit employees’ terms and conditions of employment.   

28 My colleagues apparently take the position that, because the Re-
spondent conveyed an intention to install cameras in “100 percent” of its 
trucks at some undefined point in the future and began installing cameras 

Discussion

I.  THE RESPONDENT HAS NOT FAILED OR REFUSED TO 

BARGAIN ABOUT THE IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO 

INSTALL THE LYTX SECURITY SYSTEM IN TRUCKS DRIVEN 

BY THE UNIT EMPLOYEES

A.  There was No Unilateral Change to Employees’
Terms and Conditions of Employment

In order to prove an unlawful unilateral change, the 
General Counsel must “show that there is an employment 
practice concerning a mandatory subject, and that the em-
ployer has made a significant change thereto without bar-
gaining.” Bath Iron Works Corp., 345 NLRB 499, 501 
(2005), affd. sub nom. Bath Marine Draftsmen’s Assn. v. 
NLRB, 475 F.3d 14 (1st Cir. 2007).  There is no dispute 
that the implementation of the Lytx security system in 
trucks operated by the unit employees, including the in-
stallation of cameras and other devices, was a mandatory 
subject of bargaining.  Accordingly, assuming—as my 
colleagues do—that the parties had not agreed to afford 
the Respondent the discretion to act unilaterally, the Re-
spondent was required to provide the Union with notice 
and an opportunity to bargain before installing the cam-
eras and, thereby, changing employees’ terms and condi-
tions of employment.  But that is exactly what the Re-
spondent did. 

First it is undisputed that, at the time the Union became 
aware of the Respondent’s purchase of the Lytx security 
system and the implementation of that system in trucks 
driven by employees not represented by the Union, the Re-
spondent had not made any changes to the unit employees’ 
terms and conditions of employment at the Florence loca-
tion.27  The Respondent had not implemented the security 
system, including the installation of security cameras, in 
any trucks operated by the unit employees, nor did it have 
a concrete timeline for doing so.28  Second, the record es-
tablishes that the parties did in fact bargain over the secu-
rity system beginning in September and, further, reached 
a tentative agreement on an MOU addressing that topic 
before the Respondent had implemented the security sys-
tem or installed any cameras in trucks operated by the unit 
employees.29  Indeed, there is no record evidence that it 

in the trucks of employees not represented by a union, it somehow “im-
plemented” changes to the unit employees’ terms and conditions of em-
ployment at that point.  I am not aware of any cases that support that 
position, and my colleagues cite none.  From that highly questionable 
position, my colleagues then conclude that the Respondent failed to pro-
vide the Union with notice and an opportunity to bargain prior to imple-
mentation, despite the fact that the parties subsequently bargained in 
good faith and reached a tentative agreement on the issue prior to the 
cameras ever being installed in the unit employees’ trucks and despite 
the fact that the record does not establish that the terms and conditions 
of employment of the unit employees were ever changed.  Again, I am 
not aware of any Board precedent that supports that conclusion and, 
again, my colleagues cite none.

29 My colleagues imply that the record does not support a finding that 
the parties bargained and reached tentative agreement because the judge 
rejected the Respondent’s proposed stipulation that “the parties’ 
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ever installed cameras on trucks at the Florence facility.  
Under these circumstances, there is no basis for finding 
that the Respondent “has made a significant change [to a 
term or condition of employment] without bargaining.”30  
Id. (first emphasis added).

Indeed, the absence of any implementation in this case 
explains why the judge’s finding, effectively adopted here 
by the majority, that the parties’ actual bargaining in this 
case was not relevant to whether or not the General Coun-
sel had met her burden to establish a failure and refusal to 
bargain was erroneous.31  In finding that evidence that the 
parties had actually bargained over the issues, and reached 
a tentative agreement as a result of that bargaining, did not 
affect the underlying failure to bargain analysis, the judge 
reasoned that “[a] union must not be forced to commence 
bargaining from a disadvantageous position, or bargain 
from a hole, caused by the employer’s unremedied unilat-
eral changes.”  As support for that principle, the judge 
cited CP Anchorage Hotel 2, LLC, d/b/a Hilton Anchor-
age, 370 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 24 fn. 32 (2021), and
Intermountain Rural Electric Assn., 305 NLRB 783, 789 
(1991), enfd. 984 F.2d 1562 (10th Cir. 1993).  Neither of 
those cases, however, are relevant to the case at issue.  

In both of the cases upon which the judge relied, the 
Board found that the respondent had engaged in bad-faith 
bargaining where it implemented unilateral changes to em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment during 

‘thereafter negotiated . . . on the Lytx system and reached a tentative 
agreement.’”  As noted above, the judge’s decision to reject this stipula-
tion was not based on any determination of the merits of the proposed 
stipulation.  Rather, the judge rejected the stipulation because he found 
that evidence pertaining to the parties' bargaining in September was ir-
relevant and rejected the Respondent's attempt to proffer testimony on 
that issue.  Again, if my colleagues believe that the merits of the rejected 
stipulation are relevant here, they should remand the case to the judge to 
allow the Respondent to proffer evidence regarding the parties' bargain-
ing.  

30 Indeed, my colleagues' fundamental error in this regard is demon-
strated by the fact that their Order tracks standard Board boilerplate for 
a refusal to bargain:  “On request by the Union, bargain concerning the 
decision to install cameras in vehicles driven by the unit employees and 
the effects of the decision on unit employees’ terms and conditions of 
employment.”  Not only does this language fail to track the allegation 
alleged in the complaint, but the record establishes that the parties have 
already bargained over the Respondent's plan to install cameras in the 
unit employees' trucks as well as any effects that would result from in-
stalling the cameras.  My colleagues' order, therefore, appears to find that 
because (in their view) the Respondent did not bargain immediately with 
the Union upon request, any subsequent bargaining--and any agreements 
reached between the parties--can be undone upon the Union's request.  I 
am not aware of any case in which the Board has ordered that an agree-
ment reached by the parties be jettisoned upon request where, as here, 
there is no allegation that any party failed to bargain in good faith.  Fur-
ther, it is clear to me that allowing one party to invalidate an agreement 
reached through the process of bargaining in good faith will have the 
effect of undermining the Act's fundamental policy of encouraging col-
lective bargaining as a means of reducing industrial strife.   

31 My colleagues assert that I am taking the position that “the Re-
spondent's failure to bargain with the Union on request” in February 
2021 is “negate[d]” by the parties’ subsequent bargaining.  I am not tak-
ing that position.  I do not believe that the Respondent had a duty to bar-
gain in February 2021.  As my colleagues recognize, citing NLRB v. 

bargaining that reduced the Union’s bargaining power.  In 
CP Anchorage Hotel, the Board found that the respondent 
had violated its duty to bargain in good faith, in part, be-
cause “the Respondent’s unilateral implementation of its 
access proposal moved the baseline for negotiations, took 
a significant bargaining chip off the table, and impaired 
the Union’s ability to make quid pro quo concessions.  
This action all but ensured that no meaningful bargaining 
could follow.”  370 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 2.  Similarly, 
in Intermountain, the Board found that the respondent 
could not declare overall impasse and implement its best 
final offer where, among other things, it implemented uni-
lateral changes during bargaining without affording the 
Union an opportunity to bargain over those changes.32

Here, by contrast, not only did the Respondent bargain 
with the Union prior to any implementation of the Lytx 
security system in the unit employees’ trucks but, simply 
put, there was no unilateral implementation affecting the 
unit employees’ terms and conditions of employment.  
Further, unlike in CP Anchorage or Intermountain, the 
Union’s bargaining power was not diminished as a result 
of the Respondent’s intent to install cameras in the unit 
employees’ trucks.  To the contrary, it stands to reason that 
the Union held a significant bargaining chip in the succes-
sor-contract bargaining knowing that the Respondent 
wanted to install those cameras in the future.33  Like the 
judge, my colleagues ignore these critical facts.34  

Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 743 (1962), “It is well settled that an employer vio-
lates Section 8(a)(5) if it changes employees’ terms and conditions of 
employment . . . without providing the union representing [those] em-
ployees with prior notice and the opportunity to bargain.”  My view is 
that the Respondent did not violate Sec. 8(a)(5) in February 2021, or at 
any point thereafter, as that violation is defined in Katz because the Gen-
eral Counsel failed to establish that the Respondent actually changed em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment.  Although my colleagues 
appear to take the position that neither the Union nor the General Counsel 
were required to wait until the employees’ terms and conditions were 
actually changed to establish an 8(a)(5) violation, that view is not sup-
ported by Katz.

32 Specifically, the employer unilaterally increased the number of 
hours employees had to work to make up excused time off before quali-
fying for overtime premium pay rates; unilaterally abolished its standby 
and callout systems; and unilaterally reduced employees’ take-home pay 
by limiting the amount that the respondent would contribute to employ-
ees’ health insurance premiums and deducting the rest of the premium 
from employees’ pay.  The respondent implemented the health insurance 
change only two days after it informed the union of its intention to 
change the plan.  Intermountain, 305 NLRB at 784, 788–789.

33 Again, there is no allegation that the Respondent engaged in bad 
faith in its subsequent bargaining, nor is there evidence in the record that 
the Union had any concerns regarding the effect of Respondent’s conduct 
on the bargaining process that resulted in the parties reaching a tentative 
agreement on the camera issue.  Nor did the General Counsel allege in 
her complaint, litigate, or proffer evidence at the hearing to support her
claim that the Respondent failed to engage in good faith bargaining in 
September 2021 by presenting the Union with a “fait accompli.”

34 In an attempt to bolster the judge’s rationale, my colleagues assert 
that the parties’ subsequent bargaining over the Respondent’s intent to 
implement the security system, including installing cameras, is irrelevant 
because the Board “considers circumstances as they existed at the time 
of the alleged violation.”  Citing Windsor Redding Care Center, LLC, 
366 NLRB No. 127, slip op. at 4 (2018), and Mid-Wilshire Health Care 
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My colleagues assert that the Board must ignore the fact 
that the General Counsel failed to establish in the record 
that the Respondent ever changed employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment by implementing the Lytx se-
curity system or installing the Lytx security cameras be-
cause the Respondent “did not argue at any point during 
the litigation of this case that the complaint allegations 
should be dismissed because it did not implement a uni-
lateral change in terms and conditions of employment.”  
Yet, it was not the Respondent’s burden to establish that it 
had violated the Act by changing employees’ terms and 

Center, 337 NLRB 72, 73 (2001)), enfd. in relevant part 944 F.3d 294 
(D.C. Cir. 2019), cert. denied 2020 WL 13120614 (2020).  But the cir-
cumstances at the time of the alleged violation do not support their posi-
tion and, therefore, the majority’s cited cases are inapplicable.  At the 
time that the majority is referencing, the Respondent did not have any-
thing more than an intent to install the security system in the unit em-
ployees' trucks.  Indeed, the Respondent still had not taken any action to 
implement the security system in the unit employees’ trucks--nor did it 
have any specific plans to so--at the time that it offered to continue dis-
cussing the issue with the Union.  Nor did it have any specific plans to 
do so at the time that the parties bargained over, and reached a tentative 
agreement on, that intention.  It defies reason to find a violation that an 
employer “failed and refused to bargain” over an intention to change em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment when the union and em-
ployer have stipulated that, in fact, the parties did bargain with regard to 
that intention and reached a tentative agreement before the employer ever 
implements the changes.  That is, of course, assuming that the record 
establishes that the changes were implemented, which is not the case 
here.  

Furthermore, in both Windsor and Mid-Wilshire, the employers actu-
ally implemented disputed unilateral changes before rescinding them and 
thereafter engaging in bargaining.  Again, no such implementation has 
been shown in this case.

35 My colleagues clearly err by contending that the question whether 
the General Counsel failed to meet her burden of proof is not before the 
Board.  But, to the extent that they are suggesting that I am limited to the 
arguments put forward by the Respondent at this stage of the proceeding-
-which arguments, of course, addressed the judge’s decision to find that 
the Respondent had no duty to bargain based on the contract coverage 
standard--they are incorrect.  Any suggestion that I am precluded from 
applying my own analysis in determining whether the Respondent vio-
lated the Act is not supported by the Board’s Rules and Regulations.  Sec. 
102.46(a)(1)(ii) of the Board’s Rules and Regulations indicates that ex-
ceptions not raised by a party “will be deemed to have been waived” 
(emphasis added). The second sentence of Sec. 102.46(a)(1)(ii), in turn, 
states that exceptions that are raised but fail to conform with the require-
ments of Sec. 102.46(a)(1)(i)—including Sec. 102.46(a)(1)(i)(D), per-
taining to bare exceptions containing no supporting argument--“may be 
disregarded.”  Sec. 102.46(a)(1)(ii) (emphasis added). In other words, 
even when parties make exceptions that do not include any supporting 
argument, the Board still has the option to consider those exceptions.  
And if the Board has the option to consider exceptions that lack support-
ing argument, the Board must have the authority to decide those excep-
tions based on its own legal analysis.  Accordingly, although Sec. 
102.46(a)(1)(ii) suggests that exceptions not raised by a party are deemed 
to have been waived, the section does not support an interpretation that 
arguments in support of those exceptions may not be considered as part 
of the Board’s analysis when they are not raised by a party.

Furthermore, to the extent that my colleagues would find that the 
Board’s Rules would so limit the Board’s ability to apply a different anal-
ysis for deciding a case if that analysis is not raised by a party, I note that 
they have consistently found to the contrary with respect to one particular 
party, the General Counsel.  There can be no argument that the General 
Counsel is not a party covered by the Board’s litigation regulations.  Ac-
cordingly, if the Board’s rules prevent the Board from deciding cases on 

conditions without bargaining; that burden fell squarely 
on the General Counsel, and she failed to proffer evidence 
to support that finding.  Furthermore, the Respondent im-
plicitly argued that it had not implemented any changes to 
employees’ terms and conditions of employment without 
bargaining by attempting to proffer evidence that it had 
not failed to bargain as alleged in the complaint because it 
had, in fact, bargained.  Certainly, such evidence would 
not have served as a defense had the Respondent imple-
mented any changes prior to the bargaining.35   

legal theories not raised by a party, then my colleagues could not have 
recently held that “[e]ven assuming arguendo that [their] rationale for 
finding [the violation] differed in some respect from the theory urged by 
the General Counsel,” it was entirely appropriate for them to apply that 
different theory so long as that issue did not raise due process concerns.  
Home Depot USA, 373 NLRB No. 25, slip op. at 16–17 fn. 37 (2024).  
There is no reason why the Board, which is supposed to be a neutral 
arbiter of cases brought before us, should be allowed to find violations 
based on a theory not raised by a party before us but not dismiss alleged 
violations based on an argument not before us.  Indeed, I would argue 
that if the Board is allowed to use its own theory to find that a party 
violated the Act, there is more reason for allowing the Board to apply its 
own rationale for finding that a party did not violate the Act.  The former 
raises concerns of the Board exceeding the scope of its authority by act-
ing as a de jure prosecutor, whereas the latter ensures that parties will not 
be ordered to remedy unfair labor practice violations that did they did not 
commit.

Recently in Quickway Transportation, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 127 
(2023), enfd. 117 F.4th 789 (6th Cir. 2024), my colleagues similarly at-
tempted to explain why analyses not proffered by a party should not be 
available to the Board.  They wrote:  “As the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Fifth Circuit recently observed, our adversarial system of 
adjudication . . . . is designed around the premise that parties represented 
by competent counsel know what is best for them, and are responsible 
for advancing the facts and argument[s] entitling them to relief.”  Id., slip 
op. at 18 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).  If that is my 
colleagues' view, then I do not see any reason for them to assume that all 
parties have competent counsel other than the General Counsel.  

Finally, I note that a judge on the Third Circuit has recently raised 
concerns with the manner in which the Board uses the litigation pro-
cesses set forth in Sec. 104.6(a) - (f) of the Board Rules and Regulations 
to frustrate parties’ ability to raise issues on review.   See New Concepts 
for Living, Inc. v NLRB, 94 F.4th 272 (2024)  (J. Krause, concurring).  
Although Judge Krause’s concurrence mostly focused on her disagree-
ment with the application of the Board’s Rules to limit judicial review, 
she also criticized the Rules as applied at the Board level.  She noted that 
the Board’s Rules are imprecise and therefore cause confusion, including 
the question, relevant here, of whether a party who prevailed before the 
administrative law judge must still file “exceptions” to preserve an issue 
for appeal.  Id. at 291–292.  As she further concluded:

By its terms, then, the Board’s regulation imposes different, more cum-
bersome, and less straightforward requirements on a litigant to preserve 
its opportunity for judicial review. While the statute requires merely that 
a party “urge[ ]” an “objection” before the Board, 29 U.S.C. § 160(e),
the regulation demands that a party “specifically urge[ ]” an “exception” 
to each and every “ruling, finding, conclusion, or recommendation,” 29 
C.F.R. § 102.46(a)(1)(ii) (emphasis added), that the exception conform 
to precise specifications lest it be “disregarded,” id., and that regardless 
of whether the Board was in fact on notice of a “matter[ ]” and even 
addressed it in its opinion, a party who fails to include that matter in 
exceptions or cross-exceptions cannot raise it in court, id. § 102.46(f). 
In practice, this conflict creates uncertainty about parties’ pleading ob-
ligations, enables arbitrary enforcement by the Board, and spawns con-
fusion in the Courts. 
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B.  In Light of the Record Evidence that the Respondent 
Bargained with the Union with Sufficient Advance Notice 
Before the Implementation of Any Changes to Unit Em-
ployees’ Terms and Conditions, the General Counsel 

Failed to Establish that the Respondent Violated the Act 
by Failing and Refusing to Bargain with the Union

As I have explained, because the General Counsel failed 
to establish that the Respondent ever implemented any 
changes to the unit employees’ terms and conditions of 
employment, as alleged in the complaint, and because, in 
any event, the record establishes that the Respondent bar-
gained with the Union in good faith prior to any changes 
to the unit employees’ terms and conditions of employ-
ment, the issue of whether the Respondent had any duty to 
do so is not before the Board.  As previously noted, how-
ever, my colleagues’ finding that the Respondent had re-
fused to bargain in February and March of 2021 is without 
merit.  It is true that the Respondent did not immediately 
commence bargaining in January 2021 when the Union 
first requested it.  But neither did the Respondent refuse to 
bargain over the matter at that time or any other time.36  To 
the contrary, the Respondent’s February 4 letter stated 
only that collective bargaining had not “been deemed nec-
essary up to this point.” (emphasis added).  My colleagues 
make much of this statement, but it does not in any way 
suggest that the Respondent was refusing to bargain.  Ra-
ther, this was a true statement; the Respondent had not 
deemed bargaining necessary because, up to that point, it 
had only begun installing the cameras at locations where 
employees were not represented by unions.  

Then, following a second letter from the Union, the Re-
spondent sent a follow-up letter on March 1 that, again, 
did not indicate that the Respondent refused to bargain 
over the cameras.  In fact, the Respondent specifically 
asked the Union in that letter to “[p]lease advise how and 
when you would like to discuss further.”  At no time there-
after did the Union suggest bargaining times or dates to 
the Respondent but, rather, the Union filed an unfair labor 
practice charge.  The view that the Respondent’s letters 
conveyed a refusal to bargain over its plan to install cam-
eras in the unit employees’ trucks at some undefined point 
in the future is, of course, belied by the fact that the Re-
spondent did bargain with the Union about that very 

Id. at 291.
36 As mentioned previously, following its investigation, the region 

concluded that the Respondent had not failed to bargain with the Union 
but, rather, that the Union had failed to respond to the Respondent’s offer 
to continue discussing the Union’s concerns with regard to how the im-
plementation of the security system would affect employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment.

37 This fact is even more obvious when one considers that the Re-
spondent here never implemented the Lytx security system in any man-
ner affecting the terms and conditions of employment of any trucks 
driven by unit employees.  Indeed, although my colleagues protest that 
it makes no difference, they cannot cite a single case where the Board 
has found that a respondent failed to provide sufficient notice and oppor-
tunity to bargain, or failed and refused to bargain, when the record estab-
lishes that the party actually bargained with the Union over the proposed 

subject and reached a tentative agreement with the Union 
before any cameras were “implemented.”  It is simply ab-
surd to find an unlawful refusal to bargain on these facts.37    

It also bears emphasis that there is no indication that the 
bargaining over the possible future implementation of the 
Lytx security system in the unit employees’ trucks, includ-
ing the installation of that system and related devices in 
the unit employees’ trucks, was impaired in any way be-
cause it took place in September and not sooner.38  To the 
contrary, the MOU contained significant concessions that 
addressed the Union’s earlier-expressed concerns.  
Among other things, the MOU confirmed that the system 
was not for the purpose of routine employee surveillance, 
stated that information from the cameras could only be 
used for counseling, coaching, or discipline “consistent 
with provisions in the Employee Handbook,” acknowl-
edged that information from the system could be used to 
exonerate employees accused of any infraction, and 
agreed to provide the Union with a copy of any recording 
used to discipline an employee.  There is no record evi-
dence that the Union is dissatisfied with the terms of the 
MOU, nor any evidence that its bargaining position was 
impaired because the negotiations took place when they 
did.

Because I agree with the region’s initial finding that the 
Respondent did not violate the Act by failing and refusing 
to bargain with the Union over the possible future imple-
mentation of the Lytx security system in light of the Un-
ion’s failure to respond to the Respondent’s offer to con-
tinue discussing the matter, the question whether the Re-
spondent had any duty to bargain over those issues has no 
bearing whatsoever on the outcome of this case.  Simi-
larly, given that there is no evidence that the Respondent 
unilaterally implemented any change in the unit employ-
ees’ terms and conditions of employment without bargain-
ing with the Union, the question of whether or not the con-
tract would have privileged the Respondent’s conduct if it 
had implemented a unilateral change has no bearing what-
soever on the outcome of this case.  Accordingly, despite 
their protests to the contrary, my colleagues’ discussion of 
these issues and the related overruling of MV Transporta-
tion is nothing more than non-binding, nonprecedential 
dicta.39  Nevertheless, I participated in MV Transportation 

changes to employees’ terms and conditions of employment before im-
plementing those changes, and there is no allegation that the bargaining 
was conducted in bad faith.  Nor can my colleagues cite a case where the 
Board found a violation where the General Counsel’s complaint only al-
leged a failure to bargain over an “implementation” of changes to em-
ployees’ terms and conditions of employment but no implementation oc-
curred. 

38 The General Counsel never amended her complaint to include an 
allegation that the Respondent violated the Act by unlawfully delaying 
bargaining. 

39 As in court decisions, analyses in Board decisions are dicta where 
they are not necessary to decide the case at issue. See Hospital Metro-
politano, 373 NLRB No. 89, slip op. at 8 (2024) (observing that the 
Board’s statement in an earlier case “is not necessary to the holding [in 
that case] . . . but rather is dicta”); see also Allied Mechanical Services v. 
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and adhere to the principles stated there.  As I now explain, 
none of the justifications my colleagues have given for 
purportedly overruling it has any merit.     

II.  ALTHOUGH THE CONTRACT COVERAGE STANDARD IS 

NOT RELEVANT TO THIS CASE, IT BEST EFFECTUATES THE 

POLICIES OF THE ACT

The Supreme Court has instructed that provisions in a 
collective-bargaining agreement must be interpreted ac-
cording to ordinary principles of contract interpretation.  
In M & G Polymers USA, 574 U.S. 427, 435 (2015), the 
Court stated:

We interpret collective-bargaining agreements . . . ac-
cording to ordinary principles of contract law, at least 
when those principles are not inconsistent with federal 
labor policy. In this endeavor, as with any other contract, 
the parties' intentions control. Where the words of a con-
tract in writing are clear and unambiguous, its meaning 
is to be ascertained in accordance with its plainly ex-
pressed intent. 

(internal citations and quotations omitted).  And that is what 
the contract coverage standard does.  See MV Transportation,
slip op. at 11 (finding that, under contract coverage standard, 
“the Board will give effect to the plain meaning of the rele-
vant contractual language, applying ordinary principles of 
contract interpretation”); accord Wilkes-Barre Hospital Co., 
LLC v. NLRB, 857 F.3d 364, 373, 376 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (find-
ing that contract coverage standard applies “ordinary princi-
ples of contract law” and gives “full effect to the plain mean-
ing of” contract language, including a management rights 
provision).40  The contract coverage standard is therefore 
consistent with long-standing precedent establishing that 
courts, not the Board, have primary jurisdiction to interpret 
collective-bargaining agreements.  See, e.g., Litton Financial 
Printing Division v. NLRB, 501 U.S. 190, 202 (1991) (declin-
ing to afford deference to the Board’s interpretation of a col-
lective-bargaining agreement because “[a]rbitrators and 
courts are still the principal sources of contract interpreta-
tion”); see also MV Transportation, slip op. at 6–7.

The contract coverage standard also properly recog-
nizes that management-rights provisions are a standard in-
dustrial practice that serves the interests of employers, em-
ployees, and unions alike.  See NLRB v. American Na-
tional Insurance Co., 343 U.S. 395, 407–409 (1952) 
(holding that an employer’s insistence on a broad manage-
ment-rights provision is not a per se violation of the Act); 

NLRB, 668 F.3d 758, 768 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (recognizing a statement that 
“is unnecessary to the decision” is “dicta”); NLRB v. Master Slack, 773 
F.2d 77, 82 (6th Cir. 1985) (holding that judge's finding “was not essen-
tial to either his order or the Board’s order; it was mere dicta”); NLRB v. 
Browning-Ferris Industries, 691 F.2d 1117, 1123 (3d Cir. 1982) (finding 
joint employer analysis to be dicta where the employers were found to 
be a single employer).

40 Ordinary principles of contract law include a number of interpretive 
canons, and the contract coverage standard applies those too.  See 
Conoco Inc. v. NLRB, 91 F.3d 1523, 1527 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (finding that 

Rescar, Inc., 274 NLRB 1, 2 (1985) (“[I]t is not a violation 
for an employer to bargain for [a management-rights] pro-
vision[] . . . any more than it would be for a union to bar-
gain for provisions favorable to it.”).  Employers could not 
successfully operate their businesses if every decision that 
affected terms and conditions of employment had to be in-
dividually bargained to impasse or agreement before the 
employer could act.  Employees share an interest in the 
success of their employer’s business, as the Act “seeks to 
strengthen, rather than to weaken, that cooperation, conti-
nuity of service and cordial contractual relation between 
employer and employee that is born of loyalty to their 
common enterprise.”  NLRB v. Electrical Workers Local 
1229 (Jefferson Standard), 346 U.S. 464, 472 (1953).  

Consistent with these principles, the Supreme Court has 
held that

[w]hether a contract should contain a clause fixing 
standards for such matters as work scheduling or should 
provide for more flexible treatment of such matters is an 
issue for determination across the bargaining table, not 
by the Board. If the latter approach is agreed upon, the 
extent of union and management participation in the ad-
ministration of such matters is itself a condition of em-
ployment to be settled by bargaining.  

NLRB v. American National Insurance Co., 343 U.S. at 409.  
The contract coverage standard respects that principle by in-
terpreting management-rights provisions using ordinary prin-
ciples of contract interpretation.  That standard focuses on the 
intent of the parties, consistent with the Court’s holding that 
management-rights provisions are “an issue for determina-
tion across the bargaining table, not by the Board.”  Id.

The Board routinely applies ordinary principles of con-
tract interpretation when determining the scope of an em-
ployer’s contractual obligations.  The courts do too, even 
in cases where the Board would have applied a different 
standard.  See PG Publishing, Inc. v. NLRB, 83 F.4th 200, 
204 (3d Cir. 2023) (observing that “[t]he proper mode of 
analysis requires application of ordinary contract princi-
ples to the expired CBA to determine whether the parties 
intended” that a condition of employment end with the ex-
piration of the agreement); Finley Hospital v. NLRB, 827 
F.3d 720 (8th Cir. 2016) (same).  As the Board noted in 
MV Transportation, contractual obligations are typically 
agreed to through the give-and-take of negotiations in 
which the union consents to provisions granting the em-
ployer the right to take certain actions without further 

“a specific provision in a [contract] will control over a generalized pro-
vision in a management rights clause”), denying enf. to 318 NLRB 60 
(1995); Regal Cinemas, Inc. v. NLRB, 317 F.3d 300, 313 (D.C. Cir. 2003) 
(“[T]he canon of ejusdem generis (of the same kind or class) counsels 
against . . . reading [a] general phrase to include conduct wholly unlike 
that specified in the immediately preceding list of prohibited acts.”) (in-
ternal quotation omitted), enfg. 334 NLRB 304 (2001); IBEW Local 43 
v. NLRB, 9 F.4th 63, 75 (2d Cir. 2021) (noting that “specific terms and 
exact terms are given greater weight than general language”), remanding 
371 NLRB No. 110 (2022).  
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bargaining.  Applying the same standard when determin-
ing the scope of those rights promotes the collective bar-
gaining process by ensuring that both parties receive the 
benefit of their bargain. MV Transportation, slip op. at 6.  

The contract coverage standard also conforms to the 
Congressional policy of free collective bargaining, under 
which “the Board may not, either directly or indirectly, 
compel concessions or otherwise sit in judgment upon the 
substantive terms of collective bargaining agreements.”  
See American National Insurance, 343 U.S. at 404.  Ap-
plying a more restrictive standard to management rights 
provisions, in contrast, would necessarily represent a 
“judgment” that they are disfavored, a power the Board 
does not have.  See MV Transportation, slip op. at 4.

In addition, the contract coverage standard properly bal-
ances the statutory policy of “encouraging the practice and 
procedure of collective bargaining” with the intent of Con-
gress to stabilize collective bargaining agreements during 
their term.  After all, Congress intended collective bar-
gaining to be “a process that looked to the ordering of the 
parties’ industrial relationship through the formation of a 
contract.”  NLRB v. Insurance Agents’ International Un-
ion, 361 U.S. 477, 485 (1960).  Section 8(d) of the Act 
codifies Congress’ intent to stabilize agreements by im-
posing multiple requirements on any party that seeks to 
modify or terminate them.  MV Transportation, slip op. at 
5.  Section 8(d) was added to the Act in 1947 for the ex-
press purpose of repudiating Board decisions holding that 
an employer was under a continuous duty to bargain even 
over matters that were covered by the contract.41  It would 
contravene that principle to hold that even where a change 
is covered by a provision in a collective-bargaining agree-
ment an employer must nevertheless bargain over it.42

41 See NLRB v. Jacobs Mfg., 196 F.2d 680, 683 (2d Cir. 1952).
Sec. 8(d) relevantly provides that the duty to bargain “shall not be 

construed as requiring either party to discuss or agree to any modification 
of the terms and conditions contained in a contract for a fixed period, if 
such modification is to become effective before such terms and condi-
tions can be reopened under the provisions of the contract.”

42 Indeed, my colleagues’ attempt to apply the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard to the instant case demonstrates how that standard serves 
to deny parties the benefit of their bargains.  Here, Art. III of the parties’
contract unequivocally authorizes the Respondent “to make shop rules 
and regulations, to create new jobs, develop new processes, and imple-
ment changes in equipment.”  In dicta, my colleagues conclude that this 
provision “lacks the degree of specificity required to constitute a clear 
and unmistakable waiver of the Union’s right to bargain over the instal-
lation and use of cameras to monitor and potentially discipline the unit 
employees” because it “does not refer in any way to video and audio 
monitoring or the surveillance of employees.  It also makes no specific 
reference to the use of video or audio recordings as a basis for disciplin-
ing or coaching employees.”  Of course, Art. III did not make any “spe-
cific reference” to any other type of equipment either.  Taken at face 
value, then, the majority has interpreted a clause stating that the 

III. THE MAJORITY’S DICTA FAILS TO PROVIDE A 

COMPELLING JUSTIFICATION FOR OVERRULING MV 

TRANSPORTATION IN A FUTURE APPROPRIATE CASE

In dicta, my colleagues explain why they believe that 
the “clear and unmistakable waiver” standard is preferable 
to the contract coverage standard.  Under the former stand-
ard, provisions granting an employer discretion to make 
changes in terms and conditions of employment are 
deemed ineffective unless the provision “unequivocally 
and specifically” expresses the parties’ “mutual intention 
to permit unilateral employer action with respect to a par-
ticular employment term.” Provena St. Joseph Medical 
Center, 350 NLRB 808, 811 (2007).  The waiver standard, 
however, expressly refuses to give effect to the intent of 
the parties as determined by applying ordinary principles 
of contract law.  Id. at 814 (“The waiver standard, how-
ever, does not involve merely [sic] a question of contract 
interpretation, in the sense of determining what the con-
tract means and whether it has been breached.  Rather, the 
waiver standard reflects the Board’s interpretation of the 
statutory duty to bargain during the term of an existing 
agreement.”)  Therefore, even though, as I have discussed, 
the courts have established that collective-bargaining 
agreements are to be interpreted consistent with common 
law principles, the waiver standard ignores that clear di-
rective.43

My colleagues cite no intervening development as jus-
tification for their view that MV Transportation should be 
overruled in a future appropriate case.  The majority 
claims that “the contract coverage standard creates an es-
cape hatch for employers to avoid their bargaining obliga-
tions during the term of a collective-bargaining agree-
ment,” but they cite no case in which the application of 
that standard led to such an outcome.  The Board has ap-
plied MV Transportation in at least six cases, but the ma-
jority does not claim, much less show, that any of those
decisions reached a result that was unreasonable in their 
view.44  Nor has any court so much as questioned the MV 

Respondent has the right “to implement changes in equipment” to in fact 
mean that “the Respondent does not have the right to implement changes 
in any equipment.”  Under my colleagues’ reasoning, unions are free, as 
part of the give and take of negotiating, to grant employers the right to 
effect certain changes but then are free to revoke the employer’s benefit 
of the bargain should the employer ever attempt to assert the right 
granted to them.  Not only is this an unreasonable interpretation of the 
agreement before us, but affording one party the ability to ignore a pro-
vision contained in the parties’ contract is usually viewed as a mid-term 
modification, not as a valid interpretation of the parties’ contract. It is 
that result, not the contract coverage standard, that undermines, “the 
Act's fundamental policy of encouraging . . . the procedure of collective 
bargaining to reduce industrial strife.”  

43 Even so, the majority defends the waiver standard on the basis that 
it “protect[s] employees from unilateral changes in mandatory subjects 
of bargaining as to which no mutual understanding was reached.”  In 
determining whether a “mutual understanding was reached,” courts ap-
ply ordinary principles of contract law.  There is no valid basis for the 
majority’s claim that those principles are insufficient for that purpose. 

44 Twinbrook OPCO, LLC, 373 NLRB No. 6, slip op. at 2–3 (2023); 
ExxonMobil Research & Engineering Co., 372 NLRB No. 138, slip op. 
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Transportation standard.  Indeed, the Second Circuit ap-
proved MV Transportation as “thorough and carefully rea-
soned.”  Electrical Workers IBEW Local 43 v. NLRB, 9 
F.4th at 72. 

Instead, my colleagues defend their position by assert-
ing that replacing the contract coverage standard with the 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard respects the statu-
tory policy favoring collective bargaining.  Nothing could 
be further from the truth. Respect for the statutory policy 
favoring collective bargaining inherently includes respect 
for the final product of the parties’ collective bargaining.  
Put another way, I do not see how the Board is encourag-
ing parties to reach agreement through collective bargain-
ing when, after that process is complete, the Board can 
step in after the fact and interpret a provision so that the 
parties’ agreement, as memorialized in writing and as an-
alyzed according to ordinary rules of contract interpreta-
tion, is overruled.    

In this regard, the clear and unmistakable waiver stand-
ard represents an irrebuttable presumption that a contract 
provision does not authorize unilateral action unless it 
does so with exacting specificity.  But the validity of any 
Board-adopted presumption “depends upon the rationality 
between what is proved and what is inferred.”  Republic 
Aviation Corp. v. NLRB, 324 U.S. 793, 805 (1945); see 
also NLRB v. Baptist Hospital, 442 U.S. 773, 787 (1979) 
(“It is, of course, settled law that a presumption adopted 
and applied by the Board must rest on a sound factual con-
nection between the proved and inferred facts.”).  The 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard fails that test.  
There is no “sound factual connection” between the fact 
that a management-rights provision grants an employer 
the authority to act unilaterally in general terms and the 
inference that the parties therefore did not intend it to have 
any effect in specific situations.45  

The Supreme Court rejected a similar judicially-crafted 
presumption in M & G Polymers.  There, the Court re-
jected the Sixth Circuit’s presumption that retiree health 
care benefits are vested.  As the Court observed, that 

at 4 (2023); Hospital de la Conception, 371 NLRB No. 155 (2022), enfd. 
106 F.4th 69 (D.C. Cir. 2024); Michigan Bell Telephone Co., 369 NLRB 
No. 124, slip op. at 2–3 (2020); ABF Freight System, Inc., 369 NLRB 
No. 107, slip op. at 3 (2020); Huber Specialty Hydrates, LLC, 369 NLRB 
No. 32, slip op. at 3 (2020).

45 The majority asserts that the waiver standard cannot be character-
ized as an irrebuttable presumption because it is an affirmative defense.  
The majority cites no precedent to support this semantic wordplay and 
for good reason.  The fact that the waiver standard is applied to evaluate 
an affirmative defense does not change the fact that it constitutes an irre-
buttable presumption that a contract does not authorize unilateral action 
unless it does so with explicit precision.  

46 The majority acknowledges, as they must, that “ordinary principles 
of contract law are not the only consideration” under the waiver standard.  
This view, however, is in conflict with the clear directive in M & G Pol-
ymers to interpret collective-bargaining agreements using those princi-
ples.  In fact, the waiver standard’s demand for exacting specificity ef-
fectively overrides ordinary principles of contract law to the extent that 
the waiver standard considers them at all.  

presumption had no basis in ordinary principles of con-
tract law, distorted the inquiry into the intent of the parties, 
and improperly “derived its assessment of likely behavior 
not from record evidence, but instead from [the court’s] 
own suppositions about the intentions of employees, un-
ions, and employers negotiating retiree benefits.”  574 
U.S. at 438–439.  The Court also emphasized that 
“[a]lthough a court may look to known customs or usages 
in a particular industry to determine the meaning of a con-
tract, the parties must prove those customs or usages using 
affirmative evidentiary support in a given case.”  Id. at 
439.  

Like the Sixth Circuit presumption condemned by the 
Court in M & G Polymers, the waiver standard’s presump-
tion is not based on any record evidence of industrial bar-
gaining practices in this or any other case.  Rather, the pre-
sumption is based on the Board’s “own supposition[]” that 
employers and unions intend management-rights provi-
sions to have no meaning unless they address a disputed 
change in specific terms.  M & G Polymers, 574 U.S. at 
439.  As a result, the waiver standard “violates ordinary 
contract principles by placing a thumb on the scale” and 
“distorts the attempt to ascertain the intention of the par-
ties.”  Id. at 438 (internal quotations omitted).  As the 
Court recognized, “[i]n this endeavor, as with any other 
contract, the parties’ intentions control.”  Id. at 435 (inter-
nal quotation omitted).  Because the waiver standard con-
tradicts the Supreme Court’s holding in M & G Polymers, 
it cannot stand.46

C & C Plywood, 385 U.S. 421 (1967), on which the ma-
jority principally relies, does not compel a different result.  
There, the Board applied the clear and unmistakable 
waiver standard to interpret a contractual provision grant-
ing an employer the “right to pay a premium rate over and 
above the contractual classified wage rate to reward any 
particular employee” as not authorizing the employer’s 
unilateral institution of a premium pay rate to all members 
of a glue spreader crew.  See C & C Plywood, 148 NLRB 
414–417 (1964), enf. denied 351 F.2d 224 (9th Cir. 1965).  

Undeterred, my colleagues vainly seek to square their decision today 
with M & G Polymers by asserting that M & G Polymers was not an 
unfair labor practice case.  But the dispositive issue under both the waiver 
and contract coverage standards is how the Board should interpret a col-
lective-bargaining agreement to determine the intent of the parties.  And 
M & G Polymers does speak to that.  

Nor is there any merit to the majority’s claim that M & G Polymers is 
inapplicable because the application of ordinary principles of contract 
interpretation by the Board would contravene federal labor policy.  See 
M & G Polymers USA, 574 U.S. at 435 (stating that “[w]e interpret col-
lective-bargaining agreements . . . according to ordinary principles of 
contract law, at least when those principles are not inconsistent with fed-
eral labor policy”) (emphasis added).  Instead, the application of ordi-
nary principles of contract law is consistent with federal labor policy for 
the reasons I have already explained.  Indeed, federal labor policy re-
quires their application, as the District of Columbia, First, and Seventh 
Circuits have repeatedly held.  See also PG Publishing, Inc. v. NLRB, 83 
F.4th 200 (applying ordinary contract principles to interpret expired col-
lective-bargaining agreement); Finley Hospital v. NLRB, 827 F.3d 720 
(8th Cir. 2016) (same).
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The Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider a limited 
question—whether “the Board is without power to decide 
any case involving the interpretation of a labor contract.”  
385 U.S. at 427.  Answering that question, the Court held 
that the Board has the authority to interpret collective-bar-
gaining agreements to the extent necessary to resolve un-
fair labor practice cases.  Id. at 426–428.  To be sure, the 
Court affirmed the Board’s interpretation of the contrac-
tual provision at issue and the Board applied a clear and 
unmistakable waiver standard.  But the Court’s ultimate 
task in C & C Plywood “was [to determine] whether the 
Board has the authority to interpret collective-bargaining 
agreements, not how the Board should do so.”  MV Trans-
portation, slip op. at 10.  

Moreover, the Court’s own brief examination of the 
contract language at issue in C & C Plywood refutes my 
colleagues’ assertion that the Supreme Court has required 
the level of specificity and precision that the clear and un-
mistakable waiver standard requires.  To the contrary, the 
Court observed that “the disputed contract provision re-
ferred to increases for ‘particular employee(s),’ not groups 
of workers” and that “there was nothing in it to suggest 
that the carefully worked out wage differentials for vari-
ous members of the glue spreader crew could be invali-
dated by the respondent’s decision to pay all members of 
the crew the same wage.”  C & C Plywood, 385 U.S. at 
431.  This analysis closely tracks the ordinary principles 
of contract interpretation applied under the contract cov-
erage standard.47  

C & C Plywood, moreover, must also be understood in 
light of subsequent Supreme Court precedent holding that 
federal courts have the primary authority to interpret col-
lective-bargaining agreements and that collective-bargain-
ing agreements must be interpreted using ordinary princi-
ples of contract law.  M & G Polymers, 574 U.S. at 435 
(discussing application of ordinary principles of contract 
law); Litton Financial Printing Division, 501 U.S. at 202-
203 (holding courts have primary jurisdiction over con-
tract interpretation).  For all of these reasons, C&C Ply-
wood simply cannot bear the weight the majority places 
on it.  

This conclusion is reinforced by the C & C Plywood
Court’s citation to Archibald Cox, The Legal Nature of 
Collective Bargaining Agreements, 57 Mich.L.Rev. 1 
(1958).  See 385 U.S. at 430.  That article espouses the 
importance of applying ordinary principles of contract in-
terpretation to the interpretation of collective-bargaining 

47 See cases cited in footnote 44, supra.
48 Contrary to the majority’s suggestion, the C & C Plywood Court’s

observation that “the law of labor agreements cannot be based upon ab-
stract definitions unrelated to the contract in which the parties’ bar-
gained” does not support the level of specificity and precision that the 
clear and unmistakable waiver standard requires.  See 385 U.S. at 430.

49 Metropolitan Edison Co. v. NLRB, 460 U.S. 693 (1983) (holding 
that employer violated Sec. 8(a)(3) of the Act when it disciplined union 
officials more severely than its other employees for engaging in a work 
stoppage that violated a no-strike clause); Mastro Plastics Corp. v. 

agreements, denounces the use of a waiver analysis for 
contract interpretation purposes, acknowledges “that 
many provisions of the labor agreement must be expressed 
in general and flexible terms,” and that “[m]anagement 
and labor are certainly free to bring some areas of mutual 
concern under the regime of collective bargaining and to 
assign others exclusively to management.”  Cox, supra at 
4, 16–19, 23, 32.  The article continues, “[t]his is true as a 
matter of legal theory, and the freedom is exercised as a 
matter of practical living” and that “[e]ven a vague man-
agement-functions clause suggests that the boundaries [of 
the matters subject to bargaining] may be narrower than 
under a contract without it.”  Id. at 32, 35-36.  The C & C 
Plywood Court cited that article as an illustration of the 
context in which collective-bargaining agreements are ne-
gotiated and those observations support a contract cover-
age approach far more readily than they do a waiver anal-
ysis.48  

To be sure, the Supreme Court has held that a collective-
bargaining agreement may not properly be construed to 
waive employees’ rights under Section 8(a)(3) of the Act 
unless it does so in specific terms.49  The majority posits 
that the same standard should apply in determining 
whether a union has “waived” its right to bargain under 
Section 8(a)(5).  But that is simply not the case where, as 
here, the issue is solely whether the disputed action is an 
unlawful unilateral change.  As the D.C. Circuit has re-
peatedly noted, “when a contract’s terms cover a manda-
tory subject of bargaining, the contract represents the re-
sult of the union’s exercise of its bargaining rights. . . .  An 
employer cannot be deemed to have ‘refuse[d] to bargain 
collectively,’ 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(5), over a particular sub-
ject when it has bargained over that subject matter and me-
morialized the results in a contract.”  Honeywell Interna-
tional Inc. v. NLRB, 253 F.3d 119, 124 (D.C. Cir. 2001).  
Rather, “[w]hen an ‘employer acts pursuant to a claim of 
right under the parties’ agreement, the resolution of the re-
fusal to bargain charge rests on an interpretation of the 
contract at issue.’”  Id. (quoting NLRB v. Postal Service, 8 
F.3d 832, 837 (D.C. Cir.1993)).  For these reasons, the 
question of whether an employer has satisfied its duty to 
bargain by entering into a collective-bargaining agreement 
does stand on a different footing, for contract interpreta-
tion purposes, than the question of whether a particular 
contract provision waives rights under other provisions of 
the Act.50

NLRB, 350 U.S. 270, 281-284 (1956) (holding that no-strike clause did 
not waive employees’ right to engage in an unfair labor practice strike).  

50 The cases cited by the majority are not to the contrary, as none of 
these cases involved the question of whether a disputed unilateral change 
was authorized by a collective-bargaining agreement.  See, e.g., 14 Penn
Plaza LLC v. Pyett, 556 U.S. 247, 252, 260 (2009) (enforcing a contrac-
tual provision waiving a union’s statutory right to a judicial forum for an 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) claim, where the pro-
vision stated, “all [ADEA] claims shall be subject to the grievance and 
arbitration procedure . . . as the sole and exclusive remedy for 
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Of course, a collective-bargaining agreement cannot 
reasonably be read to authorize an employer’s action if it 
is truly silent as to the disputed issue under any standard 
of interpretation.  That was the case in Tide Water Associ-
ated Oil Co., 85 NLRB 1096 (1949), cited by the majority 
as an early example of the Board’s analysis that ripened 
into the clear and unmistakable waiver standard.  There, 
the Board rejected an employer’s argument that its refusal 
to bargain with a union over its pension plan (the Retire-
ment Allowance Plan) was lawful based on the “Manage-
ment Functions” clause of the parties’ agreement.  That 
clause provided that the “management of the Refinery and 
the direction of the working forces and the operations at 
the Refinery, including the hiring, promotion, demotion, 
transferring and retiring of Employees . . . are the exclu-
sive functions of the Management of the Company.”  Id. 
at 1098 fn. 4.  As the trial examiner properly recognized, 
the reference to “retiring of Employees” simply gave the
employer “the right to determine when an employee’s ser-
vices shall be terminated because of age.”  Id. at 1121.  
Otherwise, the contract said nothing about the terms of 
any pension plan that governed the benefits to be paid to 
such an employee upon retirement, much less whether the 
employer had a duty to bargain over those terms.51  Id. at 
1098.  

Although the Board’s analysis of the contractual issue 
in Tide Water concluded that there was no “specific 
waiver of the [u]nion’s right to bargain on the Retirement 
Allowance Plan,” it cannot be disputed that the contract at 
issue was entirely silent on the subject matter at issue.  

violations”); Wright v. Universal Maritime Service Corp., 525 U.S. 70, 
79–82, (1998) (finding no waiver of employees’ right to a judicial forum 
for employment discrimination claims where a clause required arbitra-
tion of “[m]atters under dispute” but contained no mention of any anti-
discrimination statutes); Livadas v. Bradshaw, 512 U.S. 107, 125 (1994) 
(stating, in dicta, that a union’s purported waiver of state law protections 
would have to be clear and unmistakable before a court could even con-
sider whether to give it effect); and Lingle v. Norge Division of Magic 
Chef, Inc., 486 U.S. 399, 409 fn. 9 (1988) (same).

51 A separate section of the “Management Functions” clause provided, 
“[t]his Agreement shall in no way affect the operation of, or the status of 
any Employee with respect to, any welfare or benefit plan of the Com-
pany . . . that may be in effect during the term hereof.  Such plans at the 
present time are . . . the Retirement Allowance Plan.”  Id. at 1098 fn. 4.  
Although this provision did mention the pension plan, it did not state that 
the employer had any right to act unilaterally with respect to it.  It merely 
provided that the contract did not “affect the operation of” the plan.  If 
anything, that provision confirmed that the parties had not contractually 
agreed that the employer could act unilaterally with respect to the plan.

52 My colleagues contend that “the employer in Tide Water, like the 
Respondent in this case, argued that its unilateral conduct was privileged 
by a management-rights clause.”  One problem with that contention, of 
course, is that the Respondent in the instant case did not engage in any 
“unilateral conduct” that affected employees' terms and conditions of 
employment without bargaining with the Union.  But putting that aside-
-assuming that one can put aside the determinative fact in a case--it could 
not be more clear that the contract language and bargaining history at 
issue in Tide Water are different from those present here.  To begin, the 
management-rights clause in Tide Water was written after the respondent 
had attempted, and failed, to reach agreement with the union on making 
revisions to the pension plan at issue.  In addition, the Board correctly 

Absent any contractual sanction for the refusal to bargain, 
then, the issue was one of waiver.  Accord MV Transpor-
tation, slip op. at 12 (holding that the waiver standard ap-
plies when a contract does not cover a unilateral change).  
In sum, Tide Water provides no support for the majority’s 
insistence that a management-rights provision that does
refer to the type of change at issue must be deemed inef-
fective unless it does so with the level of specificity that 
the clear and unmistakable waiver standard requires.52

According to the majority’s own history of the clear and 
unmistakable waiver standard, then, it has evolved from a 
(reasonable) insistence that contractual authority cannot 
be inferred from contractual silence in Tide Water Oil to 
an (unreasonable) insistence that contractual authority re-
quires exacting specificity even where the contract is not 
silent in Provena—such that even a contractual right to 
make changes in “equipment” is insufficient because no 
specific type of equipment is specified.  My colleagues 
cite no case in which the Board has even acknowledged 
this shift, much less any valid justification for it.  Accord-
ingly, this appears to be another instance of what the D.C. 
Circuit has described as “a familiar phenomenon" for the 
Board.  Stern Produce, 97 F.4th at 11 (internal quotations 
omitted).  Specifically, the court noted that “years ago the 
Board took an expansive view of the scope of the Act and 
then, over time, it presse[d] the rationale of that expansion 
to the limits of its logic.  The Board then focused its anal-
ysis here not on the statutory text—the ‘authoritative 
source of the law’—but on its own constructions of (its 
own constructions of) the Act.”  Id. (citations omitted).   

found that the contract in Tide Water did not contain any language that 
could be reasonably read as granting the respondent the right to unilater-
ally revise the employees’ pension plan.  By contrast, the language in the 
contract at issue here expressly grants the Respondent the right both to 
“implement changes in equipment,” which could reasonably be read to 
include the installation of new camera equipment, and the right to make 
“changes . . . or improvements . . . in the interest of improved methods 
and product,” which again could be reasonably read to cover the instal-
lation of the cameras.  

It is clear that my colleagues view the difference in the management-
rights clauses in Tide Water and the instant case as a distinction without 
a difference.  Throughout the decision, they talk about, and cite cases 
referring to, issues “on which the contract is silent.”  In my view, con-
tracts are silent when they cannot be reasonably read as covering the area 
at issue.  Apparently, my colleagues’ view is that, even when the parties 
have included language in a management-rights clause that would be rea-
sonably read to grant the employer the right to act unilaterally, the con-
tract is “silent” unless the right to act in a certain way is specifically and 
precisely articulated.  This simply cannot be right, however.  For exam-
ple, let’s assume parties include a sentence in the management-rights 
clause granting the employer the right to “recognize employee achieve-
ments” during the term of the contract.  Under my colleagues’ logic, the 
employer would be violating the Act by unilaterally giving an employee
a plaque because the contract did not include a provision expressly al-
lowing the employer to give out plaques.  Perhaps this is my colleagues’
intent:  to eliminate the ability of employers to exercise the rights af-
forded to them in management-rights clauses that the parties bargained 
over and approved.  Not only do I believe this is bad policy, but I do not 
believe that there is a chance it will survive judicial review.  
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The majority gains no ground insofar as they claim to 
be interpreting the statutory duty to bargain rather than the 
language of the contract.  Congress has already defined the 
duty to bargain in Section 8(d) of the Act.53  Although Sec-
tion 8(d) requires both parties to execute “a written con-
tract incorporating any agreement reached if requested by 
either party,” it does not require that the parties’ “written 
contract” address the subject of management rights or any 
other subject with specificity in order for it to have legal 
effect.  And the Board lacks the authority to expand on the 
definition of the duty to bargain as provided by Congress.  
Efforts by the Board to do so in the past have been roundly 
rejected.  See H. K. Porter Co. v. NLRB, 397 U.S. 99, 102 
(1970) (holding that the Board lacked the authority to in-
terpret the duty to bargain as requiring an employer to 
agree to dues checkoff provision); NLRB v. Insurance 
Agents’ International Union, 361 U.S. at 487 (holding that 
the Board lacked the authority to interpret the duty to bar-
gain as prohibiting the use of certain forms of economic 
pressure to enforce a party’s demands); American Na-
tional Insurance, 343 U.S. at 404 (holding that the Board 
lacked the authority to interpret the duty to bargain as pro-
hibiting insistence on management rights provisions).  I 
believe the Board should learn from that experience.  In-
stead, in their dicta, the majority doubles down.54

The Act is designed to promote a “policy of free collec-
tive bargaining. . . .  [T]he parties’ agreement primarily 
determines their relationship. . . .  If the parties’ agreement 
specifically resolves a particular issue, the courts cannot 
substitute a different resolution.”  Carbon Fuel Co. v. 
UMWA, 444 U.S. 212, 218–219 (1979).  That principle 
applies with equal force to management-rights provisions, 
as the Supreme Court has squarely held.  See NLRB v. 
American National Insurance Co., 343 U.S. at 409 
(“Whether a contract should contain a clause fixing stand-
ards for such matters as work scheduling or should provide 
for more flexible treatment of such matters is an issue for 
determination across the bargaining table, not by the 
Board.”). The contract coverage standard respects that 
principle, while the waiver standard explicitly rejects it.  
The waiver standard also subverts the Congressional pol-
icy in favor of stabilizing collective-bargaining agree-
ments by increasing the circumstances in which parties 

53 Sec. 8(d) relevantly provides that “to bargain collectively is the per-
formance of the mutual obligation of the employer and the representative 
of the employees to meet at reasonable times and confer in good faith 
with respect to wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employ-
ment, or the negotiation of an agreement, or any question arising there-
under, and the execution of a written contract incorporating any agree-
ment reached if requested by either party.”

54 Contrary to the majority’s representation, cases that address the 
scope of the duty to bargain over proposals that grant an employer dis-
cretion over terms and conditions of employment have no bearing on 
how those provisions should be interpreted once lawful agreement is 
reached.  See, e.g., Altura Communication Solutions, LLC, 369 NLRB 
No. 85 (2020) (finding bad-faith bargaining in part on the basis of pro-
posals granting employer unilateral control over wide range of employ-
ment terms), enfd. 848 Fed.Appx. 344 (9th Cir. 2021); McClatchy 

would be required to engage in mid-term bargaining.  As 
the Board recognized in Provena, and the majority reiter-
ates today, the waiver standard results in more midterm 
bargaining not less.  My colleagues may view this as good 
policy, but Congress has made a different choice.  See MV 
Transportation, slip op. at 5.  

The waiver standard is also in tension with Section 
8(d)(4) of the Act.  Section 8(d)(4) relevantly states that 
the statutory duty to bargain “shall not be construed as re-
quiring either party to discuss or agree to any modification 
of the terms and conditions contained in a contract for a 
fixed period, if such modification is to become effective 
before such terms and conditions can be reopened under 
the provisions of the contract.”  Obviously, a manage-
ment-rights clause is a term and condition of employment
“contained in a contract.”  Requiring an employer, during 
the term of the agreement, to bargain over an action that is 
covered by that clause, on the premise that the clause does 
not explicitly address the action, flies in the face of the 
admonition that such discussions are not required.    

Jacobs Mfg. Co., 94 NLRB 1214 (1951), enfd. 196 F.2d 
680 (2d Cir. 1952), cited by the majority, is not to the con-
trary.  There, the Board held that Section 8(d) did not ab-
solve the employer of its statutory obligation to bargain 
over the subject of pensions during the term of the parties’ 
agreement because the contract was silent on the issue of 
pensions.  Id. at 1217.  As the majority notes, the Second 
Circuit held that Section 8(d) used “precise and explicit” 
language to limit the scope of the bargaining obligation 
but was not meant to “relieve[] an employer of the duty to 
bargain as to subjects which were neither discussed nor
embodied in any of the terms and conditions of the con-
tract.”  196 F.2d at 684 (emphasis added).  Nothing in that 
case, however, suggested that the court viewed Section 
8(d) as requiring a party to bargain over a subject matter—
here, the introduction of new equipment—that was dis-
cussed and was embodied in the parties’ contract.  Nor is 
there anything in Jacobs to suggest that subjects that are 
embodied in the parties’ contract in a management rights 
clause do not constitute subjects embodied in that contract 
for the purposes of Section 8(d).     

Newspapers, Inc., 321 NLRB 1386, 1390–1391 (1996) (finding em-
ployer could not lawfully implement discretionary merit pay proposal 
after bargaining to impasse) (footnotes and citations omitted), enfd. in 
pert. part 131 F.3d 1026 (D.C. Cir. 1997).  The same is true for decisions 
addressing the extent to which management-rights provisions survive 
contract expiration.  See Nexstar Broadcasting, Inc. d/b/a KOIN-TV, 369 
NLRB No. 61, slip op. at 2–3 (2020) (finding management-rights clause 
did not survive contract expiration as part of the statutory status quo ab-
sent an explicit agreement to the contrary), enfd. 4 F.4th 801, 811 (9th 
Cir. 2021).  The sole issue in those cases is the scope of the statutory duty 
to bargain, an issue over which the Board has primary jurisdiction.  But 
the Board does not have primary jurisdiction over issues of contract in-
terpretation.  Nor does it have the power to substitute its judgment of the 
meaning of contract provisions for the meaning that the parties intended, 
for all the reasons stated above.
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IV.  ABANDONMENT OF THE CONTRACT COVERAGE TEST IN 

FAVOR OF THE WAIVER STANDARD IN A FUTURE 

APPROPRIATE CASE WOULD RENDER ANY DECISION ISSUED 

BY THE BOARD APPLYING THAT STANDARD POTENTIALLY 

UNENFORCEABLE

In light of these compelling considerations, it is no won-
der that the First, Seventh, and D.C. Circuits have all re-
jected the waiver standard in favor of the contract cover-
age standard.  See Bath Marine Draftsmen’s Assn. v. 
NLRB, 475 F.3d 14, 25 (1st Cir. 2007) (“[W]e adopt the 
District of Columbia Circuit’s contract coverage test . . . 
.”); Chicago Tribune Co. v. NLRB, 974 F.2d 933, 937 (7th 
Cir. 1992) (“We agree, therefore, that ‘where the contract 
fully defines the parties’ rights as to what would otherwise 
be a mandatory subject of bargaining, it is incorrect to say 
that the union has ‘waived’ its statutory right to bargain; 
rather the contract will control and the ‘clear and unmis-
takable’ intent standard is irrelevant.’” (quoting Local Un-
ion No. 47 v. NLRB, 927 F.2d 635, 641 (D.C. Cir.1991));
NLRB v. Postal Service, 8 F.3d 832, 836 (D.C. Cir. 1993) 
(“[W]here the matter is covered by the collective bargain-
ing agreement, the union has exercised its bargaining right 
and the question of waiver is irrelevant.” (internal quota-
tion omitted)).55

My colleagues concede that the established law in these 
circuits has expressly rejected the “clear and unmistaka-
ble” waiver standard that they apparently intend to adopt 
in a future appropriate case.  Nevertheless, they contend, 
essentially, that those circuits are all wrong and have is-
sued decisions that are inconsistent with Supreme Court 
law.  With all due respect to my colleagues, I do not be-
lieve that the courts will view that argument favorably, nor 
would I want to be the agency attorney tasked with taking 
that position in oral argument in light of the D.C. Circuit’s 
clear rejection of the “clear and unmistakable waiver”
standard, longstanding adherence to the "contract cover-
age” standard, and recognition that the court owes no def-
erence to the Board in interpreting labor contracts.56  See 

55 I further note that the Second Circuit rejected the waiver standard 
in favor of a modified contract coverage standard in a case that issued 
prior to MV Transportation.   See Electrical Workers Local 36 v. NLRB, 
706 F.3d 73, 83–85 (2d Cir. 2013), cert. denied 573 U.S. 958 (2014).  
More recently, the Second Circuit has adopted the Board’s contract cov-
erage test, calling it “thorough and carefully reasoned.”  Electrical Work-
ers, 9 F.4th at 77.  It remains to be seen how that court will view the 
majority’s about-face in this case.   

56 Although the Respondent could seek review in the Sixth Circuit, I 
am assuming that it will seek review in the D.C. Circuit, where the law 
is most favorable to the Respondent’s position.  And, beyond the circuit 
courts, if my colleagues believe that their interpretation of Supreme 
Court precedent would survive review by that Court, I cannot say that I 
share their optimism.

57 Specifically, that case includes the following standard language:

Having found that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by 
failing and refusing to bargain with the Union in good faith during first 
contract negotiations, the judge recommended an affirmative bargain-
ing order to remedy this unlawful conduct.  For the reasons set forth in 
Caterair International, 322 NLRB 64 (1996), we agree that an 

NLRB v. Postal Service, 8 F.3d 832, 837 (D.C. Cir 1993) 
(citing Supreme Court law and concluding that the court 
“accord[s] no deference to the Board’s interpretation of 
labor contracts” because such deference “would risk the 
development of conflicting principles for interpreting col-
lective bargaining agreements”).

My colleagues also cite the fact that “aggrieved parties 
can and do seek review in various circuits,” that “the 
Board, too, is not limited to a single circuit in seeking en-
forcement,” and that “the Board thus cannot render its de-
cisions with an eye only to one particular circuit court's 
views.”  Although the first statement is true, I do not be-
lieve that there is anything in this dissent that is contrary 
to that assertion.  Indeed, my reasoning is based in large 
part on the fact that, because parties can choose which cir-
cuit in which to seek review, any respondent presumably 
will seek review in the circuit with the most favorable law.  
Accord Heartland Plymouth, 838 F.3d at 26 (“There is no 
reason to think that Heartland would seek appellate review 
in a circuit where it would almost certainly lose.”). But 
my colleagues’ suggestion that the Board “cannot render 
its decisions with an eye only to one particular circuit 
court’s views” is simply false.    

My colleagues are pointedly ignoring the critical fact 
that any party can seek review in the D.C. Circuit and, for 
that reason, the Board’s consideration of the law of that 
circuit is markedly different from the other circuits.  In-
deed, contrary to my colleagues’ assertion, the Board does
issue decisions with a “particular eye” to the law in the 
D.C. Circuit.  For example, the D.C. Circuit has estab-
lished that, in order for an affirmative bargaining order to 
be enforced, the Board must include a specific analysis de-
fending the order.  Accordingly, in light of D.C. Circuit 
law, the Board has made a point of including the analysis 
required by that court in cases ordering affirmative bar-
gaining orders.  My colleagues recently recognized this by 
including the analysis required by the D.C. Circuit in Co-
lumbus Electric Cooperative, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 89 
(2024).57  

affirmative bargaining order is warranted in this case as a remedy for 
the Respondent’s unlawful failure and refusal to bargain in good faith.  
The Board has consistently held that an affirmative bargaining order is 
“the traditional, appropriate remedy for an 8(a)(5) refusal to bargain 
with the lawful collective-bargaining representative of an appropriate 
unit of employees.”  Id. at 68.

In several cases, however, the United States Court of Appeals for the 
District of Columbia Circuit has required that the Board justify, on the 
facts of each case, the imposition of such an order.  See, e.g., Vincent 

Industrial Plastics v. NLRB, 209 F.3d 727, 738–740 (D.C. Cir. 2000); 
Lee Lumber & Building Material Corp. v. NLRB, 117 F.3d 1454, 1460–
1462 (D.C. Cir. 1997); Exxel/Atmos, Inc. v. NLRB, 28 F.3d 1243, 1248–
1249 (D.C. Cir. 1994).  In Vincent, supra, 209 F.3d at 738, the court 
summarized its requirement that an affirmative bargaining order “must 
be justified by a reasoned analysis that includes an explicit balancing of 
three considerations: (1) the employees’ [Section] 7 rights; (2) whether 
other purposes of the Act override the rights of employees to choose 
their bargaining representatives; and (3) whether alternative remedies 
are adequate to remedy the violations of the Act.”
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Finally, my colleagues take the position that my posi-
tion in inconsistent with the Board’s doctrine of nonacqui-
escence.  As I have discussed, the Board’s adoption of the 
analysis required in affirmative bargaining order cases by 
the D.C. Circuit—even though it disagrees with the need 
for that analysis—in all cases ordering that remedy shows 
that the doctrine of nonacquiescence has a clear asterisk 
where the D.C. Circuit is involved.  But, more im-
portantly, the D.C. Circuit has made clear that it has little 
patience for the Board’s assertion of nonacquiescence 
with regard to the court’s established contract coverage 
doctrine.  The court has stated, “Facts may be stubborn 
things, but the Board’s longstanding ‘nonacquiescence’
towards the law of any circuit diverging from the Board’s 
preferred national labor policy takes obduracy to a new 
level.”  Heartland Plymouth, 838 F.3d at 18; see also id. 
at 20–21 (noting that, in opposing the petition for review, 
“the Board referenced its general policy of flouting any 
circuit’s NLRA interpretation with which the Board disa-
grees--a policy described colloquially as “nonacquies-
cence”).  Notably, the court explains that “any nonacqui-
escence depends upon the agency actually seeking Su-
preme Court review of adverse decisions.”  Id. at 22.  
Given that, even following the Heartland Plymouth deci-
sion, the Board has declined to seek certiorari on the is-
sue, I am not optimistic that the Board’s nonacquiescence 
argument will prevent the Board from facing sanctions 
from a panel of the D.C. Circuit should we seek enforce-
ment of this case in that circuit.  Nor do I believe that a 
similar nonacquiescence argument will be persuasive in 
any other circuit that has definitively established contract 
coverage as the law of the circuit. 

Although we respectfully disagree with the court’s requirement for the 
reasons set forth in Caterair, supra, we have examined the particular 
facts of this case as the court requires and find that a balancing of the 
three factors warrants an affirmative bargaining order.

Columbus Electric Cooperative, 372 NLRB No. 89, slip op. at 2.  
58 I note that the scope of wasted agency resources would exceed even 

the waste of agency resources involved in issuing a case discussing MV 
Transportation in a case that does not present that issue.  

My colleagues state that their decision aims “to respectfully respond 
to the criticism of those circuits” and to “contribute to the resolution of 
the current split among the circuits.”  I have not challenged that this is 
their intention.  But, again, this stated intention amounts to nothing more 
than a gentler way of saying “we are going to go into court and explain 
to the federal judges in the Circuits at issue why they have been misin-
terpreting Supreme Court precedent and why their decisions have been 
inconsistent with the policies of the Act.”  I do not think there is any 
chance that the Board will be successful in convincing these circuits, who 
have repeatedly rejected the “clear and mistakable waiver,” that they 
were wrong all along.  

59 See Capitol Steel & Iron Co. v. NLRB, 89 F.3d 692, 693, 697 (10th 
Cir. 1996) (holding that provision permitting an employer to “pay wages 
in excess of the minimum requirements . . . to one or more employees in 
different amounts to different employees” authorized the employer “to 
implement raises unilaterally during the term of the contract”).

60 American Oil Co. v. NLRB, 602 F.2d 184, 188–189 (8th Cir. 1979) 
(finding contract did not authorize unilateral change to work schedules 
where it was silent on that issue).

Accordingly, if my colleagues do ultimately overrule 
MV Transportation and reinstate the “clear and unmistak-
able waiver” standard, we will be faced with the same sce-
nario that prompted the Board to issue MV Transportation 
in the first place:  once again, the Board will waste valua-
ble agency resources issuing cases that are unenforceable, 
at best, and that will possibly subject the agency to the im-
position of sanctions, at worst.58

Despite the fact that my colleagues have to recognize 
that any future Board decision that reinstates the waiver 
standard can be appealed to the D.C. Circuit, and that the 
court will not enforce any such cases, they nevertheless 
believe that the change in law will be warranted, claiming 
that the Third, Fourth, Sixth, Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Cir-
cuits “have consistently deferred to the Board’s clear and 
unmistakable waiver standard as a rational and permissi-
ble interpretation of the Act.”  Notably, however, the cases 
they cite in support all predate the Supreme Court’s issu-
ance of M & G Polymers in 2015.  But, even on their own 
terms, the court decisions cited by the majority do not en-
dorse the notion that a provision must have the specificity 
my colleagues demand before it will be given effect.  In 
one of those cases, in fact, the court held that the contract 
did authorize the employer’s actions.59  Another case cited 
by the majority found no waiver where the contract was 
silent on the disputed issue.60  Indeed, the majority fails to 
cite any case in which any court has endorsed the speci-
ficity that they assert, in dicta, that the clear and unmis-
takable waiver standard requires.61  

Conclusion

My colleagues have made clear that they believe that 
MV Transportation should be overruled and that the Board 

61 Bonnell/Tredegar Industries v. NLRB, 46 F.3d 339, 344 (4th Cir. 
1995) (agreeing with the Board that the “plain meaning” of a provision 
stating a Christmas bonus plan would remain “in full force and effect” 
during the term of a contract did not permit an employer to unilaterally 
change a longstanding bonus formula, which was an implied term of the 
contract established by the parties’ past practice); Ciba-Geigy Pharma-
ceuticals Division v. NLRB, 722 F.2d 1120, 1122–1123, 1127 (3d Cir. 
1983) (finding that parties “did not bargain for an illusory contract;” a 
provision stating, “[c]onditions and standards already existing in the 
plant shall not be changed during the life of this agreement without the 
consent of the [u]nion, except for the purpose of improving the produc-
tion or the efficiency of the plant” did not authorize employer’s unilateral 
modification of a “detailed” provision covering absenteeism); American 
Distributing Co. v. NLRB, 715 F.2d 446, 449–450 (9th Cir. 1983) (hold-
ing that employer was not authorized to unilaterally cease pension con-
tributions, after the parties’ contract expired, based on a provision in the 
parties’ pension certification stating the pension would expire when the 
contract terminated), cert. denied 466 U.S. 958 (1984); Tocco Division 
v. NLRB, 702 F.2d 624, 627–628 (6th Cir. 1983) (finding that provision 
stating “[i]n the event the company determines to . . . close or transfer a 
. . . department or operation . . . in whole or in part, Severance Allow-
ances will be payable” did not authorize unilateral relocation of work); 
Beverly Health & Rehabilitation Services v. NLRB, 297 F.3d 468, 480 
(6th Cir. 2002) (agreeing with the Board that a contractual provision 
waiving a union’s right to bargain over a mandatory subject of bargain-
ing does not survive contract expiration).
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should return to the “clear and unmistakable” waiver test 
for determining whether parties’ collective-bargaining 
agreements granted the employer the discretion to act uni-
laterally with regard to a change in employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment.  

What is also clear, however, is that this case does not 
present that question.  To begin, the General Counsel al-
leged a failure to bargain over the “implementation” of the 
Lytx security system in trucks driven by unit employees, 
not a failure to bargain about any “decision.”  And the rec-
ord establishes that the alleged implementation, with its 
resulting changes to employees’ terms and conditions of 
employment, never occurred.

The record also reflects that the Respondent did, in fact, 
bargain with the Union over the issues, regardless of 
whether it had any duty to do so.  On September 16—less 
than 5 weeks after the charge was reinstated by the Gen-
eral Counsel and a full week before the relevant complaint 
issued—the parties began bargaining over the issues when 
the Union offered its proposed MOU on the Respondent’s 
“intent” to implement the Lytx security system in the unit 
employees’ trucks.  And the record establishes that, as a 
result of that bargaining, the parties signed a tentative 
Memorandum of Understanding that addressed concerns 
raised by the Union prior to the opening of the hearing in 
this matter.  Again, because the Respondent voluntarily 
bargained with the Union prior to any implementation of 
the Lytx system in the unit employees’ trucks, as alleged, 
the question whether or not the Respondent had a duty to 
engage in that bargaining--and what standard should be 
applied in answering that question—is not before us.  And 
to the extent that my colleagues’ decision depends, in any 
way, on their view that the evidence establishing the par-
ties' bargaining over these issues is not sufficient, then, at 
the very least, they must remand this case to the judge with 
directions to allow the Respondent the opportunity, previ-
ously denied, to proffer evidence concerning the scope of 
the negotiations.  

As my colleagues know, the Board has two avenues by 
which to enforce the Act and establish labor policy:  as a 
quasi-judicial body, establishing new policy in the course 
of deciding individual cases under Section 10 of the Act, 
or by promulgating rules that apply prospectively under 
Section 6.  Here, however, my colleagues are seeking to 
establish new policy (rejecting contract coverage in favor 
of the waiver standard) through a third avenue:  by pur-
porting to overrule precedent in a case that, simply put, 
does not present the issue.  No precedent supports their use 
of this procedure.  See NLRB v. Bell Aerospace Co, 416 
U.S. 267, 291–295 (1974) (recognizing that the Board 
could change precedent regarding the managerial status of 
buyers in the course of adjudicating a case where the man-
agerial status of particular buyers was at issue). 

For all of the reasons explained above, I believe that the 
contract coverage standard best effectuates the policies of 
the Act, best conforms to current Supreme Court 

precedent, is the most reasonable standard to use in deter-
mining both the rights and the obligations of employers 
under a collective-bargaining agreement, and would, in 
the instant case, properly recognize that, if the Respondent 
had in fact implemented the Lytx security system in the 
bargaining-unit employees’ trucks, it would have been en-
titled to do so based on the parties’ agreement. 

Accordingly, I would adopt the judge’s dismissal of the 
failure to bargain allegation, and I will continue to apply 
MV Transportation until such time as my colleagues over-
rule that precedent either through rulemaking or through a 
case presenting that issue.

   Dated, Washington, D.C. December 10, 2024

______________________________________
Marvin E. Kaplan, Member

            NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey 
this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your 

behalf
Act together with other employees for your bene-

fit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected ac-

tivities.

WE WILL NOT refuse to bargain collectively with Team-
sters Local No. 100, an affiliate of the International Broth-
erhood of Teamsters, AFL–CIO (the Union) by failing and 
refusing to furnish it with requested information that is rel-
evant and necessary to the Union’s performance of its 
functions as the collective-bargaining representative of 
our unit employees. 

WE WILL NOT change your terms and conditions of em-
ployment without first notifying the Union and giving it 
an opportunity to bargain.

WE WILL NOT fail and refuse to bargain with the Union, 
on request, concerning our decision to install cameras in 
vehicles driven by unit employees and the effects of our 
decision on unit employees’ terms and conditions of em-
ployment.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere 
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights 
listed above.
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WE WILL furnish to the Union in a timely manner the 
information responsive to Request 4 in the January 12, 
2021 letter from Timothy Montgomery to Kevin Black-
well.

WE WILL, before implementing any changes in wages, 
hours, or other terms and conditions of employment of 
unit employees, notify and, on request, bargain with the 
Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representa-
tive of our employees in the following bargaining unit:

All employees including drivers, mechanics and loaders 
employed by the Employer at its Florence, Kentucky fa-
cility, excluding office clerical employees and all pro-
fessional employees, guards and supervisors as defined 
in the Act.

WE WILL, on request by the Union, bargain concerning 
our decision to install cameras in vehicles driven by unit 
employees and the effects of our decision on unit employ-
ees’ terms and conditions of employment.

ENDURANCE ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLC

The Board’s decision can be found at 
www.nlrb.gov/case/09-CA-273873 or by using the QR 
code below.  Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the 
decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor 
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

Daniel A. Goode, Esq., for the General Counsel.
William G. Miossi, Esq. (Winston & Strawn LLP), of Washing-

ton, D.C., for the Respondent.
Julie C. Ford, Esq. (Doll, Jansen & Ford), of Dayton, Ohio, for 

the Charging Party. 

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PAUL BOGAS, Administrative Law Judge. I heard this case re-
motely using videoconferencing technology on November 17, 
2021. Teamsters Local No. 100, an affiliate of the International 
Brotherhood of Teamsters, AFL–CIO (Local 100 or the 

1  The bargaining unit is defined as: All employees including drivers, 
mechanics and loaders employed by the Employer at its Florence, Ken-
tucky facility, excluding office clerical employees and all professional 
employees, guards and supervisors as defined in the Act.

2  The CBA identifies the employer as K.R. Drenth, which is usually 
referred to in the record by the initials KRD.  On about August 28, 2020, 
K.R. Drenth was renamed Endurance Environmental Solutions, LLC –
which is how it is identified in the complaint’s caption.  There is no dis-
pute that the Respondent is the successor to K.R. Drenth and that the 

Charging Party) filed the charge on March 3, 2021, and a copy 
was served on Endurance Environmental Solutions, LLC, (the 
Respondent or the Employer) on March 10, 2021.  The Director 
of Region Nine of the National Labor Relations Board (the 
Board) issued the complaint and notice of hearing on May 14, 
2021, and the amended complaint and notice of hearing (the 
complaint) on September 23, 2021.  The complaint alleges that 
the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the National 
Labor Relations Act (Act or NLRA): by making a unilateral de-
cision to install security cameras and other surveillance devices 
in trucks operated by employees represented by Local 100; by 
refusing Local 100’s requests to bargain over the installation of 
the security cameras; and by failing to furnish information re-
quested by Local 100 about the cameras.  The General Counsel 
argues, inter alia, that the facts present here warrant overruling 
the “contract coverage” standard for determining when a party 
has contractually waived bargaining over an issue, see MV 
Transportation, 368 NLRB No. 66 (2019), and returning to the 
standard that places the burden on the party asserting contractual 
waiver to show that the waiver was explicitly stated, clear and 
unmistakable, see Metropolitan Edison Co., 460 U.S. 693, 708–
709 (1983), Quality Roofing Supply Co., 357 NLRB 789 (2011), 
Provena St. Joseph Medical Center, 350 NLRB 808, 810–811 
(2007), and Johnson-Bateman, 295 NLRB 180, 184 (1989).  

On the entire record, including my observation of the de-
meanor of the witnesses, and after considering the briefs filed by 
the General Counsel and the Respondent, I make the following 
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

FINDINGS OF FACT 

I.  JURISDICTION

The Respondent is a limited liability corporation with princi-
pal offices in the State of Illinois and a facility in Florence, Ken-
tucky, that operates trucks that move garbage and refuse. In con-
ducting these operations the Respondent annually performs ser-
vices valued in excess of $50,000 in states other than the State of 
Illinois.  The Respondent admits, and I find, that it is an employer 
engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), 
and (7) of the Act, and that the Charging Party is a labor organi-
zation within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

II.  ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES

A. Background Facts

The Respondent operates over-the-road tractor trailer trucks 
that transport trash to landfill sites.  The Respondent has approx-
imately 400 trucks at 22 locations across the United States. This 
litigation concerns alleged violations at one of those locations, 
the Respondent’s facility in Florence, Kentucky.  At that facility, 
Local 100 represents a bargaining unit of drivers, mechanics and 
loaders,1 and the Respondent operates five or six trucks.  The 
Respondent and Local 100 are parties to a collective bargaining 
agreement (CBA or contract) that was effective by its terms from 
September 24, 2018, to September 26, 2021.2  Local 100 does 

CBA continued in effect after the name change.  Brief of Respondent at 
p. 3, fn. 3; Joint Exhibit Number(s) (Jt. Exh. 2 and 3); Transcript at 
page(s) (Tr. 66–67).  The complaint alleges that Endurance Environmen-
tal continued as the employing entity, General Counsel Exhibit Num-
ber(s) (GC Exh.) 1(k) at par. 5, and, at trial, the Respondent confirmed 
that Endurance Environmental was the successor to K.R. Drenth and that 
the two were, in fact,  one and the same business.  (Tr. 66–67.)  Given 
this, I refer to the employing entity throughout this decision simply as 
the Respondent, regardless of whether I am referencing the period when 
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not represent employees at any of the Respondent’s other facili-
ties, but at three of the Respondent’s other facilities employees 
are represented by other union locals. 

B. Decision to Install Cameras in its Truck Fleet

In August 2020, the Respondent decided to purchase a camera 
system for its entire fleet of about 400 trucks, including those 
five or six trucks driven by employees represented by Local 100.  
Transcript at page(s) (Tr. 57, 86.)  The Respondent proceeded to 
purchase the system for 100 percent of its fleet.  Ibid.  This cam-
era system includes both cameras directed at the driver and cam-
eras directed outward, and makes both video and audio record-
ings. Although the cameras record continuously, the system de-
letes the recordings on an ongoing basis and only preserves what 
it has recorded if there is a triggering event such as a collision, 
hard breaking, or a sudden lane change.  When triggered by such 
an event, the camera system retains the video and audio record-
ing of the period starting 10 seconds before the event and ending 
5 seconds after the event.  The Respondent states that it decided 
to install the cameras in order to address concerns about liability 
from accidents and lawsuits, and that it will use the recordings 
to, inter alia, initiate driver coaching or disciplinary action as ap-
propriate.  (Tr. 56, 96, 125.)  

Timothy Montgomery is the only Local 100 business agent 
responsible for servicing the unit employees at the Florence fa-
cility.  He testified that the Respondent did not provide Local 
100 with notice about the August 2020 decision to install the 
cameras.  Montgomery credibly testified that he did not find out 
about the decision until approximately 5 months later when, in 
early January 2021, he heard about it from a unit employee who 
was also a union steward.  The Respondent’s only witness, Kevin 
Blackwell—director of safety since June 2020—confirmed that 
the Respondent did not notify Local 100 prior to making the de-
cision to purchase the camera system for the trucks driven by the 
Local 100 unit members.  (Tr. 96–97.)  Blackwell stated that 
there “wasn’t the need to” notify Local 100 because the company 
had determined that it had the right to make the change unilater-
ally under a management rights provision in the CBA. (Tr. 59, 
96–97.)

The management-rights provision in the CBA states: 

The management of the plant and direction of the working 
force is vested exclusively in the Company, and in furtherance 
and not in limitation of such authority, shall include the right to 
assign, to suspend or to terminate employees for just cause, to 
transfer and relieve employees from duty because of lack of 
work and for other legitimate reasons, to subcontract bargain-
ing unit work, to make shop rules and regulations, to create new 
jobs, develop new processes, and implement changes in equip-
ment, changes in the content of jobs or improvements brought 
about by the Company in the interest of improved methods and 
product, PROVIDED, that this exercise of management’s 
rights will not violate or supersede any other provisions of this 
Agreement.  The parties acknowledge that, as part of its right 
to make shop rules and regulations, the Company has the right 
to issue an employee handbook.  The Union acknowledges that 
the Company provided it with a copy of its most recent draft 
employee handbook for consideration and bargaining during 
the collective bargaining negotiations.

its name was K.R. Drenth (KRD) or the period when its name was En-
durance Environmental Solutions.  I note, however, that the record does 
not show that, during the time period relevant to the allegations here, 

Joint Exhibit Number(s) (Jt. Exh. 1, pp. 4 to 5 ) (art. III).  There 
is no provision in the CBA that expressly addresses the installa-
tion or use of cameras or other recording equipment in the trucks. 

Although the Respondent takes the position that it had no ob-
ligation to provide Local 100 with notice before making the de-
cision to purchase and install the camera system, it claims that it 
did, in fact, provide notice to Local 100 in August 2020 shortly 
after making that decision.  I find that the evidence the Respond-
ent presented at trial does not support its contention that this no-
tice was provided.  The Respondent relies on an email from 
Blackwell, dated August 11, 2020, and the attached message, 
which it characterizes in its brief as “written communication to 
the entire workforce, including the employees represented by 
Local No. 100, announcing and explaining the purpose for the 
installation of the [camera] system.” (R Br. at p. 5.)  However, a 
review of that email shows that it was not a communication to 
the entire workforce, but rather an email from Blackwell to the 
Respondent’s terminal managers and regional managers.  Re-
spondent Exhibit Number(s) (R Exh. 2, Tr. 63.)  Not a single 
official of Local 100 or even any bargaining unit employee is 
listed as a recipient.  The email tells the managers that the mes-
sage  about the cameras “can” be shared with drivers and team 
members, but does not command such sharing.  Perhaps more 
importantly, the email does not tell managers that they must, or 
even that they may, share the message with any union represent-
ing employees. The Respondent did not present any emails in 
which one of the original manager-recipients of the announce-
ment forwarded the message to Local 100 or even to any bar-
gaining unit employees at the Florence location.  Nor did Re-
spondent call as a witness any manager-recipient who testified 
that they forwarded, or otherwise communicated, the August 11 
message to Local 100 or to the employees it represented. Nor, 
for that matter, did the Respondent call any unit employees to 
testify that the August message was shared with them.  While 
Blackwell’s email did not direct managers to share the camera 
announcement with Local 100 or unit employees, Blackwell tes-
tified that it was his expectation that the managers would share 
the message with employees.  However, Blackwell did not have 
actual knowledge that any manager, in fact, shared the August 
message at a single one of its locations, much less that managers 
did so at all of them including the Florence location. Moreover, 
Blackwell’s trial testimony about his expectation that the August 
11 message was shared with Local 100 employees in August 
2020 is undercut by his February 4, 2021, letter to Montgomery, 
stating that the Respondent “began informing drivers” about the 
change “in January.” (Jt. Exh. 5) (emphasis added).  On the 
other hand, Montgomery credibly testified that he had not seen 
the August 11 message until he was shown it on the day of the 
November 17, 2021, hearing in this matter.  For these reasons, 
the evidence about the August 11, 2020, message fails to show 
that, prior to January 2021, the Respondent provided notice of 
the decision to purchase and install cameras either to Local 100 
or even to the employees represented by Local 100. 

The other document that the Respondent points to as evidence 
that it notified Local 100 about its decision to install cameras is 
a statement that Steven Ruckert—the Respondent’s general man-
ager—made to Blackwell in a series of emails that the two ex-
changed during the period from August 4 to 17, 2020.  In the 

Local 100 had been made aware that K.R. Drenth and Endurance Envi-
ronmental were one and the same business.
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final email of  that 2-week exchange, Ruckert stated, “I called 
and left a message with the business agent and explained what’s 
happening.  He never called me back so I don’t think it will be 
an issue.”3  Ruckert did not testify and so the email statement 
relied upon by the Respondent is hearsay and would generally be 
inadmissible to prove that Ruckert reached out to a business 
agent. Fed. Rule of Evid. 801 and 802.  The Respondent contends 
that Ruckert’s hearsay statement should be excepted from the 
hearsay rule because emails between Ruckert and Blackwell are 
kept and maintained in the normal course of business and there-
fore qualify for the business records exception to the hearsay 
rule.  (Tr. 73–74); See Fed. Rule of Evid. 803(6). Whether this 
exception applies to statements in emails such as this one is, as 
courts have recognized, not certain.4  However, even if I assume 
that Ruckert’s statement falls within the hearsay exception, I find 
that it is insufficiently specific and reliable to rebut Montgom-
ery’s clear and confident testimony at the hearing that notice 
about the camera decision was not provided to Local 100 in Au-
gust 2020, or at any other time before a unit employee alerted 
Montgomery in January 2021 that the Respondent had an-
nounced the decision to employees.  I note that Ruckert’s email 
makes no mention of Montgomery or Local 100.  Three different 
unions are present at various Respondent locations, presumably 
with three different business agents (Tr. 107), but Ruckert states 
that he left a message for “the business agent”—singular.  As 
Blackwell conceded, the email does not provide a basis for sur-
mising whether the business agent who Ruckert says he con-
tacted was Montgomery as opposed to a business agent for one 
of the other union locals.  Ibid. Moreover, in the email, Ruckert 
does not disclose the content of the message he left other than to 
say he “explained what’s happening.” Even if Ruckert left some 
sort of message for Montgomery—and the email leaves that very 
much in doubt—(there is no way of knowing if the message was 
sufficiently detailed and clear to notify Local 100 that the Re-
spondent had decided to purchase, and install, cameras without 
bargaining. Montgomery credibly testified that he had not re-
ceived a voice mail or phone call from Ruckert. (Tr. 36, 129.)  
Moreover, Montgomery testified more generally that the Re-
spondent did not, in August 2020 or at any other time prior to 
January 2021, provide Local 100 with notice of the decision to 
install the cameras.  (Tr. 36.)  For the reasons discussed above, I 
find Montgomery’s confident sworn testimony that the 

3  The full email chain is set forth in Respondent Exhibit Number(s) 
(R Exh. 3.) In the first email, dated August 4, 2020, Blackwell asks Ruck-
ert “Is there any kind of notification that we need to give the union to let 
them know we will be putting cameras in trucks at some point?”  Later 
that day, Ruckert responded, “Yes we have to run this by all of our union 
divisions . . . . This was a very hot topic last go around . . . .”  In the next 
email, dated 12 days later on August 16, Blackwell writes to Ruckert, 
“That letter I sent last week”—

referring to the August 11 email to managers, Tr. 106—“should be 
enough to satisfy, right?”  The next day, August 17, Ruckert responded:  
“Yes that should be fine.  I called and left a message with the business 
agent and explained what’s happening.  He never called me back so I 
don’t think it will be an issue.”  

4  See U.S. v. Cone, 714 F.3d 197, 220 (4th Cir. 2013) (“While 
properly authenticated emails may be admitted into evidence under the 
business record exception, it would be insufficient to survive a hear-
say challenge simply to say that since a business keeps and re-
ceives emails, then ergo all those emails are business records falling 
within the ambit of Rule 803(6)(B).”), In re Oil Spill, 87 Fed. R. Evid. 
Serv. 492 (E.D. La. 2012), 2012 WL 85447 at * 3 (“[T]here is no cate-
gorical rule that emails originating from or received by employees of a 

Respondent did not notify Local 100 of the decision to install 
cameras far more credible than any contrary implication in Ruck-
ert’s email. Cf. UPMC, 366 NLRB No. 185, slip op at 48 (2018) 
(crediting employee’s testimony that he did not receive a phone 
call from dispatcher over the dispatcher’s hearsay email state-
ment that the phone call was made).

As of the time of hearing on November 17, 2021, the Re-
spondent had installed the cameras in 80 percent of its trucks, but 
not in the five or six trucks driven by the employees represented 
by Local 100. The Respondent attributes the fact that the cameras 
have not been installed in those trucks to delays in the delivery 
of cameras (Tr. 57–58), not to the challenge lodged by Local 100 
or to the pendency of the instant litigation. On September 26, 
2021, the Respondent and Local 100 began bargaining for a new 
CBA.  During those contract negotiations the parties bargained 
for a provision relating to the cameras.  However, at no point did 
the Respondent state that it had rescinded the August 2020 deci-
sion to install the cameras, and it never agreed to bargain about 
the cameras prior to the negotiations for a new contract.  (Tr. 32–
33.)

C. Information Request and Bargaining Demand

In January 2021, a unit member/steward at the Florence facil-
ity informed Montgomery that the Respondent was planning to 
install cameras in the trucks.  Montgomery reacted by sending a 
letter, dated January 12, to Blackwell, which expressed Local 
100’s “demand to bargain on this matter . . . and that any steps 
toward implementation . . . cease.”  In addition, the letter had 
four numbered paragraphs requesting information about the 
cameras.  (Jt. Exh. 4.)  The only request to which the complaint 
alleges the Respondent failed to respond properly is request 4.   
That request reads:

4.  Please state whether surveillance cameras are in use at any 
other Endurance Environmental facilities and, if so, which fa-
cilities.  For each such facility, please provide a copy of any 
applicable policy, collective bargaining agreement provision, 
memorandum of understanding or other document discussing 
the use of such cameras.

  

Although the Respondent provided information in response to 
the other requests, the Respondent did not provide any docu-
ments at all in response to request 4. (Tr. 26, 112–113, 121–122.)  
The Respondent did not, it should be noted, even provide Local 

producing defendant are admissible under the business records excep-
tion,” but rather the party proffering the statement must show, inter alia, 
that it “had a policy or imposed a business duty on its employee to report 
or record the information within the email.”), United States v. Ferber, 
966 F.Supp. 90, 98 (D. Mass 1997) (holding that emails did not qualify 
for the business records exception where “while it may have been [the 
employee’s] routine business practice to make such records, there was 
no sufficient evidence that [the employer] required such records to be 
maintained”).

In this instance, the Respondent showed that Ruckert and Blackwell 
routinely communicated by email regarding business issues and that 
Blackwell stored the emails on his computer.  However, the record does 
not show that the Respondent “had a policy or imposed a business duty” 
on Ruckert to report or record the information involved here, or that the 
Respondent required Blackwell to retain such communications.  Moreo-
ver, it was not shown that Ruckert sent the email sufficiently close in 
time to the events his email purports to report.  See Fed. R. Evid 
803(6)(A) (business record exception does not apply unless “the record 
was made at or near the time”); see also In re Oil Spill, supra (“First of 
all, the email must have been sent or received at or near the time of the 
event(s) recorded in the email.”)  
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100 with a copy of the announcement describing the cameras that 
it sent to managers by email on August 11, 2020, and which it 
now claims constituted notice of the change to “the entire work-
force, including employees represented by Local No. 100.” See 
R Br. at p. 5.  Nor did the Respondent provide Local 100 with a 
statement claiming that one or more of the types of documents 
listed in request 4 did not exist. 

Blackwell and Montgomery subsequently exchanged letters 
about the January 12 information request. although those com-
munications did not specifically mention request 4 or the types 
of information identified in it.  Blackwell’s first letter to Mont-
gomery about the request was dated February 4.  (Jt. Exh. 5.)  
That letter stated that “In January, we began informing our driv-
ers that [the Respondent] had begun the process of installing” the 
cameras.  It went on to state, inter alia, that “[i]n an ongoing pro-
cess, [the Respondent was] implementing cameras in 100 percent 
of our fleet,” that “the primary function of the cameras is collec-
tion of footage in the event of an accident and coaching,” and 
that “no collective bargaining has been deemed necessary up to 
this point.”  The letter did not include any statement that the Re-
spondent was willing to accede to Local 100’s demands that it 
bargain and cease any steps towards installing the cameras in the 
trucks driven by the unit employees. Indeed, Blackwell testified 
that his letter communicated that the decision to install the cam-
eras had already been made.  (Tr. 114.)

Montgomery responded to Blackwell in a letter dated Febru-
ary 12.  (Jt. Exh. 6.)  The letter stated that the Respondent failed 
to notify Local 100 about the change and that deciding to install 
the cameras without bargaining was a violation of the National 
Labor Relations Act.  The letter also “demand[ed] that [the Re-
spondent] immediately cease all attempts to implement this pro-
gram at this location.”  It went on to argue that the installation of 
cameras was a mandatory subject of bargaining that has “the po-
tential to affect job security and, secondarily, infringes on em-
ployee privacy.”   Montgomery’s February 12 letter character-
izes Blackwell’s February 4 letter as a “partial response” to the 
January 12 letter and states that Local 100 “hereby requests an-
swers to its remaining questions and again specifically demands 
to bargain.”  

Blackwell, in an email dated March 1, responded to Mont-
gomery’s February 12 letter.  (Jt. Exh. 7.)  Blackwell discussed 
some details of how the cameras would work and be used, and 
also contested the applicability of Board precedent that Mont-
gomery had cited for the proposition that the installation of cam-
eras was a mandatory subject of bargaining.  In the letter’s con-
cluding paragraph, Blackwell stated: “Please advise how and 
when you would like to discuss further.”  In a rather strange 
quirk, the final paragraph of Blackwell’s letter to Montgomery 
also includes the following sentence, which had a red line 
through it, but was still present and readable: “In closing, bar-
gaining at the expense of safety cannot be a starting point.”  This 
letter, like Blackwell’s previous one, did not state that the Re-
spondent was willing to bargain or that it would cease steps to 
install the cameras pending bargaining. 

Montgomery testified that he was seeking the information 
listed in request 4 so that he could see what other union locals 
had “agreed to and what they didn’t agree to” regarding the cam-
eras so that he could use that in his bargaining on behalf of Local 
100.  (Tr. 24–25.)  The Respondent did provide Blackwell’s Au-
gust 11 message, which it claims was notice to the unit employ-
ees, with any management-rights provisions other unions had 
agreed to, or with a single other document sought in  request 4.  

(Tr. 26–27.) Blackwell conceded both that Montgomery never 
withdrew request 4 and that the Respondent never answered that 
request directly; not even by representing that no responsive doc-
uments existed. (Tr. 112–113, 121–122.)

ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

I.  UNILATERAL DECISION TO INSTALL CAMERA SYSTEM

The General Counsel presents alternative legal theories in 
support of its allegation that the Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act when it unilaterally decided to pur-
chase and install cameras in the trucks driven by Local 100 unit 
members, and refused Local 100’s demand to bargain over the 
change.  First, the General Counsel argues that under the “con-
tract coverage” standard that the Board adopted in MV Transpor-
tation, 368 NLRB No. 66 (2019), the Respondent was wrong to 
conclude that Local 100 had, in the management rights provision 
of the CBA, waived bargaining over the installation of cameras.  
In the alternative, the General Counsel argues that the facts pre-
sent here demonstrate the necessity of jettisoning the MV Trans-
portation standard and returning to the prior Board standard that 
places the burden on the party asserting a contractual waiver to 
show such a waiver was explicitly stated, clear, and unmistaka-
ble.  See Metropolitan Edison Co., 460 U.S. 693, 708–709 
(1983), Quality Roofing Supply Co., 357 NLRB 789 (2011), 
Provena St. Joseph Medical Center, 350 NLRB 808, 810–811 
(2007), Johnson-Bateman, 295 NLRB 180, 184 (1989).  For the 
reasons discussed below, I find that the evidence shows that the 
Respondent did, in fact, unilaterally decide to purchase and in-
stall cameras, and that it refused Local 100’s demand for bar-
gaining over the decision and its effects.  However, when the 
parties’ CBA is analyzed under the current “contract coverage” 
standard, I find that the Respondent has shown that it was legally 
entitled to take those actions because the management rights 
clause in the CBA gave it authority to make “changes in equip-
ment” unilaterally.  

The question of whether to jettison the contract coverage 
standard and either return to the “clear and unmistakable waiver” 
standard or adopt another standard is for the Board to decide, not 
me. Waco, Inc., 273 NLRB 746, 749 fn. 14 (1984) (“We empha-
size that it is a judge's duty to apply established Board precedent 
which the Supreme Court has not reversed. It is for the Board, 
not the judge, to determine whether precedent should be var-
ied.”); see also Austin Fire Equipment, LLC, 360 NLRB 1176 fn. 
6 (2014).

A. Respondent’s Section 10(b) Defense Fails

The Respondent argues that it had no obligation to provide 
Local 100 with notice and an opportunity to bargain about the 
decision to install cameras, but also claims that it, in fact, gave 
Local 100 notice through the announcement that was forwarded 
to managers on August 11, 2020.  In its answer to the complaint 
the Respondent asserted, as an affirmative defense, that the un-
derlying charge was untimely because it was not filed until 
March 3, 2021—over 6 months after the August announcement, 
and therefore beyond the 6-month charge filing period allowed 
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by Section 10(b) of the Act.5  This defense fails because the Re-
spondent has the burden of proving the affirmative defense,6 and, 
as discussed in the above statement of facts, the Respondent has 
failed to show that Local 100, or even any employee represented 
by Local 100, received the August 11, 2020, announcement to 
managers, or was otherwise advised of the Respondent’s unilat-
eral camera decision prior to January 2021.7  Indeed, the evi-
dence affirmatively shows that Local 100 did not discover that 
the Respondent had decided to make the change until January 
2021—well within the charge filing period – when the Respond-
ent informed unit employees that it would be installing the cam-
eras, and one of those employees, a union steward,8 conveyed 
the information to Montgomery.  

B. Respondent Failed to Give Local 100 

NOTICE AND AN OPPORTUNITY TO BARGAIN

Section 8(a)(5) of the Act requires an employer to give the 
employees’ union timely notice and an opportunity to bargain 
before making a significant change to employees terms and con-
ditions of employment. NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736 (1962); 
NLRB v. Borg-Warner Corp., 356 U.S. 342, 349 (1958).  As 
Blackwell admitted at trial, the Respondent made the decision to 
purchase cameras and install them in its entire fleet of trucks in 
August 2020.  Local 100 did not find out about this decision until 
January 2021, when a unit employee informed Montgomery 
about it.  Montgomery responded to this revelation by demand-
ing that the Respondent bargain over the decision.  The Respond-
ent’s reaction was to acknowledge the change, but to decline to 
bargain over it.  Specifically, the Respondent told Montgomery 
that it had started informing employees in January that it would 
be installing the cameras, and that the company had deemed that 
collective bargaining on the subject was not necessary.  At best 
this was belated notice to Local 100 of a fait accompli that had 
already been announced to the affected employees and about 
which bargaining would be fruitless.  This does not meet the Re-
spondent’s obligation to provide a collective bargaining repre-
sentative with timely notice and a meaningful opportunity to 

5  Sec. 10(b) provides in relevant part that “no complaint shall issue 
based upon any unfair labor practice occurring more than 6 months prior 
to the filing of the charge with the Board.”  

6  Midwest Terminals of Toledo, 365 NLRB 1645, 1659–1560 (2017), 
enfd. 783 Fed.Appx. 1 (D.C. Cir. 2019); NLRB v. Public Service Electric 
& Gas Co., 157 F.3d 222, 228 (3d Cir. 1998).

7  Conveyance of the August 11 announcement is the only means by 
which the Respondent contends that Local 100 was notified beyond the 
charge filing period.  The 6-month charge filing period does not begin to 
run until the charging party has clear and unequivocal notice of the acts 
alleged to constitute the unfair labor practice. Castle Hill Health Care 
Center, 355 NLRB 1156, 1191 (2010); Ohio & Vicinity Regional Coun-
cil of Carpenters, 344 NLRB 366, 367–368 (2005); Broadway 
Volkswagen, 342 NLRB 1244, 1246 (2004); Concourse Nursing Home, 
328 NLRB 692, 694 (1999); Leach Corp., 312 NLRB 990, 991 (1993).

8  The record suggests that the steward himself did not receive notice 
until January 2021.  Even assuming that the steward had received notice 
earlier, that would not change the analysis with respect to the Respond-
ent’s timeliness defense since a steward’s knowledge of a unilateral 
change is not imputed to the union for purposes of triggering the 10(b) 
period. Brimar Corp., 334 NLRB 1035 fn. 1 (2001).  Moreover, the CBA 
between the Respondent and Local 100 expressly limits the steward’s 
authority to the investigation of grievances, the collection of dues, and 
the transmission of information authorized by the union or union offic-
ers.  Joint Exhibit Number (Jt. Exh.) 1 at p. 4 (art. II, sec. 6).  The CBA 
provision regarding stewards does not authorize them to receive notice 
from management about changes to terms or conditions of employment.

bargain.  Cascades Containerboard Packaging, 370 NLRB No. 
76, at 1 fn. 1 and 15 to 16 (2021) (an employer does not meet its 
8(a)(5) duty to bargain when it simply announces a final decision 
to the union under circumstances that make clear that bargaining 
would be fruitless), citing Brannan Sand & Gravel Co., 314 
NLRB 282 (1994); Taft Coal Sales & Associates, Inc., 360 
NLRB 96, 100 (2014) (notice was of a fait accompli, that did not 
allow meaningful bargaining, where the union was not notified 
until after the employer advised the affected employees), enfd. 
586 Fed.Appx. 525 (11th Cir. 2014).

The Respondent argues that, even though it had no obligation 
to bargain over the decision to install cameras, it met any such 
obligation and that Local 100 through its actions waived its right 
to bargain over the decision.  It is true that a non-contractual 
waiver may be demonstrated by a union’s conduct.  However, to 
establish such waiver the employer must show that it provided 
the union with a timely and meaningful opportunity to bargain 
and that the union did not attempt to do so. Taft Coal Sales & 
Associates, Inc., supra; see also MV Transportation, 368 NLRB 
No. 66, slip op. at 2 (in the absence of a contractual waiver, a 
waiver will still be found if the employer “demonstrates that the 
union clearly and unmistakably waived its right to bargain over 
the change”), and Dodge of Naperville, Inc., 357 NLRB 2252, 
2272 (2012) (“Waiver of the right to bargain based on a union's 
failure to request bargaining will not be found where the union 
was not given advance notice of the change and/or where the no-
tice presented the change as a fait accompli.”), enfd. 796 F.3d 31 
(D.C. Cir. 2015), cert. denied 577 U.S. 1217 (2016).  The evi-
dence here showed that the Respondent failed to provide Local 
100 with a timely and meaningful opportunity to bargain.  More-
over, when Local 100 discovered the change in January 2020, 
not only did it not waive bargaining, but rather it promptly and 
repeatedly demanded in writing that the Respondent bargain. 
The Respondent, did not agree to bargain,9 but instead stated that 
it “deemed” that no bargaining was necessary and disputed Local 
100’s statement that placing the cameras in trucks was a manda-
tory subject of bargaining.10  Under these facts, the Respondent’s

9 As discussed earlier in this decision, on September 16, 2021, the 
parties began negotiating for a successor to the CBA, and as part of those 
discussions the parties negotiated over the installation of the cameras.  
That does not change the fact that the Respondent failed and refused to 
bargain prior to making the decision to purchase and install the cameras 
and prior to announcing that decision to the affected unit employees.  Nor 
does the subsequent bargaining about the cameras in the context of the 
CBA negotiations close the period of any violation that might be found 
since the Respondent did not tell Local 100, or announce to unit employ-
ees, that management had rescinded its decision to install cameras in the 
trucks driven by unit employees. As the Board has noted, “A union must 
not be forced to commence bargaining from a disadvantageous position, 
or bargain from a hole, caused by the employer’s unremedied unilateral 
changes.” CP Anchorage Hotel, 370 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at fn. 32 
(2021), citing Covanta Energy Corp., 356 NLRB 706, 730 (2011),
and Intermountain Rural Elec. Assn., 305 NLRB 783, 789 (1991), enfd. 
984 F.2d 1562 (10th Cir. 1993).

10 The Respondent’s decision to install cameras that observe employ-
ees at work was a mandatory subject of bargaining.  The Board has re-
peatedly affirmed that this is the case, especially where, as here, such 
observation may be used to discipline unit employees.  Roemer Indus-
tries, 367 NLRB No. 133, slip op. at 8 (2019), enfd. 824 Fed.Appx. 396 
(6th Cir. 2020); National Steel Corp., 335 NLRB 747, 747–748 (2001), 
enfd. 324 F.3d 928 (7th Cir. 2003); Nortech, 336 NLRB 554, 568 (2001);
Colgate-Palmolive Co., 323 NLRB 515, 515 (1997), Genesee Family 
Restaurant, 322 NLRB 219, 225 (1996).  The Respondent argues that the 
installation of its cameras was not a mandatory subject of bargaining 
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defense that it provided timely notice and an opportunity to bar-
gain, but that Local 100 waived bargaining by failing to pursue 
it, is frivolous.  

C. Contract Coverage and the Management Rights Provision 

The decision to install cameras in trucks driven by unit em-
ployees was a mandatory subject of bargaining, and the Re-
spondent did not provide Local 100 with timely notice or an op-
portunity to bargain about that decision.  Nevertheless, as the Re-
spondent argues, it will not be found to have failed to bargain in 
violation of Section 8(a)(5) if it shows that Local 100 contractu-
ally waived bargaining.  In MV Transportation, the Board an-
nounced that it was adopting a “contract coverage” standard for 
application to cases “in which an employer defends against an 
8(a)(5) unilateral-change allegation by asserting that contractual 
language privileged it to make the disputed change without fur-
ther bargaining.”  368 NLRB No. 66, slip op. at 11. “Where con-
tract language covers the act in question, the agreement will have 
authorized the employer to make the disputed change unilater-
ally, and the employer will not have violated Section 8(a)(5).” 
Ibid.  In the instant case, the Respondent asserts that its CBA 
with Local 100 included a management rights provision that 
privileged it to unilaterally decide to install the at-issue cameras 
in the trucks driven by bargaining unit employees.  That man-
agement rights provision, which is set forth in its entirety earlier 
in this decision, does not mention cameras, but does state that the 
company has the authority to unilaterally “develop new pro-
cesses, and implement changes in equipment.”  The Respondent 
argues that this language covers its decision to install the cam-
eras unilaterally. The General Counsel counters that the Re-
spondent takes the CBA language about changes in equipment 
out of context.  Specifically, the General Counsel argues that the 
management rights provision contains language indicating that 
its application is limited to changes made “in the interest of im-
proved methods and product” and that installing cameras does 
not concern improved methods and product.11

The Board stated in MV Transportation that in considering 
whether “contract language covers the act in question,” Ibid., it 
will “examine the plain language of the collective-bargaining 
agreement to determine whether the action taken by an employer 
was within the compass or scope of contractual language grant-
ing the employer the right to act unilaterally,” Id. at 2.  “In ap-
plying this standard,” the Board stated, it “will be cognizant of 
the fact that ‘a collective bargaining agreement establishes prin-
ciples to govern a myriad of fact patterns,” and that ‘bargaining 
parties [cannot] anticipate every hypothetical grievance and . . . 
address it in their contract.”   Id. at 11.  In this case, I find that 
these standards compel a finding that the Respondent was privi-
leged by the CBA’s management rights provision to “implement 

because they were not “surveillance” cameras. Assuming that such a dis-
tinction is more than a matter of semantics, and that the Board would be 
inclined to rely on it to determine whether cameras installed in the work-
place are a mandatory subject of bargaining, I do not believe that the 
camera system at-issue here would reasonably be placed in the non-sur-
veillance category.  As discussed above, the uncontroverted evidence 
was that the cameras make video and audio recordings of drivers at work 
and that the Respondent plans to use those recordings as a basis for dis-
ciplining drivers.  The Respondent also argues that the cameras were not 
used for improper surveillance.  Brief of Respondent at p. 9.  It is true 
that the record does not show that the cameras were used for unlawful 
surveillance of unit employees’ protected activities, but whether the cam-
eras discouraged protected activities in violation of Sec. 8(a)(1) is not an 
issue here.  Rather the issue is whether the Respondent violated Sec.

a change in equipment” by installing cameras in the trucks with-
out bargaining.  Trucks are “equipment” of a trucking company 
and the installation of cameras in those trucks falls within the 
plain meaning of making a change to that equipment.

The General Counsel’s contention that this is not so because 
the contractual provision also mentions “improved methods and 
processes” is not in my view persuasive.  First, the most reason-
able reading of the entire sentence at issue is that “improved 
methods and product” refers only to the immediately prior item, 
from which it is not separated by punctuation.  In other words, I 
read “or improvements brought about by the Company in the in-
terest of improved methods and product” as a single item on the 
list of permissible changes.  In the alternative reading suggested 
by the General Counsel, the phrase limiting the permissible 
changes to ones made “in the interests of improved methods and 
product,” would apply not only to the language about improve-
ments made by the company, but to the earlier types of changes 
listed in the same sentence, including the changes in equipment. 
That reading, however, would lead to nonsensical results.  For 
instance, it would mean that the management rights clause gives 
the Respondent the right “to terminate employees for just cause,” 
but only “in the interest of improved methods and product.”  Or 
that the Respondent could “transfer . . . employees from duty be-
cause of lack of work” but only “in the interest of improved 
methods and product.”  That cannot be what the parties intended.

At any rate, even assuming that the General Counsel is correct 
and that the changes in equipment that the management rights 
provision authorizes are limited to those that improve methods 
and product, I think the fairest reading would be that the cameras 
were installed “in the interest of improved methods and prod-
uct.”  For a trucking services company, the operation of its trucks 
is product, and the installation of the cameras, and their use to 
improve safety is an improvement of its product.  Moreover, the 
use of the cameras is in the interests of improving its “methods” 
for addressing accidents that occur in the course of its work.  

The General Counsel supports its interpretation of the reach 
of the management rights provision by noting, inter alia, that 
“[t]he CBA does not include any language specific to the imple-
mentation or use of surveillance cameras in Unit employees’ 
trucks.”  Brief of General Counsel at Page 12.  However, in MV 
Transportation, the Board clearly stated that the failure of a con-
tract to enumerate every specific circumstance that falls with a 
general grant of authority does not show that those specifics are 
not covered.  Rather the Board stated “that ‘a collective bargain-
ing agreement establishes principles to govern a myriad of fact 
patterns,’” and therefore “we will not require that the agreement 
specifically mention, refer to or address the employer decision at 
issue.” Id. at 11, quoting NLRB v. Postal Service, 8 F.3d 832, 838 
(D.C. Cir. 1993).12  

8(a)(5) when it decided, without notifying or bargaining with Local 100, 
to install cameras that would significantly impact unit employees’ terms 
and conditions of employment. 

11 In the posthearing briefing no party has asserted that there are CBA 
provisions, other than the one on management rights, that show that the 
Respondent had, or lacked, the authority to install the cameras. 

12 I find that bargaining over the effects of the decision to install cam-
eras also falls within the scope of the management rights provision. Un-
der the “clear and unmistakable” waiver standard applicable to contrac-
tual waiver cases prior to MV Transportation, the Board had held that an 
employer was required to bargain over the effects of a change if the man-
agement rights provision did not clearly and unmistakably waive effects 
bargaining.  See, e.g., New York University, 363 NLRB 470, 474 (2015), 
Good Samaritan Hospital, 335 NLRB 901, 902–903 (2001). I am not 
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In reaching this conclusion about how the management rights 
provision should be applied here under the “contract coverage” 
standard, it is only fair to note that the parties signed the contract 
on September 25, 2018over a  year before the Board’s MV Trans-
portation decision abandoned the “clear and unmistakable 
waiver” standard in favor of “contract coverage.”  Therefore, at 
the time Local 100 agreed to the management rights language it 
did not know that the Board would interpret that language using 
the contract coverage analysis, rather than the more restrictive 
clear and unmistakable waiver language. In MV Transportation, 
however, the Board acknowledged this concern but nevertheless 
ruled that the new standard would apply retroactively to con-
tracts drafted while the prior Board precedent was in effect.  The 
Board said that, in its view, retroactive application was appropri-
ate because it would not “work a manifest injustice.”  Id. at 12.  

For the above reasons, I must recommend dismissal of the 
complaint allegations that the Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(5) and (1) by making a unilateral decision to install cameras 
in the trucks operated by employees represented by Local 100 
and by refusing Local 100’s requests to bargain over the instal-
lation of the security cameras and failing to provide Local 100 
with a meaningful opportunity to bargain over the decision and 
its effects.

II. RESPONDENT VIOLATED SECTION 8(A)(5) BY FAILING TO 

FURNISH  INFORMATION REQUESTED BY LOCAL 100 REGARDING 

THE CAMERA SYSTEM

The General Counsel alleges that the Respondent violated 
Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by failing to properly respond 
to request 4 in the written information request that Local 100 
made on January 12, 2021.  In that request, Local 100 asked the 
Respondent to “state whether surveillance cameras are in use at 
any other [Respondent] facilities” and, if so, to state which facil-
ities and for each such facility to “provide a copy of any applica-
ble policy, collective bargaining agreement provision, memoran-
dum of understanding or other document discussing the use of 
such cameras.”  As found above, the evidence shows that the Re-
spondent did not provide any information at all in response to 
this request, even though it had at least some such information—
e.g., the August 11, 2020, announcement and any management 
rights agreements with other union locals.  Nor did the Respond-
ent answer the request by making a contemporaneous represen-
tation to Local 100 that any of the information responsive to re-
quest 4 did not exist.  

An employer's obligation to bargain in good faith under Sec-
tion 8(a)(5) of the Act, includes the obligation to furnish the em-
ployees' union upon request, with information relevant to and 
necessary for the performance of the union’s statutory duty as 
the employees' bargaining representative. NLRB v. Acme Indus-
trial Co., 385 U.S. 432, 435–436 (1967).  Information about the 
unit employees’ terms and conditions of employment is pre-
sumptively relevant, see Beverly Health & Rehabilitation Ser-
vices, 328 NLRB 885, 888 (1999), Samaritan Medical Cen-
ter, 319 NLRB 392, 397 (1995), but even if, as here, the re-
quested information is not about unit employees, the employer 
must provide it upon a showing that the information  “has even 
probable or potential relevance” to the union’s representational 
duties, see North Star Steel Co., 347 NLRB 1364, 1368 (2006), 

aware, however, of cases reaching the same result after the Board aban-
doned the clear and unmistakable waiver standard in favor of the contract 
coverage standard.  I find that bargaining over those effects falls within 
the contract coverage of the waiver in the management rights provision.

Orthodox Jewish Home for the Aged, 314 NLRB 1006, 1007–
1008 (1994), Pfizer Inc., 268 NLRB 916, 918 (1984), Conrock 
Co., 263 NLRB 1293, 1294 (1982); see also Acme Industrial, 
385 U.S. at 437 (The question is whether there is a “probabil-
ity that the desired information [is] relevant, and that it would be 
of use to the union in carrying out its statutory duties and respon-
sibilities.”).

The record here shows that the Respondent was required to 
produce the information sought by Local 100 in Request 4 be-
cause, while that information was not directly about unit employ-
ees, it was of probable or potential relevance to Local 100’s rep-
resentational duties.13  When the Respondent, by letter of Febru-
ary 4, notified Local 100 of its decision to install the cameras it 
specifically explained its action by stating that it was a company-
wide decision – for all 400 trucks in its 22-location operation, 
and not just for the five or six trucks driven by Local 100 unit 
members.  Since the Respondent explained the decision to install 
the cameras at the unit employees’ location by reference to the 
treatment of employees at other locations, the Respondent has 
itself made that treatment relevant and the particulars of the cam-
era use at other facilities has at least “probable or potential” rel-
evance to what Local 100 could hope to negotiate.  Moreover, as 
the Respondent surely knew, its communication that Local 100 
unit members were just a miniscule fraction of the employees 
affected by a corporate-wide decision, would tend to discourage 
employees about the prospects for altering the Respondent’s 
chosen course.   As noted in the General Counsel’s brief, when 
an employer makes representations to a union regarding working 
conditions at its other facilities, that fact can demonstrate the rel-
evance of union-requested information about those working con-
ditions at other facilities.  See Kraft Foods, 355 NLRB 753, 755 
(2010), and Caldwell Mfg., 346 NLRB 1159, 1159–1160 (2006).  
Here, Montgomery credibly testify that he hoped the information 
about other facilities, especially other unionized facilities, would 
help him understand the range of possibilities of what Local 100 
could hope to achieve during bargaining regarding the cameras.  
In the letter requesting the information, Montgomery informed 
the Respondent that he was seeking information because the 
cameras had “the potential to affect job security and, secondarily, 
infringes on employee privacy.”   

In addition, the Respondent represented to Local 100 that it 
was installing the cameras “companywide . . . but no bargaining 
has been deemed necessary up to this point.”  J Exh. 5.  The Re-
spondent has contended, successfully here, that bargaining with 
Local 100 was not necessary because of the management rights 
clause in its CBA with Local 100.  Local 100’s representation of 
its members in the face of the Respondent’s claim about the ef-
fect of the management rights provision in its CBA could, at least 
“potentially” have been assisted by receiving the CBAs that the 
Respondent had with the other unions.  Did those other CBAs 
contain the same management rights provision as Local 100’s 
CBA, or did they include no such provision, or did they include 
other provisions that expressly, or by implication, waived bar-
gaining over the installation of cameras?  

Finally, I note that despite my finding that the Respondent’s 
decision to unilaterally install cameras was authorized by the 
management rights provision, the January 12, 2021, information 

13 As previously noted, the Board has held than an employer’s deci-
sion to install cameras that observe represented employees is a manda-
tory subject of bargaining.  See, supra, fn. 10. 
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request is still relevant to Local 100’s statutory duties because it 
was, at a minimum, relevant to Local 100’s preparations to ne-
gotiate a successor CBA.  It is undisputed that the Respondent 
and Local 100 not only could, but did, bargain about the cameras
that year as part of negotiations for a successor CBA. The duty 
to provide information “extends to the provision of information 
that is relevant to contract negotiations.” See Whitesell Corp., 
357 NLRB 1119, 1160 (2011).

For the reasons discussed above, I find that the Respondent 
violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act since January 12, 
2021, by failing to furnish, or inform Local 100 that  it did not 
possess, the information requested by Local 100 in request 4 of 
its January 12, 2021 letter.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.  The Respondent is an employer engaged in commerce 
within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2.  The Union is a labor organization within the meaning of 
Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act 
since January 12, 2021, by failing to furnish, or inform Local 100 
that it did not possess, the information requested by Local 100 in 
request 4 of its January 12, 2021, written information request.

4.  The above unfair labor practices affect commerce within 
the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act. 

5. The Respondent was not shown to have committed the 
other violations alleged in the complaint. 

REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent engaged in certain unfair 
labor practices, I find that it must be ordered to cease and desist 
and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectuate the 
policies of the Act.  

On these findings of fact and conclusions of law and on the 
entire record, I issue the following recommended Order.14

ORDER

The Respondent, Endurance Environmental Solutions, LLC, 
its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from 
(a) Failing and refusing to provide Teamsters Local No. 100, 

an Affiliate of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters, AFL–
CIO (Local 100) with requested information, or stating that the 
Respondent did not possess requested information, relevant to 
and necessary for the performance of Local 100’s statutory duty 
as the collective bargaining representative of employees in the 
following bargaining unit:

All employees including drivers, mechanics and loaders em-
ployed by the Respondent at its Florence, KY facility, exclud-
ing office clerical employees and all professional employees, 
guards and supervisors as defined in the Act.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, 
or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed 
them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectu-
ate the policies of the Act.

(a)  Provide Local 100 with all of the information responsive 
to request 4 in the January 12, 2021, letter from Timothy Mont-
gomery to Kevin Blackwell.  

(b) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at its fa-
cility in Florence, Kentucky, copies of the attached notice 
marked “Appendix.”15 Copies of the notice, on forms provided 
by the Regional Director for Region 9, after being signed by the 
Respondent’s authorized representative, shall be posted by the 
Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspic-
uous places including all places where notices to employees are 
customarily posted. In addition to physical posting of paper no-
tices, the notices shall be distributed electronically, such as by 
email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or other elec-
tronic means, if the Respondent customarily communicates with 
its employees by such means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by 
the Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, defaced, 
or covered by any other material. In the event that, during the 
pendency of these proceedings, the Respondent has gone out of 
business or closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the 
Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy 
of the notice to all current employees and former employees em-
ployed by the Respondent at any time since June 5, 2019.

(c) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the 
Regional Director a sworn certification of a responsible official 
on a form provided by the Region attesting to the steps that the 
Respondent has taken to comply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the complaint is dismissed insofar 
as it alleges violations of the Act not specifically found.

Dated, Washington, D.C.  February 8, 2022

The Administrative Law Judge’s decision can be found at 
www.nlrb.gov/case/09-CA-273873 or by using the QR code be-
low.  Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from 
the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 
Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 
273-1940.

14 If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the Board’s 
Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and recommended Or-
der shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be adopted by the 
Board and all objections to them shall be deemed waived for all purposes.

15 If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of 
appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the National 
Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the 
United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor 
Relations Board.”


